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For Uncle Bob (1940—2005)
whom I looked forward to
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Introduction

Bonzo Goes to Bitburg

On May 5, 1985, international media and dignitaries gath-
ered at Kolmeshohe Cemetery, Bitburg, West Germany, to
wait for U.S. President Ronald Reagan’s arrival. Amidst a
flurry of disbelief and rancor, Reagan had not deviated
from his plan to lay a memorial wreath in a cemetery that
contained the graves of Nazi ss soldiers. Lying to gain pos-
session of press passes, and eventually past seven police
check points and 17,000 members of the German Security
Force, were two men from the town of Flint, Michigan.
One was the son of Holocaust survivors; he spoke fluent
German. The other was a Catholic seminary dropout; he
spoke “fluent bullshit.”

How did they manage to make it through each check
point though many journalists were turned away? They



used a fail-safe method as they reached the most secure
check. “If all else fails, use the delivery entrance. . . . If you
just pick up and carry a box, nobody fucks with you,” said
the seminary dropout. Offering a quick hand carrying
cables and lights for the cBs crew ahead of them, the two
men were let in without a hassle. The seminary dropout
then approached ABc reporter Pierre Salinger to alert him
to their true intentions: that they were just a couple of guys
from Michigan who decided to fly to Germany to hold up
a banner when the president’s limo arrived. Afraid they
might be lashed by truncheons, he requested that aBc keep
its cameras pointed in their direction.

Salinger obliged. From the inside of a jacket, the two
men unfurled a homemade bedsheet sign that read, “We
came from Michigan to Remind You: They Murdered My
Family.” The incident made it into Newsweek. That semi-
nary dropout was thirty-one years old. His name was
Michael Moore.

Moore had attended a seminary for one year, when he
was fourteen, but dropped out because he was forbidden
to watch baseball. Moore would run for office at the age
of eighteen, help open a youth crisis center when he was
still little more than a youth himself, and run his own
alternative newspaper for ten years — a broadsheet that
would garner national attention and prestige. Moore
would go on to hold a brief editorship at San Francisco’s
famed leftist political magazine Mother Jones, and to
finance his first film, Roger & Me, by organizing weekly
bingos. In later years, while touring with his book
Downsize This! he would encourage booksellers — at the
giant corporate store, Borders, where he was appearing —
to unionize. He would shine the spotlight on the National
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Rifle Association in Bowling for Columbine, and on the
Bush family in Fahrenheit 9/11 — the highest grossing
non-concert documentary of all time. He would tour
across the United States in a “Slacker Uprising,” an
attempt to incite young voters to go to the polls to keep
George W. Bush from reelection. But at this moment,
standing on foreign soil, hoping not to be beaten for
expressing his opinion, Moore really was just a guy from
Michigan. He was yet to become the persona debated
over, editorialized, cheered, and satirized.

Confrontational, theatrical, low-budget, and above all,
very effective, this early episode in Moore’s career shows
that even before his success as an activist filmmaker, he
knew the power of the camera — how it can protect, and
how it can demolish. As the New Yorker recently pointed
out, Moore has been a populist from the beginning. He
has also been criticized from day one — and equally by
the right and left. Film critic Pauline Kael blasted Roger ¢
Me — his film about the economic decline of his home-
town — for omitting dates and reordering information
for the purpose of narrative coherence, a device Moore
has continued to use over the years.

“What was so incredibly appalling and shocking is how
she printed outright lies about my movie,” said Moore
about Kael’s review. “I had never experienced such a
brazen, bald-faced barage of disinformation. . . . Her
complete fabrication of the facts was so weird, so out
there, so obviously made-up, that my first response was
this must be a humor piece she had written.”

Over the years, Moore has made a habit of exchanging
letters back and forth to magazines that have disparaged
him. The trend usually follows the pattern of a schoolyard
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fight: “You're lying,” “No, you’re lying.” From 1989 onward,
many have argued against the filmmaker’s style, yet with
each successive film Moore has more closely embraced his
own definition of comedy, his own interpretation of docu-
mentary, producing visual rants not unlike the verbal
rants in his books. Often his films set aside certain scenes
or facts in order to construct the perfect story arc, perfect
satire, or perfect political point — one meant to incite the
general public to action, further reading, community
involvement, or to cast a ballot. With an Emmy, an Oscar,
a Palme D’Or, and a number-one ranking on bestseller
book lists in the United States, Great Britain, Italy,
Germany, France, Japan, Australia, Ireland, and New
Zealand, Moore is not only a social leader, but the artful
master of this form.

Fiction writers, as well as church and political officials,
will relate to Moore’s aesthetic choices, his desire for emo-
tional arc. Without a doubt, Moore is a leader for the left,
even if he pilots only via the screen and the stadium stage.
Where is the actual man inside this story? Is he the same
man he was when who stood on German soil, unfurling a
provocative homemade banner?

It’s this bravado that gains Moore his audience, and,
more than likely, has resulted in this book sitting in your
hands at this moment. As much as there is to question
about Moore and his filmic formulas, there is much to
admire. Moore poses questions that many wish they
could ask. On his 1994—95 television series TV Nation, and
later on The Awful Truth, Moore paid researchers to
secure the home phone numbers and addresses of promi-
nent politicians or ceos, then made unannounced visits
to them, or called them up out of the blue to ask about
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policies they had put in place. He demanded answers.
Often, Moore and his crews have worked their way around
an issue with a facade of good will, as when Moore
attempted to deliver awards to the greatest corporate
polluters, or when he roadied a group of gay men and
lesbians into a big pink “Sodomobile” Winnebago and
drove them, discoing all the way, to Kansas to visit the
home of vehemently anti-gay preacher Reverend Fred
Phelps. On another occasion, Moore delivered a gay
men’s chorus right to the door of North Carolina’s
Senator Jesse Helms. Who has never wanted to phone up
a politician or corporate boss at home and take him or
her to task? But without access to a team of researchers,
the ordinary citizen normally lacks the means to do so, or
might get arrested for harassment if successful. Hence the
appeal of Michael Moore.

Even Moore has suffered hardship as payment for his
bravado. In 1995, his crew was bloodied as they tried to
force their way into the Detroit News loading dock to
speak to nonunion workers. In 1998, after delivering a glib
“Man of the Year” award to New York’s wealthy industri-
alist Ira Rennert, a restraining order was placed on Moore
directly by then-mayor Rudolph Giuliani, barring Moore
from roaming within 150 feet of Rockefeller Center, where
Rennert’s offices were located. Moore could no longer
enter Times Square, nor could he complete his television
shoots.

Searching for the person behind the liberal no-hurdle-
too-high hero and the propaganda-charged villain, I
sought out some of his old friends, and some of his detrac-
tors. I also decided to read everything I could find by or
about Moore. What is it about this former Eagle Scout that

MICHAEL MOORE: A BIOGRAPHY 11



gets citizens of numerous countries and all political per-
suasions worked up? Regardless of the reader’s feelings
about the creator of Stupid White Men and Dude, Where’s
My Country?,  wanted Michael Moore: A Biography to pro-
vide an ordered view of one of the most talked about
documentarians in history.

With his baseball cap, blue jeans, Kmart-meets-farmers-
market persona, I knew I would never find any answers
unless I started in Flint, Michigan. Moore has traveled the
world over, but he is Flint, Michigan. Or — as his critics
might posit — Davison, the less-downtrodden suburb
just outside of Flint. In fact, he is both . . . an appropriate
condition for a man who has been accused of bending
truth for the greater good. Since that day in the Bitburg
cemetery, Moore has become not a man from Flint, but
the idea of a man from Flint. In the American tradition,
and the populist tradition, he holds his hometown up as
an example, like Jimmy Stewart’s Bedford Falls in the
closeted socialist Christmas film classic, It’s A Wonderful
Life. By being that “idea” of a man from Flint, Flint’s own
struggles and ideals — and Michael Moore’s — become
those of America.
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Just a Guy from Michigan
Inside/ Qutside Flint

The freeways are empty and broken. At night, their fifty-
year-old arms stretch blue-veined junctions into the
crackling, never-quiet flesh of downtown Detroit.
Hugging the bottom of the city and quickly straightening
north, Detroit’s freeways were constructed for its workers,
workers who drive the vehicles they have built. But from
Cadillac Square — beyond which General Motors’ head-
quarters sits in the mirrored towers known as the
Renaissance Centre — to Flint, Michigan, the roads are
definitely not paved with gold.

In January 1955, the Lodge Freeway opened to much
fanfare. Now, even the local press concedes, “It’s little
more than interconnected slabs of steel and concrete. And
the thing is falling apart.” The day after the grand open-
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ing of the Ford-Lodge interchange, thousands of vehicles
overheated in the freeway’s first traffic jam — just one
little example of the Motor City’s lack of foresight along
the way to Flint, Michigan. The Lodge is currently shut
down for construction. The fastest route to Flint is the
newer, though still dangerously pocked, Interstate 75. This
road beelines almost directly to Flint, sixty-nine miles
north — the birthplace of M, and Michael Moore.

There are familiar landmarks. Passing through Auburn
Hills, among America’s most affluent counties, one
glimpses the immense 1998 construction of “shopping
fun,” Great Lakes Crossing, complete with 7000 parking
spaces. This stretch of the I-75 also offers three exits to The
Palace, where if you aren’t wearing Pistons paraphernalia,
you had better go home. Under a milky Michigan sky, it is
hard to envision celebrities traveling this same route for
this same purpose: to get to downtown Flint, the original
home of ém. Who has ventured along this road? em
spokespeople Anita Bryant and Pat Boone (“Mr.
Chevrolet Himself” according to Michael Moore), as well
as the town’s own heroes, Bob Eubanks, host of television’s
popular 1980s’ The Newlywed Game, and Top-40 music’s
billboard king, Casey Kasem. Cruising up and down the
dial, there are plenty of choices — primarily new country,
classic rock, alternative pop, Kasem’s own preferred brand
of pop, and public radio. But arriving in Flint, it is impos-
sible to imagine the town as a destination — for anyone,
let alone the busy scene-making celebs of yesteryear. True,
the city has its share of Ramada and Marriott inns; the
average one-night king-size stay for two is $70. But with a
population of just over 120,000, a 35% decrease from the
1970 census, Flint is hardly the hub it once was.
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Before the European settlers moved in, Native
Americans called the local waterway, Pawanunling, the
river of flint. In 1819, a fur trader by the name of Jacob
Smith left Detroit and settled the area to the north as a
trading post. In 1855, the settlement was incorporated as
the City of Flint. Fur trading was followed by lumber and
from lumber came the business of making carriages. After
becoming the largest manufacturer of horse carriages in
the world, Flint was given the name, “Vehicle City,” a name
still appropriate when, in 1908, William C. Durant
founded the General Motors company here. Durant had
spent several years buying small, failing automobile com-
panies in an attempt to stabilize the nascent industry by
monopolizing it. But by 1920, GM’s main competitor, Ford
Motors, still controlled more than 60% of the market.
This situation changed when Alfred P. Sloane, the brilliant
engineer who had made his name in ball bearings, took
over GM and led it to success with a revolutionary approach.
Sloane believed that, like ball bearings, consumer taste
could be engineered and that, “the appearance of a motor-
car is a most important factor in the selling end of the
business — perhaps the most important factor — because
every one knows the car will run.”

With personalized brands — Chevrolet, Pontiac,
Oldsmobile, Buick, and Cadillac — ¢m made it to the top
and became the chauffeurs for the roaring ’20s. By the
crash of 1929, the company had seen its workforce swell to
86,000, and its stock rise to $45 a share — then fall to
$3.75. Left in the lurch and dropped into Depression
working conditions were the thousands of Flint line-
workers who, within seven years, would make Gm
synonymous with the angry ’3os.
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Though the grievances were many and justified, 80% of
Flint families were dependent on GM, and the city name
was national shorthand for “company town.” Newspapers,
schools, homes, and government were created by and paid
for by M. This presented a D-day style challenge to the
United Auto Workers union in 1936 — organizing Flint
would be tantamount to converting the Pope.

But Flint would go from being a company town to a
union town. The best organizers were sent from Cleveland
and Toledo into Flint. Workers were fed up with working
conditions and willing to attend secret meetings. Flint had
witnessed attempted strikes back in 1930 and ’34.
Mimicking the sit-in strikes of Cleveland’s White Motors
and Toledo’s AutoLite meant something else altogether. To
set up camp within the factory was illegal — but incredibly
effective. Trespassing on company property violently
rankled both officials and the community at large, since
it seemed to show disrespect for private property and go
against the American way. The “communist” card was
heavily played, but it did not stop either disillusioned
workers or famed organizers Bob Travis and the Reuther
brothers. Sensing the possibility of sit-down strikes, man-
agement began removing equipment from the Fisher 11
plant on December 29, 1936 — two days before the pro-
posed strike. Without equipment to produce goods,
workers had little hope of negotiating for their jobs in any
capacity. Workers quickly organized themselves and the
strike began early. Once they sat down, news traveled, and
the very next day the Fisher 1 plant was also sitting.

Said one Flint woman of her husband’s intention to
strike, “He come home one night . .. and he says don’t be
surprised if I don’t come home. . . . He says it’s the only
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way we're going to win and he said that somebody might
get killed there, but he says if 'm one of them I'm fight-
ing for the . . . good cause.”

Unlike the strikes we see today in North America with
their “Hey hey, ho ho” slogans on the sidewalk, these
workers were in physical danger. Treating the strike as a
risk situation, they moved, literally, like an army. They
quickly formed committees to attend to even the most
basic of dignities, such as cleaning up and providing one
another with entertainment, including song, harmonica,
and cards and dice. With the precision of wwr veterans,
they also formed committees for gathering food, defense,
and picketing. They were so organized, many workers
were able to leave to celebrate New Year’s Eve and still
return. During the forty-four-day sit-in, M turned off
the heat and refused to provide coal; strikers resourcefully
burned bolts of burlap for warmth until management
backed down. Workers were dedicated to keeping com-
pany property safe from harm throughout the strike, even
though they were hearing rumors that they were at risk of
being “shot out.”

Like big business today, m had the ear of both the
media and the local judges. But on February 11, 1937, Gm
workers won the right to unionize without penalty or fear
for their jobs.

By the 1950s, Flint, Michigan, was a booming, beauti-
ful, and contradictory place. Workers had fought and
gained the rights to living wages, security for their fami-
lies to lead what would be known as working-middle-
class lives. Elsewhere, socialists and capitalists fought over
the heart of America, but in Flint, they seemed strangely
at peace. Whether imagined or not, to many these were
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halcyon days of post-war prosperity and corporate
responsibility. One Flint resident, born during the peak
years of this paradise, would never forget them.

On April 23, 1954 — the year gm produced its 50 mil-
lionth car — Michael Moore was born to a Catholic
Irish-American couple, in the suburb of Davison. A
photo of Moore as a toddler shows him retreating from
the camera, into the safety of skirts. Extended family was
also close, huddling in the safety of Flint. The elder
brother of Anne and Veronica (both of whom went on to
become schoolteachers, though Anne later became a
public defender), Michael was the only boy in the family.
With his father Frank’s facial features, at a young age
Michael had his mother Veronica’s red hair. On the edge
of Flint, the world looked like a virtual cartopia: back-
yards led to scrub woods, and the far-flung subdivisions
of humble post-war homes required transportation. The
adult world moved in fleets — exiting houses at the same
time each morning, and returning at the same time each
afternoon. Michael’s father worked the 6 a.m. to 2 p.m.
shift. On weekends, the town washed its cars, fixed its
cars, and talked cars. Moore, however, went to the movies,
“probably three or four movies a week, five times a week
sometimes.” Though occasionally shy, Moore was also
outgoing and took in a range of activities: fishing, the
National Rifle Association gun club, and Boy Scouts.

At school he was “bored beyond belief.” His mother
Veronica, who had been a graduating valedictorian, had
already taught Moore to read. In a true To Kill A
Mockingbird moment, with Moore in the role of Scout
Finch, he “had to sit and feign interest while the other kids,

»

like robots, sang, ‘A-B-c-D-E-F-G. . . .” The nuns at St.

18 EMILY SCHULTZ



John’s Elementary School attempted to skip him into
second grade after one month in first, but Michael’s
mother protested the switch — ironically because she was
afraid he would remain the smallest child in his new class
— and he was bumped back again. Moore never enjoyed
school, but spent his time writing plays and organizing his
classmates into teams for his own covert operations:
fourth-grade, sixth-grade, and eighth-grade newspaper
projects, all quickly disbanded by the nuns. When the play
Moore penned for his eighth-grade class was discovered to
be about the rats in St. John’s Parish Hall, he and his
friends were barred from performing it. In protest, Moore
convinced half his class to stand onstage without joining in
the choir’s songs. An intelligent child, and a good Catholic
in spite of his occasional hijinks, Moore started to look for
a career that could take him away from the factory fate. He
turned to the system he’d been trying to buck.

At the age of fourteen, Moore attended a youth semi-
nary. As a priest he would be able to communicate and
speak for a community — things he had already
attempted. However, within a year Moore realized the
seminary forbade things he couldn’t do without. For one
thing, he was not allowed to watch baseball. While this
may sound trivial, the Detroit Tigers had just made it into
the World Series — vital viewing for a sports fan. There
was also the issue of girls. Though there were no female
students, the seminary band was a co-ed mix. Between
baseball, these outside music sessions, and a long-culti-
vated dislike for authority, something shifted in Moore.
He left the seminary after only one year, and enrolled in a
Davison public high school for tenth grade.

By this time, the country — and Flint — was in the
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grips of its greatest internal struggle since the Civil War.
In 1968, General Westmoreland had requested 200,000
more troops to be sent to Vietnam, and the story of the
Mai Lai village massacre had broken in the news. On the
streets, a new kind of activist, typified by the antics of
Abbie Hoffman, created a political theater that was equal
parts vaudeville and Bolshevik. These new activists sought
to pull down the pants of the establishment while launch-
ing extreme protests, such as the attempt of hundreds of
hippies to “levitate” the Pentagon and cast out its evil
spirits, or a bid to run a pig as a presidential candidate.
Moore absorbed the culture around him. His longstand-
ing career as a Boy Scout resulted in a presentation on the
businesses of Flint — and their poor environmental prac-
tices. At the age of fifteen, Moore earned his Eagle badge
— and the enmity of local businesses — with this slide
show. This single act marks the beginning of his love-hate
dynamic with Flint, and the beginning of a lifelong career
in political provocation.

Moore felt creatively and psychologically squashed at
school. “It became clear to me sometime around tenth
grade that this institution was not really set up for us to
learn the 3 R’s, but rather the 3 C’s: Consistency,
Complacency, and Conformity,” he remembers. Moore
would grow his hair long, take up guitar, and relish the
sweet escape of rock music. “I had hair halfway down my
back,” Moore recently recalled in an interview. “All of my
friends did drugs. I was always afraid [to try them] — I
mean, at that age, I felt like I was already out there, and I
didn’t need any enhancement.”

By 1972, troop numbers in Vietnam had fallen, but the
draft would stay in effect for another year. “Old enough to
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die, old enough to vote,” was a common protest chant for
youths eligible for the draft, but not yet enfranchised as
voting citizens. As the voting age was amended from
twenty-one to eighteen, Moore realized he was not only
old enough to X a ballot, he was also old enough to
appear on one. In the spring of 1972, immediately follow-
ing his eighteenth birthday, he ran for public school
board. At the time, he was completing his final semester
at Davison High School. Before he graduated, he would
become the youngest person ever elected to public office
in Flint. He had one main goal: to remove the principal
and assistant principal from the school he was still
attending.

Not only did he get himself elected, he was vigilant
about seeing things through. Both the principal and the
assistant principal ultimately left Davison High. But this
was only one of Moore’s missions. Moore also fought for
student rights and supported the teachers union. He sued
the school board to secure the right to tape-record public
meetings. When the school board attempted to find ways
to meet without Moore present, he reported them to the
Michigan Attorney General, who sent the issue to court.

As Moore watched neighborhood friends drafted to be
killed in Vietnam, he gave up pledging allegiance to the
flag. He wrote a play humiliating the leaders of local busi-
ness. He suggested the new elementary school in the 99%
white district be named after Martin Luther King, Jr.
Needless to say, officials were anxious to be rid of Moore.
Longtime Davison resident Don Hammond told the
Detroit Free Press years later, “The word to describe Michael
Moore is embarrassing. He embarrasses everybody.”
According to Hammond, Moore once sat on the board of
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education’s meeting table, took off his socks and shoes, and
began to pick his toes. Hammond recalled another time
when Moore left a board meeting saying, “I don’t want to
sit around with you bums.”

In December 1974, only two years after his election, a
ballot presenting a sole question gave the public the option
of voting him out. The ballot was called by petition. At first,
petitions circulated, never collecting enough names. The
judge extended the deadline. More names were added, but
still not enough. The judge extended the deadline again.
Eventually, the ballot was called — in spite of the fact that
many of the signed names were fictitious or belonging to
dead persons. The judge ruled that the community obvi-
ously wanted to vote on Moore’s fate on the school board,
and therefore, he would allow it. Moore claims the date was
set during the holidays to limit the number of his support-
ers. But according to Moore, “It was the largest turnout in
the history of the school district for any election ever held.”
With a 312-vote margin, Moore won the right to remain on
the school board.

But Moore’s political career did not necessarily begin
the moment he won his first election. What gave him the
time to chase big business (years before he would chase
them on 1v) was his decision not to enter the factory.

The entire Moore family was entrenched in the auto-
mobile industry, with parents and grandparents punching
the clock for the largest company in the United States.
Moore’s uncle was involved in the 1936—37 sit-down strike.
Moore’s father Frank would work for the ac Spark Plug
plant for thirty-three years. Michael would catapult his
documentary career by keeping General Motors at its core,
but his struggle with gm began decades before he ever
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conceived of documenting the company’s lack of ethics
and compassion. In a factory town, from the moment a
child is posed the question, “What do you want to be when
you grow up?” a conundrum begins. There are the obvious
public positions that children are trained to consider:
nurse, doctor, teacher, firefighter, mail carrier, police offi-
cer. But what about following in one’s parents’ shoes?

Moore’s friend, and fellow Flint writer, Ben Hamper
reminisces about visiting his father’s Fisher 1 plant on
“family night” as a child. Unlike Moore, Hamper grew up
in Flint proper. He aspired to be a poet, and avoided the
factory as long as possible, but then one day, fate called.
After ten years of working at M, Hamper would suffer a
breakdown and eventually check himself temporarily
into a mental health facility. Having appeared in Roger &
Me, and on the cover of Moore’s first issue of Mother
Jones, Hamper is now famously known as “Rivethead,” the
author of the bestselling book by the same name. There
Hamper describes his disappointment at learning that
working in a car factory was, in fact, not like assembling
model cars from a box.

Like Moore, by the tender age of seven Hamper became
determined not to follow in his father’s footsteps, “We
stood there for forty minutes or so, a miniature lifetime
and the pattern never changed. Car, windshield. Car, wind-
shield. Drudgery piled atop drudgery. Cigarette to
cigarette. Decades rolling through the rafters, bones turn-
ing to dust. . . . I wanted to shout at my father, ‘Do
something else!’”

Moore’s heroes were those who had “escaped the life
in the factory and got out” — entertainers, rebels, and
rock icons, such as “the guys in Grand Funk Railroad.” In
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fact, Moore did secure a job at General Motors’ Buick
directly after high school, but “didn’t even last a day.”

As he recounts while discussing Roger ¢ Me, “I woke
up that morning. I just lay there in bed thinking, ‘Man, I
don’t want to go and work in the factory”” Many of his
fellow graduates would enter its doors with the intention
of staying the summer — and exit them thirty years later.
Or, like Hamper, might have, if it hadn’t been for the soul-
deadening work and the shutdowns ahead. Writes
Hamper, “Right from the outset, when the call went out
for shoprats, my ancestors responded in almost Pavlovian
compliance. The family tree practically listed right over
on its side with eager men and women grasping for that
great automotive dream.”

Staring up at the cobbled drop-ceiling tiles in 1972,
Moore glimpsed this future. He picked up the telephone
that morning to say he just couldn’t go in. With those
two little words, “I can’t,” Moore put an end to a family
tradition.

It was his own lay-down version of the sit-down strike:
one that would change both Flint and him. Without it,
Moore might never have gone on to chronicle the death
of Flint — either during his ten-year career as an alterna-
tive newspaper publisher, or as a film and television
director, campaigner, and author.
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Born to Run
and the Spirit of 76

The Vietnam war is over. President Nixon and the
Watergate scandal have come and gone, leaving the
United States in a lassitude unlike any before. The coun-
try’s bicentennial celebration is the saving grace of
mid-"7os malaise. Culturally, America gears up for what
may be the single most patriotic celebration to shake
down the nation since the ribbon was cut on Mount
Rushmore. With an eye to the past — perhaps by way of
escapism — Americans break out their colors: red, white,
and blue flags a-waving. In factories across the land, hot
glass crystallizes, emblazoned with town names — in
Keep-on-Truckin’ bubble font: '76.

In a countrywide battle to “Have a Nice Day,” the year
1976 trots out its big contenders. Star Wars — with its
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clearly defined good guys, bad guys, and no pesky anti-
heroes — is the new George Lucas project, already in
production. In Hollywood, the band members of x1ss are
adding their animalistic platform-tall footprints to the
sidewalk outside Grauman’s Chinese Theatre. The Eagles’
Greatest Hits 1971-1975 will go platinum this year, and
Michael Moore’s hero, Bruce Springsteen, will be seized
by security for attempting to jump the wall at Graceland
in an effort to glimpse his own idol. In Flint, Moore is
twenty-two years old, full of spit, and ready to try just
about anything available to a man old enough to have
feared the draft but young enough to have missed the
Summer of Love. With the capricious dedication belong-
ing only to someone of that age, he burns through “Radio
Free Flint,” his Sunday morning show, a film series, and
antinuke rallies.

More interesting than what Moore was doing during
this time is what he has since chosen to tell the media
about it (or not tell them, as the case may be). Little has
been written of this period of his life, perhaps because this
was a developmental stage for Michael Moore, the man
who would only emerge, fully formed, as a Michigan ball-
capped crusader for truth in Roger ¢& Me — in other
words, as a character. Even more probing articles, such as
those published in the New Yorker and Rolling Stone, are
limited to the one or two personal facts Moore has
deemed acceptable to share during interview, in his bio
notes, or via his Weblog.

What happens when celebrities — or citizens at large,
for that matter — begin to self-edit? A construction is
begun. Each person has his or her own idea of self, an
idea of one’s inner qualities, the type of role one plays.

26 EMILY SCHULTZ



For instance: I am writing this book, therefore I am a
Writer (with a capital W). Presumably, I am alone (there-
fore an introvert), not always well-paid (therefore either
desperate — or the opposite — moral and noble), and
(one hopes) intelligent. If I were asked to describe
myself, I might very well possess these basic traits. I
might adopt a quiet demeanor, a shyness or coyness,
show disdain for the material world, and try to impress
with a knowledge of literature, art, film, politics, etc. If
asked direct questions, however, I would more than likely
hold little back. You could learn just about anything from
me: where I was raised and what the social climate of my
house was; how many siblings I have and how I feel and
relate to each of them in turn; why I selected the educa-
tion that I did; why I selected the lovers that I did; and
what my motivations were for every career move. These
are dinner party topics — precisely the problem. They
are not the topics of journalism.

Journalists will report that Moore pursued an educa-
tion for a brief while, attending the University of
Michigan—Flint campus. He dropped out after a year,
however. Here again, there’s an anecdote relating to cars.
Moore cruised for a parking spot one day for an hour in
his 1969 Chevy Impala. Unable to find one, he shouted
out the window, “That’s it, 'm dropping out!” Moore
drove home and told his parents he had decided to quit
school. Impassioned, impulsive, and dedicated to standing
by his decisions — another reading of Moore’s personality
might use terms like short-tempered and short-sighted.
But journalists will know, or report, very little than the
basic facts. The problem may be that Moore views himself
as a journalist. More might be gleaned about a recent pop
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sensation — Britney Spears, say, or the Olson twins —
than about Moore. Why? Quite simply, Moore asks the
questions. When he answers them, he tends to give
reportage itself — usually political. The result is a spate of
blogs and magazine articles in which two reporters are
present, rather than a reporter and a subject. With this in
mind, we must read Moore’s life story as just that: a story.
Following on the heels of his brief education and catch-
as-you-can activism, alternative journalism became
Moore’s new trade.

The house at 5005 Lapeer Road still sits on a quiet
stretch of land not quite city and not quite country. With a
covered porch, two floors plus a basement, white siding,
and a barn-red roof, it’s a house that could be the local
doctor’s residence in a 1940s film. It was here, where the
municipalities of Flint, Davison, and Burton blur, that
Moore located his next project. The Davison Hotline made
this house its home, a twenty-four hour operation, accom-
panied by the production of Free To Be, the hotline’s
newsletter. No one answered the day I knocked on its door,
but the house is now a lawyer’s office that offers twenty-
four hours of on-call service. Local crime in the last few
years has been that consistent, a grim irony even Moore
could appreciate. Billed as a “crisis intervention and per-
sonal growth organization that advocates for individual
and social change,” the hotline offered “a youth advocacy
office, a runaway shelter, free pregnancy tests, overdose aid,
personal growth groups in transactional analysis, family
communications, and values clarifications, student rights
assistance, substance abuse prevention, birth control infor-
mation, a learning exchange program, and community
outreach.” While it’s funny to think of Moore extolling the
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virtues of EsT and meditation, 1976 was still a time when
radical culture and politics intersected, and were both
viewed as a threat to the local authorities. The Free To Be
first issue looks typical of the age. The hand-drawn logo
sits atop amateur typesetting that strives for professional-
ism. On the front is a picture of a man who would grace
many front pages of Moore’s newspapers over the next five
years: folk singer Harry Chapin, who had performed a ben-
efit that enabled Moore to start the hotline.

Over the course of its first year, Free To Be would grow
in popularity and be transformed, by December 1977, into
the Flint Voice, a full-fledged alternative paper. Like many
alternative papers that formed in the ’yos, the Flint Voice
took the Village Voice (the feisty New York paper cofounded
by Norman Mailer) as its model. Again, like many alterna-
tive papers, the story of Moore’s paper started with a group
of longhaired idealists, standing around the collective
household that would serve as headquarters. Later, at the
end of its run, the Michigan Voice (as it came to be called in
1983 when its distribution went statewide) ran a photo from
their first day: an image of those longhaired idealists work-
ing to install the municipality of Burton’s first sidewalk.

Authorities did not take kindly to the hotline setting
up shop. Paranoid visions of underage, pregnant junkies
danced in their heads. In an effort to disband the group, city
officials claimed that the running of a business without a
sidewalk was unsafe — making the same requirements of
the hotline that they would make of any other business in
the residential area. Moore had never given up a fight
before, and he wasn’t going to start now. Everyone pitched
in, and the sidewalk was built. Thanks to the sidewalk, a
moment of idealism and hope is also frozen in time.
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Written in the cement is not only the rallying cry, “We shall
stay free,” but also Article 1 of the First Amendment:
“Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment
of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or
abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the
right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition
the Government for a redress of grievances.”

Moore would draw on the initiation and management
skills he had picked up at a young age during those grade-
school newspaper projects he had attempted to instigate.
With the help of numerous benefit concerts, the Flint Voice
emerged: an underground news source founded by Moore
and run by a constantly morphing staff. Though Moore’s
friend, Ben Hamper, would become the newspaper’s most
famous columnist as “Rivethead,” his initial impression of
the Voice was that it appeared to be “just some hippie relic
patched together by a bunch of moaners desperately tryin’
to reinvent the sixties. They took themselves way too seri-
ous, and none of them had any real flair for knockin’ out
the printed word. ‘In Times Such as These, We Need a
Voice, their cover harrumphed.” According to Hamper, this
motto wasn’t totally unfounded. Flint was facing tough
times — economically, politically, and racially. Articles
running in the Voice explored Ku Klux Klan activity in
Flint, and named Flint as the number one city in America
for killings by police. By the time the paper had drawn
Hamper’s attention, Moore was well-known in Flint.
Keeping Moore in the public consciousness were frequent
television news cameos, his radio show and other radio
spots, speak-outs at City Council meetings, as well as Voice
papers decorating the liquor store lobbies and coffee shops.
And continuing to find funding wasn’t easy.
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Moore made use of benefits to build a number of his
projects over the years. Charity bingos would help pay for
the Voice and for the 16mm used in his first film Roger ¢
Me. Later, on his mid-"9os program TV Nation, Moore
would mock the very notion of the benefit — staging a
concert in downtown New York called “Corp Aid” to help
pay big businesses, like Exxon, that had been hit hard by
fines for their contributions to environmental disasters.
But even in these early days, Moore had his eye out for his
own Michigan gold mine. Flint wasn’t exactly a touring
destination for bands or singers, so Moore went shopping
for a star next door, in the nearby city of Grand Rapids. He
managed to make it backstage to popular country-folk
singer Harry Chapin’s dressing room, where, in spite of
threat of removal by security, Moore convinced Chapin to
perform on behalf of his hotline. The relationship contin-
ued through the time of the Voice.

At the time, Chapin had already been nominated for
an Emmy, two Grammy Awards, an Academy Award, and
had two gold records. He was thirty-three years old and
known for doing benefits for Ralph Nader and World
Hunger. So how did Moore flag down the singer of “Taxi,”
and convince him to help drive a small city hotline?

In an unrelated story, Hamper commented on Moore’s
abilities to charm and coerce: “I'd learned a long, long time
ago that Michael Moore — a man who could’ve talked
Hitler into hosting a bar mitzvah — was the absolute
master of wily persuasion.” Again according to the paper’s
own Rivethead columnist, “No less than eleven benefit
concerts were held for the Flint Voice,” netting the little-
newspaper-that-could something in the “half-million-
dollar range.” Moore’s paper had found a working-man
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mentor to provide it with big-dollar dreams. The coun-
try-folk singer of “Cat’s in the Cradle” had found a second
place to come home to. Moore was able to buy the house
in Burton and establish it as the newspaper’s official
offices, purchasing a computer for typesetting, equip-
ment for layout, photocopy machines, and adequate
telephones. With hired ad men, secretaries, and a printer,
the Free To Be hotline grew from a homegrown commu-
nity space with a newsletter to a fully functioning
newspaper office overnight.

The hotline disappeared with the ’yos, but Harry
Chapin continued in unyielding support of Moore and
the Voice. The newspaper functioned for several years
under Chapin’s generous patronage, along with the help of
many of his friends: folk trio Peter, Paul, and Mary, and
also Melanie (whose Woodstock-themed hit, “Candles in
the Rain,” would be only dimly remembered by this time).
Then, on July 15, 1981, Chapin died suddenly in a car acci-
dent. Having mailed Moore some of his writing, Hamper
was on his way to his first official meeting with the alter-
native publisher when he heard the news of Chapin’s
death broadcast on the radio. Hamper pulled into a con-
venience store, bought a twelve-pack of beer, and turned
around and went home. He knew immediately what the
loss meant for Moore and the Voice.

Hamper soon became a fixture at the Voice office and
a close friend of Moore’s. “He took chances on people,”
said Hamper. “He’d call me up, tell me what to write
about, tell me how long it was going to be, and tell me
when he wanted it.” Though the two have drifted apart
occasionally, Moore has taken Hamper with him on
nearly every project, including a front cover for Mother
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Jones, a related touring circuit of television shows, an
appearance in Roger ¢ Me, and as television correspondent
for Moore’s TV Nation and The Awful Truth. In the mid-
1980s Hamper’s blue-collar writing won his mug a place on
the cover of Wall Street Journal; in the 1990s, after the
release of his book Rivethead: Tales From the Assembly Line,
it pushed him onto bestseller and book-club lists. He cred-
its Moore for his success: “I owe him my career.”

By the time Hamper met Moore in 1981, “he was in no
way the jaded hippie leftover I had come to envision.”
Hamper writes, “Moore shared my twisted sense of
humor and, underneath his cocky veneer, he was just as
mixed-up and insecure as I was.” According to Hamper,
the only major difference between them was that Moore
was full of drive where Hamper preferred to knock back
and relax. Put on staff as a music critic, Hamper had
found something he was good at besides being an auto
worker or “shoprat.” It was also Moore who encouraged
Hamper to write about that very thing — being a shoprat.
The persona of the Rivethead was born. Meetings were
held monthly in whatever living room was available, often
with little accomplished, veggie dips circulating and
babies in tow. Moore would ask Hamper if he was inter-
ested in writing features for his paper. According to
Hamper, “I would remind him that I knew very little
about the struggles of mankind and all the other atroci-
ties that seemed to rankle these people so. Never mind
that shit, he’d tell me. ...

In the end Moore’s persistence won out, and Hamper
became both author and subject of a column devoted to
the auto worker’s perspective. Even as he was writing his
columns, he wondered who would find the life of a gm
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worker interesting. Moore’s answer: “You’d be surprised.”
The Rivethead indeed became a prized writer at the Voice.

While the newspaper flourished with local flavor, local
advertising dollars were not enough to support the print
schedule. A bi-weekly paper at this time serving a com-
munity of 25,000, the Flint Voice veered into debt, and
Moore trawled for another musical celebrity to assist his
cause. In the early 1980s, that celebrity was Peter Yarrow
of Peter, Paul, and Mary. According to an interview with
Moore that appeared in the Texas Observer, Yarrow held a
fundraiser for the Flint Voice in his New York City apart-
ment, inviting the Big Apple’s big players to help raise
money for what many in Michigan might simply have
called a “rag.” On August 10, 1985, Peter, Paul, and Mary
also hosted an after-concert party in Rochester, Michigan;
an exclusive 100 tickets were priced at $850 apiece with
proceeds to Moore’s paper.

Of Moore’s image, Hamper has previously claimed his
“shop-bred genes lent a legitimacy to him being a
common man.” In an interview with the British newspa-
per Guardian, Moore himself said, “I believe that I am in
the mainstream of Middle America.” Maintaining that
image has required a selectivity about how he parcels per-
sonal information.

Regarding the image of the common man, Hamper
has this to say of Moore’s hero, Springsteen: “The guy has
made untold zillions . . . always emerging on release date
as either a construction worker (The River), a garage
mechanic (“I'm on Fire”), a minor league batting instruc-
tor (“Glory Days”), the kindred spirit of Charlie
Starkweather (Nebraska), or some other pockmarked
casualty of Crud Corners.”
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Finding generous icons to donate to Moore’s paper
was not easy, but funding was by no means the greatest
obstacle the Flint Voice had to hurdle. In the summer of
1980, the Voice made national news over legal matters that
went all the way to the Supreme Court when Moore
stepped on Flint’s then-mayor James W. Rutherford’s
toes. On the basis of an article about Rutherford’s door-
to-door campaigners — whom Moore wrote were paid by
federal monies — the mayor arranged for a warrant. Flint
police seized the Voice printing plates right off the press
before the scoop could hit the stands. Moore’s struggle
was taken up by the Flint chapter of American Civil
Liberties Union. The Flint Police Department’s bold
infraction of civil liberties was brought before the
Supreme Court, and a law was passed in Congress pro-
hibiting such searches.

This was not the only legal incident for the Voice. One of
Hamper’s columns, about a local watering hole called the
Good Times Lounge, brought both the Voice and Hamper
up on charges of libel. Moore was accustomed to being the
center of attention — often negative, but Hamper felt more
at risk. Working-man Hamper made sure he looked court-
date presentable. Moore, as usual, strolled in markedly late,
in clothes that looked like he had picked them up off the
floor only moments before. Ultimately, the case had a
humorous conclusion: the judge stepped down from the
case, claiming he could not rule on someone whose grand-
father had been the landlord of his office, whose parents
had been good friends of his, and from whose newspaper
he had purchased ad space to secure his own reelection.
The delay was a stroke of luck. The Good Times Lounge
closed down before the case could come up again.
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It was during the early ’8os that Moore met his partner
Kathleen Glynn, a mother of one — Natalie Rose, who
would later become Moore’s daughter as well. Glynn’s
auto-working parents raised her in Flint along with five
siblings. In addition to a revved-up love of Bruce
Springsteen, and also film, she and Moore had much in
common, from Catholicism to “Cadillac Ranch.” The two
used to sit outside Springsteen concerts when they couldn’t
afford the tickets, still wanting to partake of the music
and the vibe.

“We didn’t have much ambition,” Glynn says of those
days. “There wasn’t talk of dreams. Maybe it was,
‘Wouldn’t it be cool to own a movie theater? Yeah, that’s a
cool idea. Things just kind of happened.” Of course,
things didn’t “just happen.” Anyone who has worked in
film or publishing can vouch that establishing — and
continuing to promote — a production of the scope of
the Flint Voice or Roger ¢ Me takes natural ambition and
working hours beyond compare. But that kind of admis-
sion doesn’t really fit into the persona of the common
man or woman.

The advertising in the Voice provides a snapshot of the
time: vegetarian restaurants, still-popular head shops and,
consistently, an ad for the University of Michigan—Flint’s
film club screenings. As an avid filmgoer, it can be
assumed Moore spent his weekends watching art-house
hits of the time: Werner Herzog’s Aguirre, Wrath of God, a
smattering of Ingmar Bergman, and documentaries like
Hearts and Minds — a chilling collection of first-hand rec-
ollections from “grunts” who served in the Vietnam War,
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ironically intercut with scenes of patriotic Americans
playing football. When Hearts and Minds was rereleased in
2004, Moore blurbed the film: “Not only the best docu-
mentary I’ve ever seen — it may be the best film ever.”

Moore’s early résumé shows that behind the denim
and flannel was a workaholic provocateur. In 1976, Moore
began his own newspaper and kept it running for ten
years (all the while continuing his own radio show,
recruiting and encouraging writers like Hamper, and
sussing out celebrities to support his cause). In 1980, he
lobbied against local police under the acrLu and the case
resulted in new law. In 1983, he traveled to Nicaragua to
learn more about that country’s turmoil. In 1985, Moore
flew to Germany to star in his own staging of a Reagan
protest at the Bitburg Cemetery, a news bit picked up
across the U.S.

In 1976, on the other side of the country, another mag-
azine had also come to life with high ideals. Mother Jones
was founded by Adam Hochschild. This cheeky political
magazine was named after Mary Harris (Mother) Jones, a
militant union organizer and socialist until she died at
the age of 100 in 1930. Like many idealistic publications,
some have argued once it had cut its antiestablishment
teeth, Mother Jones had become a journal that preached to
the converted, and cared as much for burgeoning New
Age trends as for effective organizing and protest.

As the summer of ’76 leapt forward to that of ’86,
Moore would become known as more than just a little
guy putting out a little lefty rag. In 1986 he was offered,
and accepted, the editorship of Mother Jones, which by
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that time had a circulation of approximately 160,000.
Moore spent his last night in Flint hanging out with
Hamper and his fellow “shoprats,” Moore even going so
far as to punch a few rivets himself, perhaps trying to
make himself believe he could be as working class as
Hamper, as working class as he must have so wanted to be.

By the time Moore was asked aboard, Mother Jones
was trying to return to its “muckraking roots,” after a
brief foray into fiction and culture during the conserva-
tive Reagan years. Looking around the country for a
leader, Hochschild saw potential in thirty-two-year-old
Michael Moore’s already formed persona as the common
agitator, the man of the middle.
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Are You Going
to San Francisco?

Michael Moore at Mother Jones

Michael Moore went into work and announced his plan
to give a monthly column to a Flint auto worker. “The
owner instead told me to run an investigative report on
herbal teas. I told him I had a better idea: Let’s put that
auto worker on the cover. The owner wasn’t amused and
declared that California and I were a mismatch, just
before he offered me my free U-Haul back to Michigan.”

So said Moore in the narration in Roger & Me, the film
that would follow on the heels of his dismissal from
Mother Jones. Cofounder Adam Hochschild did indeed
offer Moore a U-Haul back to Flint just a few short
months after he accepted the editorship of the magazine
— but looking at all that led up to the day of Moore’s dis-
missal, and all that has happened since, it is still difficult
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to know what really occurred inside those San Francisco
offices. Moore may have attained the position with his
common-man charisma, but he and Mother Jones found
no common ground with one another.

Though many would assume Moore was being handed
the opportunity of a lifetime, he had reservations from
the beginning. Taking the position of editor meant more
than just a change of hats. In addition to a cross-country
move, Moore was making a choice between someone
else’s magazine and his very own Michigan Voice. Moving
to Mother Jones would mean closing down the Voice per-
manently. “I have this terrible sense of abandoning my
hometown,” Moore wrote in his goodbye editorial. “Well,
this is it. Let’s skip the clichés and the pathos and just say
it was a rip and a riot to do this newspaper.” Moore then
launched into a list of the accomplishments of the Voice:
“We fought the mayor and he was removed from office.
We fought the Midland nuke and it was closed. We fought
the Flint Police and they were indicted by the grand jury.
We fought racism at Howard Johnson’s/Mister Gibby’s
and they got nailed. We fought the AutoWorld scam and
it was shut down. We fought an illegal search of our
printer and got a ‘shield law’ passed in Congress.” Moore’s
summation was that he and the rest of the Voice contrib-
utors hadn’t done “half bad, considering we were usually
broke, had a full-time staff of one, and could never get the
hot water heater to work.”

Mother Jones promised Moore a wider audience. But it
wasn’t all about career moves or the common good —
Moore had more than just himself to think about. There
was his longtime girlfriend Kathleen Glynn, and her
young daughter, Natalie. For Glynn to accompany Moore,
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she would have to shut down her own graphic design
business and engage in custody negotiations with
Natalie’s father. Moore would be moving a whole family,
and, at the age of thirty-two, he would be leaving the only
home he had ever known.

Wrote Moore’s friend Hamper, “Flint for Frisco? Most
locals would’ve somersaulted naked through a barn fire for
that type of option. Not Moore. He had this goofy love
affair with Flint.” With California’s fusion of surfer and
sophisticate a sharp contrast to Michigan’s homogenous
quality of Ski-doo-meets-homespun, the move was sure
to include some culture clash. But in that far-off clement
state of palm trees, cappuccinos, café lattes, and double
espressos, Mother Jones had primitive-enough roots: its
original offices were located above a McDonald’s. It was
an April day in 1976 when Hochschild, alongside
cofounders Paul Jacobs and Richard Parker, opened the
box of the first very first print run of Mother Jones. The
smell from the deep fryer below wafted up to mingle with
their excitement as they passed copies around and mar-
veled at their newly realized forum for confronting major
business, environmental misconduct, and the country’s
dirtiest politics.

Hired in April ten years later, Moore was given a warm
and glowing welcome in the June issue of Mother Jones by
Hochschild himself. According to Hochschild, he and
publisher Don Hazen, departing editor Deirdre English,
and art director Louise Kollenbaum “interviewed several
dozen journalists from one side of the country to the
other. We considered candidates from other national
magazines, from major publishing houses, and from sev-
eral of the country’s best-known newspapers. But the
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choice we finally made was a bold and daring one, some-
body who came from none of those worlds.”

What followed was the biography of Moore that you
already know by rote: a life in Flint, the son of an auto
worker, the nephew of a 1937 sit-down striker, an elected
official at the age of eighteen, founder of the Michigan
Voice. Hochschild called the Voice remarkable, pointing
out that it was “the only such paper in the United States
with its roots in a working-class community.” He went on
to joyously declare, “From six feet under her gravestone in
Mount Olive, Illinois, came the muffled voice of Mary
Harris Jones (1830-1930), from whom we take our name:
‘Hire that young feller!””

It’s no wonder that staff at Mother Jones were excited
about Moore. He stood for everything the magazine was
meant to embody. In the magazine’s own words, Mary
Harris “Mother” Jones “crafted a persona that made her a
legend among working people.” Mary Harris was Irish-
born, and ten years old when her family, survivors of the
potato famine, immigrated to Canada. In Toronto, she
studied dressmaking, then went on to become a teacher, a
career that took her to Monroe, Michigan, and eventually
Chicago and Memphis. She met her husband George
Jones, an iron worker, on the eve of the Civil War; they
married that same night. The two of them survived the
war to have four children — all of whom died of yellow
fever, as did George. Harris Jones was suddenly alone,
only thirty years old. She returned to Chicago to resume
a career in dressmaking, but her shop burned in the fire
of 1871. Twenty-five years later she was still poor, strug-
gling to survive. She found strength inventing herself,
initially, as a local character. By 1900, people had ceased to
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call her Mary, referring to her instead as “Mother.” In
addition to dressing in antique black frocks, she embel-
lished her age. According to a Mother Jones profile of
Mother Jones the woman, “by casting herself as the
mother of downtrodden people everywhere, Mary Jones
went where she pleased, spoke out on the great issues of
her day, and did so with sharp irreverence. . . . Paradoxi-
cally, by embracing the very role of family matriarch that
restricted most women, Mother Jones shattered the limits
that confined her.”

As Harris Jones used the constraints of the ultimate
female figure to raise herself (and her “children”) up, so
Moore uses to his advantage (and to his neighbors’
advantage) the trait with the greatest potential to keep
him down: his down-at-heel birthright, the face of the
working class. The difference between Moore and Harris
Jones was that she grew into her persona late in life; his
appears to have been manifest nearly at birth. Unfortu-
nately for Moore, Mother Jones the magazine did not long
continue to believe in the similarities between the two.

When Moore boarded the masthead of Mother Jones,
some of the nation’s — and the world’s — most recog-
nized lefty writers were already among its ranks: Barbara
Ehrenreich was a regular columnist; Christopher
Hitchens, a contributor; and David Talbot, a senior editor
who would leave upon Moore’s appointment and go on
to found and edit online magazine Salon. Mother Jones
itself had been founded on the heels of the Nixon scandal,
and had no qualms about exposing other scandals. In
1977, the first exposé of the Ford Pinto’s bad habit of com-
busting when rear-ended in basic fender-benders was
scouted and penned by Mother Jones’ business manager
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on a tip from an insurance investigator. That story
brought Mother Jones into the mainstream limelight. By
1986, Mother Jones was holding on to that mainstream
audience as much as it could; the July/August issue shows
a fed-up letter from a reader insulted by the magazine’s
“crass commercialism” — a sweepstakes campaign and
free doormat as a means for raising subscription numbers.

Fighting for control of the advertising pages were a
variety of activist groups, such the National Abortion
Rights Action League, Peace Development Fund, Fund for
Renewable Energy and the Environment (in regard to
Chernobyl), and Nicaragua Medical Aid, as well as chari-
ties that yanked hard at the heartstrings with seas of sad
faces: Save the Children, and Holy Land Christian
Mission International. Caught between these do-good
factions of advertisers were the middle-class trends of the
time: the “backless” back chair, wrinkly toy animals
known as Shar-Pei Plush Puppies, Soloflex workout, Chi
pants, Sato Sweetheart Watches, Birkenstock sandals, cat-
alogues from Good Vibrations and the Nature Company,
not to mention Gary Larsen Far Side T-shirts, hand-
crafted unicorn figurines, and other landfill. If the
advertisers were any indication, Mother Jones, like the
political left in North America in general, was going
through a time of change and did not know quite what it
wanted to be.

On August 1, the advertising at Mother Jones ignited
the first major row among new editor Moore, publisher
Hazen, and founder Hochschild. A new addition to the
advertising staff found himself terminated after his
second day. Moore opposed the firing. A month later,
Moore found himself terminated. Mother Jones claimed it
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had nothing to do with the firing of the ad person, whose
name was Richard Schauffler. Moore claimed it did,
among other things. From this point on, there were as
many versions of the truth as there were people strolling
the magazine’s offices.

According to the New York Times, September 5 was the
date Moore was informed he would have to give up his
position. According to The Nation, Moore was informed of
his dismissal on September 2, his now-adopted daughter
Natalie’s first day of school. The Nation editorial was by
none other than Alexander Cockburn, one of the rising
stars of New Journalism in the 1980s. After a dismissal from
the Village Voice, Cockburn wrote regularly for The Nation
and for the Wall Street Journal. He had written for Mother
Jones, both under Moore’s editorship and earlier. In his
September 13 The Nation column, titled “Beat the Devil,
Cockburn set up Moore as the common man, contrasting
him to millionaire owner Hochschild in a vicious poor vs.
rich struggle. Of Hochschild, he wrote, “Hochschild is heir
to the AMAX mining fortune, and although he has devoted
substantial amounts of the family income, originally gen-
erated by African wage-slaves, to finance the quasi-liberal
periodical Mother Jones, he can still behave like a nine-
teenth-century mill owner.” Of Moore he wrote, “Michael
Moore is not rich, and before he came to San Francisco last
spring he ran a fine weekly paper, the Michigan Voice, out
of Flint, which is where he grew up, the son of an auto
worker. . . ” Cockburn went on to point out that a “tough
working-class editor,” had been sought for the position,
one who “foolishly, as it turned out, believed the P.R. which
was in fact a short-term romantic fantasy of the well-
heeled recruiters of Mother Jones.”
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Moore did not run a weekly paper as Cockburn stated
(the Flint Voice had been bi-weekly, and the Michigan
Voice was, in fact, a monthly), and ad rep Schaufler, who
was referenced further on in this column, would become,
by October 4 and from Cockburn’s own pen, Schauffler
with two fs. According to the original Cockburn column,
the contested Schauffler was fired because of his previous
political connection to the Democratic Workers Party, for
whose publishing arm he had also sold advertising, some-
thing he said he had made clear in his interview with
Mother Jones prior to his hiring. Cockburn wrote, “Moore
said he could not support the action, in which Schaufler
was victimized for his political past.” Schauffler himself
filed grievances with the District-65 United Auto
Workers, the union that represented Mother Jones
employees. According to the New York Times on
September 27, “Don Hazen, publisher of Mother Jones,
said Mr. Schauffler’s dismissal was a ‘business decision’
because Mr. Schauffler’s past affiliation would have made
him ineffective as an advertising salesman.”

Hochschild wrote a letter to The Nation, which ran on
October 4. It refuted the arguments put forth in
Cockburn’s column, but did not address the issue of the
firing of Schauffler. Nor did an October 4 letter signed by
a long list of Mother Jones senior staff, including pub-
lisher Don Hazen, address the issue of Schauffler’s
dismissal. Hochschild, Hazen, and company were more
concerned with addressing statements made by
Cockburn relating to the magazine’s circulation numbers,
management, vision, and one particular feature by a
writer named Paul Berman.

All sides agree that Berman, who had written a feature
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on Nicaragua that had been published earlier that year,
and was meant to publish a follow-up or second part to
the feature under Moore’s editorship, was a point of con-
tention between Moore and Hochschild. Everyone also
agrees Moore refused to run the follow-up feature, for
which the magazine had already heavily paid in travel
expenses. But no one agrees whether Moore’s initial
refusal to run the piece figured into his firing. I was able
to contact a member of the Mother Jones staff from that
time, who agreed to be interviewed providing anonymity
was assured. This source confirmed, “Michael did not feel
an article critical of the Sandinistas had any place in the
magazine, and was not going to run it. And there was cer-
tainly a disagreement about that, because others felt that
the fact that it was not totally supportive of Ortega was
not a reason that it should not appear in the magazine.”
The editor later agreed to publish it, accompanied by a
counterpoint editorial that Hochschild suggested either
Moore or Cockburn provide.

Of the Berman article, Cockburn quoted Moore as
saying, “Reagan could easily hold it up, saying, ‘See, even
Mother Jones agrees with me. The article was flatly wrong
and the worst kind of patronizing bullshit. You would
scarcely know from it that the United States had been at
war with Nicaragua for the last five years.” Cockburn
attributed to Hochschild the sentiment that it was best “to
stay out of bed with revolutionary movements.”

Bear in mind that public in-fighting among lefty crit-
ics has a long tradition. Also, the situation with Nicaragua
and the U.S. at this time was at its most inflamed and
polarizing. Demonizing the small country as the next
Cuba, in July of 1986, President Reagan, the Senate, and
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the House had voted $100 million in military assistance to
the Contras, a guerilla force trying to overthrow the com-
munist Sandinista government headed by Daniel Ortega.
The Sandinistas themselves had overthrown the conserva-
tive government headed by Anastasio Somoza. The
Contras, it was widely reported, were trained by the cia
in methods of torture — skills that many, including
Amnesty International, believed were put into practice.
After aid to the Contras was outlawed later in the ’8os, the
Reagan administration was almost brought down after it
was revealed that funding was still occurring through
Byzantine networks involving arms sales to Iran.
Hochschild felt there were more battles occurring than
just those south of the U.S. In his refutation of Cockburn’s
column, he claimed Cockburn made “a number of flights
from reality, the chief of which is that he twists everything
into his own longstanding politico-literary feud with
writer Paul Berman.” Regarding the actual article in ques-
tion, Hochschild wrote, “Part one was published in the
magazine earlier this year: a reporting piece that said the
Contra war against the Sandinistas was basically a war of
the rich against the poor — a conclusion that should sat-
isfy even Cockburn.” Part two, Hochschild clarified,
“continues a basically sympathetic look at Sandinismo,
but says its Marxism-Leninism has proved an instrument
better for overthrowing Somoza than for managing an
economy.” Admitting to a disagreement with Moore over
the article’s length, Hochschild wrote that he insisted that
Moore run the article for the following reasons: a com-
mitment had been made; Hochschild believed the article
to be interesting; and a writer should have the freedom to
raise “a partly critical perspective on something the mag-
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azine and he generally support, like the Nicaraguan revo-
lution.” Bitingly, he added, that unlike Cockburn, he did
not believe in sacred cows.

Hochschild also stated that he had never raised the issue
of the Berman article as a reason for Moore’s being let go.
“Cockburn also implies there was something duplicitous
about my not describing these reasons to Cockburn. I felt
it was no service to Moore to describe why most people at
Mother Jones felt he had not succeeded as editor.”

Publisher Hazen, art director Louise Kollenbaum (who
had been with the magazine since its inception), manag-
ing editor Bruce Dancis, associate publisher Dirk Bunce,
senior editor Bernard Ohanian, advertising director
Roberta Orlando, and business director David Assmann
all signed their names to a letter to The Nation that did
provide reasons: “Michael Moore’s lack of success at
Mother Jones had nothing to do with his politics; in fact it
was the intensity of his political passion that led us all to
have high hopes for him in the first place.” They continued,
“Like many people who have not met the expectations of
their coworkers, Moore apparently tries to find someone
else to blame, and an evil motive behind his fall from grace
— even when there is none.” Their letter accused Moore of
choosing to “obscure his problems as editor by raising
noble causes like the Sandinistas and the rights of labor.”
They qualified that Moore’s lack of success as editor had
more to do with “his performance on the job, his relations
with his coworkers and his inability to bring to the maga-
zine the caliber of stories he so eloquently promised.”

This team also pointed out that Moore had canceled two
out of three of the magazine’s meetings to attempt a settle-
ment following his termination. By this point, however,
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Moore had long ago filed a $2 million suit against Mother
Jones, charging the magazine with fraud and breach of con-
tract. Hochschild had offered him two months’ salary and
a moving truck back to Flint, along with an end-of-the-
week time frame to pack up his office. Just as Moore had
taken his story to Cockburn the very next day, he had also
filed his suit promptly (five days after his dismissal, accord-
ing to the New York Times). “The magazine is damaging
itself — I'm not damaging the magazine,” Moore said.

My anonymous Mother Jones source said, “I think it
got portrayed as a struggle between Michael and Adam
Hochschild. If you were a receptionist or an intern or a
researcher or somebody on the lower end of the totem
pole, [Michael] treated you very nicely. He was magnani-
mous. He was a really good guy. But a lot of the problems
happened because he couldn’t . . . If there were a staff
meeting, and one of the other editors or publisher, or one
of the other management people would say something,
he’d just say, ‘Well, that’s the dumbest thing I’ve ever
heard in my life. Why would you say that?’ I mean, right
in front of them. He did that repeatedly.” Though this
staff member never had any problems with Moore, the
source said, “it was as if he had a hard time with other
people who were to be treated as his equals. He seemed to
feel it was necessary to mock them to their face in front of
the whole staff” According to this source, “after three
months, the managers and other editors were begging
Adam Hochschild to do something. When he finally did,
it was portrayed as this battle between Adam, who couldn’t
stand to have an actual working class guy running his
magazine, and Michael Moore. And that really wasn’t the
way it went down.”
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“I think, whatever you say about Michael,” my anony-
mous source confided, “people who have worked with
him generally didn’t find him easy to work with.” This
former coworker was quick, however, to defend Moore on
what he went on to accomplish, saying, “I liked him a lot
until after all of this happened. And I still can’t help but
be intrigued by him, and be really very glad he’s doing
what he’s doing. I think he’s kind of put the Mother Jones
thing behind him pretty thoroughly at this point, and
really gone on and done his thing very effectively.”

Cockburn continued to disagree with Mother Jones’
staff in a printed war of words. He claimed that when
Hochschild informed the magazine’s staff of Moore’s
departure, he cited the Berman dispute — and that this
had been confirmed to Cockburn by a member of the
staff who was present. “Michael’s account of the conver-
sation he had with Adam was quite different from Adam’s
account of it,” said my anonymous source impartially.
Cockburn again brought up Schauffler, including accusa-
tions of “smears” by Mother Jones using Teamster friends
on the uaw union that was handling Schauffler’s griev-
ance. Cockburn denied having participated in anything as
grand as a “feud” with Berman. Moreover, Cockburn’s
opinion on the entire Moore debacle was as follows: “The
line now put forth by Hochschild and sidekicks is that
there was nothing ‘political’ in Moore’s firing. It’s hard to
know what the word ‘political’ means to these people . . .
Hochschild hired Moore to change things; Moore
believed him and came west and put his foot in it right
away. ...

Cockburn referenced an article by Katy Butler for the
San Francisco Chronicle. She had written, “First, senior
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staff members say [Moore] started his new job by launch-
ing a tactless attack on recent issues and was surprised
when present and former staffers ganged up on him.”
Cockburn sarcastically responded, “Well, you can tell
right there that the man was impossible.” According to
Cockburn, Moore’s “tactless attack” included his dislike of
a fawning cover story on Joe Kennedy Jr. “This was heard
with deep displeasure by the sponsors of the Kennedy
story,” wrote Cockburn, “including departing editor (and
extant influence) Deirdre English, managing editor Bruce
Dancis and others, who began to develop the very definite
idea that this Moore wasn’t the ticket after all. Nothing
political, of course.”

Moore had a few supporters after all. The saga contin-
ued in the October 11 issue of The Nation with a letter
from less-than-senior staff of Mother Jones, who did not
want the public to think that the entire magazine was rep-
resented by the undersigned in the previous issue of The
Nation. Signed by eleven employees representing several
departments, these employees wrote, “in fact, a careful
survey of the Mother Jones staft would reveal a wide range
of opinion.” Acknowledging that they were divided by the
issue, they still chose to close their letter on a positive
note: “Finally, many of us feel that hiring Moore was a
bold move for the magazine, we hope that the next hiring
will be as bold.”

Berman himself had a few choice words to contribute,
and ran a rebuttal in the Village Voice, including the sug-
gestion that Moore himself was “doing Reagan’s work” by
suing Mother Jones. The Reagan insult was batted back
and forth with the intensity and frequency of a tennis ball
— from publication to publication and player to player.
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But Moore had no intention of going quietly. If Mother
Jones had hoped he would slink back to Flint without a
peep, they obviously had hired the wrong editor. Though
he eventually did head back to Michigan, Moore first
staged a press conference outside San Francisco City Hall,
where he read aloud from Berman’s unpublished article.
According to my anonymous source, the press conference
was “to announce his lawsuit against Mother Jones, which
was . . . two million dollars or something. I'm not sure
what it was, but in the end, he settled with our insurance
company for roughly $52,000.” With such a national
brouhaha, Mother Jones decided to confront the scandal
within their own pages. In December, Hochschild took
the reigns temporarily as editor, ran an editorial on the
magazine’s “family” troubles, and also ran the offending
Berman article as planned, without a counterpoint article
by Cockburn, Moore, or anyone else.

There were opinions on the Moore/Mother breakup
even back in Michigan. As Hamper wrote in Rivethead,
“the publisher also accused Moore of never being around
the office or, for that matter, the state of California. Mike
was rather adept at concocting any excuse to fly back to
Flint. But doing battle with that procession of poseurs,
who could blame him?” Hamper survived Moore at
Mother Jones by one issue.

Because the magazine worked a month ahead of sched-
ule, by the time the October issue was due on stands,
Moore was already embroiled in the fallout. The Mother
Jones issue had already gone to press when the hubbub
emerged in The Nation. Side by side on newsstands,
Moore’s Mother Jones editorial was still pontificating on
his vision for the magazine: how he considered it the

MICHAEL MOORE: A BIOGRAPHY 53



press’s responsibility to “comfort the afflicted and afflict
the comfortable;” how when he looked out his Mother
Jones office window he gazed across the street at a welfare
lineup on Mission Street, a scene not unlike what Moore
had left behind in Flint; how he intended to bring on
board another Michigan writer besides Hamper; and how
he hoped Mother Jones would pick up popularity in the
Flints and Clevelands of the country. In the November
issue, Hamper’s column criticizing Bruce Springsteen and
John Cougar Mellencamp for co-opting the image of the
working class saw print, though Moore’s absence was
obvious.

It should be noted that Moore and Hamper had done
a good deal of promotion for Moore’s first issue; the
Rivethead had flown to San Francisco on the magazine’s
dime, and the two had completed a full interview circuit
together. Then Hamper flew to Chicago without Moore
— opting instead to take coworker Dave — to appear on
a television segment. The letters, or “Back Talk,” in the
magazine were full of mixed reviews for both the
Rivethead and Moore — but that was nothing new for
Mother Jones. Its readers were usually quick to point out
errors in reporting, or to weigh in with opposing opin-
ions. Of Hamper’s presence in the magazine, my
anonymous source stated, “I think people liked it. I cer-
tainly don’t remember any grumbling about that. It was a
really unusual perspective of factory life from the point of
view of a pretty articulate worker.”

Moore told Hamper that bringing him aboard as a reg-
ular columnist hadn’t earned him any points with the
publisher, and that Hazen had been particularly offended
by Hamper’s review of the Faces of Death documentary
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trilogy. However, the very same week, the managing
editor extended his praise to Hamper in a letter that
requested the Rivethead stay on as a Mother Jones colum-
nist in spite of Moore’s firing. Hamper chose to remain
neutral on all fronts: he kept his head low and close to
home, going back to editor Kathy Warbelow, who had
previously offered him a column at the Detroit Free Press’
Sunday magazine. Her offer still stood and the Rivethead
continued his chronicles.

Looking at the issues bearing Moore’s name on the
masthead, one can assume that much of the content was
inherited from its former editor; the first issue bears the
standard Mother Jones’ tone and direction (i.e. “Saturday
Morning Fever: The Commercialization of Cartoons”).
Standing out proudly from the first issue, though, is the
grinning mug of Hamper on the cover, and Hamper’s
stream-of-consciousness assembly-line writing. Unlike
the rest of the writing in the issue, the Rivethead piece
moves slowly — at the pace of cars inching down the line
— and has a colloquial tone as funny as it is raw. It’s easy
to see why Moore fought hard for the column’s inclusion.
The smart, disaffected man from middle America was an
image Moore knew he could harness for himself and the
magazine.

Using the eventual settlement as seed money, Moore
would segue from the Mother Jones disaster into a great
success with his film, Roger ¢ Me. But Cleveland Park,
Washington D.C., was the next stop on his list, where he
would write for Ralph Nader’s media newsletter. Coming
to Nader’s attention in the fallout from Mother Jones, in
just two short months, Moore burned through two cities
and two jobs. Another fallout — this time with Nader —
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sent Moore home to Flint, with Glynn and Natalie in tow.
According to Moore, he had been given a substantial
advance to write a book on General Motors, and, in an
interview with the New Yorker, Moore said that Nader
jealously dismissed him. According to the Nader organi-
zation, Moore failed to report to work. At first, Moore was
depressed about both dismissals. He did little but sleep
and venture out to see cheap movies. Between these dis-
count matinées and Roger Smith’s announcements of
lay-ofts, Moore found film as a form — and it became his
purpose. “I can’t heap enough praise on the publisher of
Mother Jones for firing me,” Moore said years later.
“Otherwise, I never would have made Roger ¢ Me.” In the
smash hit documentary, the Mother Jones incident would
only come up as a casual aside. But in 1997, old wounds
would reopen in the new medium of the Internet.

An article on Salon by Daniel Radosh entitled “Moore
Is Less,” was one of the first pieces of absolutely malicious
journalism aimed at Moore in the wake of his success
with Roger ¢ Me, TV Nation, his one fictional film credit,
Canadian Bacon, his documentary of his book tour and
an attack on Nike known as The Big One, and, in particu-
lar, his bestselling book, Downsize This! Putting Moore on
par with Rush Limbaugh and Howard Stern, Radosh
pointed out, “for most people on the left, Moore is wel-
come news. Some of us, however, have had enough.”
Claiming the left had often supported Moore because he
was “in service of a larger truth,” Radosh poked fun at
every accomplishment in Moore’s career, including per-
sonal taunts at his sense of humor: “Hey Mike, for your
next book: airline peanuts, and how hard they are to open.
Il kill” Radosh criticized Moore’s working relationship
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with his staff, particularly writers on TV Nation. “On
another Moore project, one senior staffer regularly
responded to Moore’s abuse by presenting the boss with a
big box of doughnuts. He assured coworkers he was not
trying to placate Moore. Rather, he figured Mike’s intem-
perate scarfing would hasten the fat man’s death.” Radosh
didn’t stop there. Most important, perhaps, was his
charge that Moore’s writers were dissuaded from joining
the Writers Guild, and that those who did often had to
rely on the Guild to secure their payments.

Moore fired back. Calling the article “libelous,” partic-
ularly on the accusation regarding the Writers Guild,
Moore took a few cheap shots of his own, namely at the
sexuality of Salon’s editor and founder David Talbot.
Talbot, who penned a book in the ’8os called Burning
Desires: Sex in America, was at one time part of the free
love movement of San Francisco. In fact, Talbot was so
liberal about everything in his life, that were it not for his
California upbringing and sexual experimentation, he
might very well resemble the young always-stirring-
things-up politico that we associate with Moore.

Talbot was raised in Hollywood. His father, Lyle, was a
famous character actor with roles on Ozzie and Harriet
(Joe Randolph), and in cult films like Ed Wood’s Glen or
Glenda. Talbot’s brother played Gilbert, a friend to the
Beave on Leave It to Beaver. Talbot himself never acted,
opting instead for activism. He was kicked out of Harvard
Preparatory School in the ’60s for turning the school lit-
erary magazine into an anti-Vietnam War pamphlet. A
“disciplinary risk” in spite of his good grades, Talbot
could only get into one college: hippie hangout University
of California—Santa Cruz. In addition to his work at
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Mother Jones, where he was a lefty who always ran slightly
at odds with the left, Talbot worked for the San Francisco
Examiner alongside other “rogue” figures like Hunter S.
Thompson. There, working for a mainstream newspaper,
Talbot was among the first to extol the virtues of feminist
theorist Camille Paglia, running an infamous photograph
of her dressed in bondage gear inside a porn shop. As
much as Moore has been dubbed a populist, Talbot has
been known as a sensationalist.

More significant than a one-line swipe at Talbot’s
sexual scholarship, which Moore called “embarrassing,”
was Moore’s dredging up of the Mother Jones days. Moore
told Salon’s readers, “you should know that Salon’s editor,
David Talbot, resigned in protest in 1986 when I was
chosen over him to become the new editor of Mother Jones
magazine, where he was senior editor at the time. . . .
David, it’s been eleven years — get over it.” Talbot had
been on staff at Mother Jones in 1986, and had indeed
applied for the job of editor, which went to Moore.

Moore then addressed each of Radosh’s points by
citing his own awards and credentials, concluding with
these thoughts on wealth: “Daniel Radosh grew up living
the charmed life in the literary circles of Manhattan. He
goes on and on about how I now live there, as if this is
some indication that I am no longer working class.”
Expecting an instant win, Moore pulled out the class card,
“What’s really bothering him, I think, is that one of ‘them’
(i.e., me) has moved into the neighborhood. Oooh, scary!
A guy who’s supposed to be building Buicks in Flint is
now prowling the streets that were paved for the Daniel
Radoshes of the world. . . . Protect the Starbucks!”

Radosh wrote back refuting his supposed charmed
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Manhattan upbringing, voicing his disappointment that
his “proud Brooklyn childhood of stoopball and Welcome
Back Kotter” had been transformed into “tedious evenings
at Elaine’s with Norman Mailer.”

Talbot refuted Moore’s charge of a longstanding jeal-
ousy thusly: “Despite Moore’s charges of sinister
conspiracy, Salon never plotted to attack him out of per-
sonal or corporate malice.” Talbot admitted he had
personally enjoyed Roger ¢ Me, and pointed out that after
Moore’s book, Downsize This!, was published, Moore had
been asked to appear on the Salon cover — but canceled
the interview. Talbot wrote that as a very public voice of
lefty politics and labor causes, Moore had “opened him-
self up to press criticism by developing a reputation as a
bullying boss. (The fact that he has built a cushy life for
himself in Upper Manhattan by hectoring America’s plu-
tocrats also makes him a worthy target, as the social
satirist in Moore would be the first to appreciate.)”

Talbot denied he had ever held a grudge against
Moore, and reiterated that he had been ready to join
Moore in solidarity after the Mother Jones firing — until
he realized the issue went beyond management. Talbot
said he decided not to attend Moore’s City Hall press con-
ference after he “heard directly from many of Mother
Jones” aggrieved employees that it was not just the owner
who was fed up with Moore, but much of the magazine’s
staff as well, who found him to be an autocratic and
incompetent manager.”

While this He Said/He Said does little to illuminate
what really happened between the spring and fall of 1986
at Mother Jones, it does show how Moore dealt with diffi-
culties in his life. In five short months, Moore had come

MICHAEL MOORE: A BIOGRAPHY 59



to prominence among the American left and learned that
the rules governing media were far different from his
own. Whatever actually happened, what is certain is that
Moore took on the left with as much intensity as he had
taken on the Flint school board, and indeed everything
else in his life until that point. This time, however, he lost,
sent back to Flint with the complimentary U-Haul and
the seed money for what would become his documentary,
Roger & Me. The rematch was not long in coming.
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Out Like Flint

The Bunny Lady, Roger, and Me

“When Roger & Me came out, I would have been about
ten or eleven. . . . From what I recall, it was a very hard
time.” These are the words of Ryan Eashoo, who was
interviewed by telephone for this book. Like Michael
Moore, Eashoo was born in Flint and raised in its suburb
of Davison. In 1997 he graduated from Moore’s own alma
mater, Davison High School.

“I grew up middle class — my dad worked at the City
of Flint, the Department of Public Works. They laid a lot
of people off. My mom worked different secretarial jobs
to make it. It was a tough time — for all Americans in the
’80s, especially the early ’8os, but a tough time for us in
Flint. As a kid at that age, you don’t really realize why
things are the way they are. You don’t realize that there are
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places that aren’t so depressed. Economically. You just feel
that’s the norm.”

Eashoo has three times nominated Moore to be
inducted into their high school’s hall of fame — in the
five years since its inception. In January 2005, Eashoo’s
campaign culminated in a nationwide nomination strug-
gle to see Moore recognized by the community. From
Eashoo’s own Web site, an online system of nomination
was developed, allowing non-Davison residents to peti-
tion Moore’s admission. Eashoo’s campaign received
attention in national newspapers in the U.S., Canada, and
France. Although the campaign failed, Eashoo’s recollec-
tion of his own formative years cuts honestly to the core
of the matter: even the middle-class families of Flint were
facing financial struggles. In 1980s America, two trends
emerged that would shape Moore and his work: the death
of local industry; and, in Michigan, the rise of the armed
right wing.

The proud state was — and is — characterized by
something besides its four-wheelers: the uniform of mili-
tary and hunting camouflage. While activists concerned
themselves with the policies of the Reagan administration
on Latin America, the more insidious elements of
Reaganomics were being felt in the manufacturing belt at
home. With controls loosened, and labor laws rescinded,
the corporate world no longer had to appease its biggest
source of overhead: its workers. In the auto industry,
these policies dovetailed with new competition from
better foreign-made cars. By the mid ’8os, factories were
closing down at an unprecedented rate, and no city was
hit harder than Flint. In August 1987, Money Magazine
declared Flint the worst place to live in America, and half

62 EMILY SCHULTZ



of the top ten least desirable places to have a home, “due
to high crime rates, weak economies and relatively few
arts and leisure activities,” were in Michigan.

After any economic catastrophe, people, in despera-
tion, will turn to voices that are strong, confident, violent,
and ready to blame a visible group for their woes. This
was true in 1932 Germany, and, on a much smaller scale,
in 1980s America. As Michigan turned poor, it also turned
violent. Coming out of Flint’s ’80s depression, the Flint-
Decker-Detroit triangle would witness the beating of
Malice Green in 1992, a Detroit black motorist who was
pulled over for a traffic stop but died at the hands of two
white police officers. In 1995, from Michigan’s farmlands
came the emergence of Timothy McVeigh, Oklahoma
bomber. He had come to Decker, Michigan, just sixty-five
miles outside of Flint, to be with like-minded individuals,
individuals who conducted military drills in the woods in
preparation for the day they might overthrow a U.S. gov-
ernment they saw as yielding to foreign interests, and by
association, foreigners. McVeigh, along with several
others, would set off a truck of explosives in front of the
Oklahoma City federal building, killing 168 people. By the
beginning of the new millennium, a school shooting by
the youngest person ever — a Flint six-year-old — would
be committed in Michigan, and documented in Moore’s
later film Bowling for Columbine. What had happened in
the Great Lakes state that could lead to all this?

Before Fahrenheit 9/11, there was Bowling for
Columbine; before it, there was Roger & Me, a documen-
tary collaged from news footage pertaining to the
economic conditions of the city of Flint — from the bee-
hive hairdos and Pontiac parades of the 1950s, to the
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fallen General Motors tower, and a rat population sur-
passing the human one in the late ’80s. There was also the
film’s most unforgettable sequence, a Flint woman club-
bing and butchering a rabbit (on camera), and selling its
meat for grocery money. And there was Moore’s own
dogged pursuit of Roger Smith, Chairman of om, from
whom he hoped to get answers regarding layoffs through-
out the 1980s.

But even before Roger ¢ Me, there was Blood in the
Face, a documentary initiated in the mid-"8os by New
York’s Kevin Rafferty, Anne Bohlen, and James Ridgeway.
Based on Ridgeway’s book of the same title, the docu-
mentary was to be a disturbing, straightforward look at
renewed Ku Klux Klan and white supremacist activity.
Not only did Blood in the Face show a then-nameless
movement, and escalating racism and violence in
Michigan, it was also Moore’s first screen credit. Rafferty
and company knew of Moore through his work at the
Voice. Without ever having met, they phoned Moore from
New York to ask if he could get them into a Klan meeting.
Moore did. His profile appears in only one scene. By the
time Blood in the Face was released in 1991, Moore’s famil-
iar shape and voice would already be known for Roger &
Me, but working with the Rafferty crew was Moore’s first
real taste of film work. He credits Rafferty (who also
directed the award-winning film, The Atomic Café) for
inspiration. Not only did Rafferty show Moore how to
load the film and run the sound equipment when it came
time to begin his own project, but he is also credited as
director of photography on Roger & Me. Later, Moore
would donate $50,000 of his Roger ¢ Me earnings toward
Rafferty’s next project, Feed.
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What was Moore’s role in the making of Blood in the
Face? He flirted with one of the female supremacists and
got her to talk about her hate, telling her she didn’t look
like “a typical Nazi,” and that she looked like she could be
in a Coppertone commercial. Accustomed to covering and
ridiculing local neo-Nazi activity, Moore said he stepped
in when the New York crew lost their nerve. According to
Moore, “They didn’t want to be on camera, because they
thought the Klan guys might come after them. ... So I
said, ‘T'll do it. 'm not worried about these guys.”

Moore can be heard posing questions throughout, but
his is not the only voice; Moore and all three producers are
credited as interviewers. Very close to film’s end, Moore’s
voice is clear as he argues with one of the subjects. “You
will never see this day what you want to see come to be in
this country .. .” he tells Alan Poe, a middle-aged Christian
Identity minister who has been arguing throughout the
film against the rise of black professionals, against the
existence of the Holocaust, and against Jewish members of
the Senate. With the exception of stark news clips of the
Holocaust and the Chinese Red Army, scattered amidst
footage from a neo-Nazi conference in Cohacta,
Michigan, Moore’s voice is the only overt opposition to
the Aryan movement presented in the film. Poe begins to
argue, and Moore issues the expletive “jack shit,” which —
though it is difficult to say with absolute certainty as their
two voices merge — sounds as though it slams shut
Moore’s sentence, “You are not going to be able to do jack
shit.” Poe continues his argument, which cites God as the
reason white supremacists will “win,” and asks if he has
found a convert, even though the answer is obviously the
opposite. The screen fades to darkness.
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The Blood in the Face documentary intensified Moore’s
interest in film. He had always loved movies, but the idea of
making one of his own began to germinate. After his termi-
nation from Mother Jones, a depressed Moore began seeing
films around the clock, including mainstream shoot-"em-
ups in spite of his antiviolent nature. “I probably went to a
movie a day,” he admitted. “I would go to see everything —
[Sylvester] Stallone, Arnold [Schwarzenegger], everything
except ninja movies . . . and I thought ‘Well, why not try
and make a movie?’ ... It didn’t look that hard. Most of ’em
are pretty lousy. I didn’t know what 'd do it on. ...

Upon his return to Flint, post—Mother Jones, post—Ralph
Nader, Moore was, for the first time in his adult life, with-
out a political or creative forum for expression. An
unfortunate set of events lent Moore the ambition and the
forum he so needed. It was November 6, 1986, 5:37 p.m.
when the story appeared on cBs news. Roger Smith,
Chairman of General Motors, made a statement: “Today
we’re announcing the closing of eleven of our older
plants.” Moore had found his movie. Only two years earlier,
in 1984, the company had handed out $322 million in profit
share to 530,000 employees in the U.S. gm and the United
Auto Workers had also signed a three-year labor agreement
offering unprecedented income security for employees.
Moore’s reaction to the closings: “The hell with this. I gotta
do something about it. ...

The Nader organization, however, disputed the idea
that the film was Moore’s idea. Said Nader associate James
Musselman, also a Philadelphia lawyer: “Roger ¢ Me
glorifies Mr. Moore’s role while forgetting about all the
middle-of-the-road people who worked so hard on these
issues and don’t get any credit.” More irksome to Nader
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himself was that Moore did not complete the work for the
Nader organization that he had been paid to do. Some
overlap existed between Moore’s tenure with the Moore
Weekly newsletter to which Nader had assigned him and
Moore’s commencing of the project Roger & Me, which
wound up being given precedence. Nader claimed Moore
had been paid for writing he never completed, and
Musselman added that Moore drew Roger ¢ Me informa-
tion and inspiration from Nader’s own General
Motors—focused book The Big Boys, which prominently
profiled Roger Smith. Only a month prior, newspaper arti-
cles acknowledged that Nader had “donated office space
and a little seed money to go after his old adversary, gm.”

The end credits of Moore’s film acknowledge Nader as
well, but obviously the two men disagreed on the terms of
whatever money passed between them. If the money were
paid back, Nader stated it would be put into a journalis-
tic nonprofit group known as Essential One. Anyone who
has followed Moore’s career knows that relations between
Nader and himself have, over the years, gone back and
forth from friendly to chilly to unabashedly rude — on
both sides. However, Moore would go on to work with
Nader again in the 2000 Presidential campaign.

As to the actual making of Roger & Me, Moore may not
have known much about film, but he was already familiar
with 6m and the company’s politics, pre-Nader. Working
for the Voice hadn’t earned him staying power at Mother
Jones, but it did give him a leg up when it came to reporting
on local corporations. Shooting for Roger & Me began only
three months after Roger Smith’s announcement. Moore’s
camera began rolling on February 11, 1987, and filming
wouldn’t be completed for another two and a half years.
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Moore’s settlement with Mother Jones would not come
through until 1989, when the parties arrived at an out-of-
court agreement. In the meantime, Moore and his
partner and now coproducer Glynn drew on earlier
fundraising skills, and were able to organize a Tuesday
night bingo, with the film as their own charity. Moore
sold his house and held two garage sales. They solicited
funds where they could, including from actor Ed Asner, of
Mary Tyler Moore Show fame, but also from the bank of
Mom and Dad: Michael’s own parents. The film itself
would cost $160,000. At $400 per roll for film stock,
Moore and his crew shot sparingly.

At the same time, they knew to keep the camera rolling
— even when their subjects (often amused receptionists,
disgruntled security guards, and by-the-book P.R. man-
agers) thought it had been shut off. Moore would be
critiqued for this by journalists who felt he used — and
still uses — the working class for a laugh, since middle-
class people are less likely to work the retail counters of
large corporations, or to work in security, even for the
most posh of country clubs.

One such critic was Harlan Jacobson, who profiled
Moore in Film Comment, one of his first major interviews
for Roger & Me. Another would be Pauline Kael, writing
for the New Yorker. “The picture is like the work of a slick
ad exec,” she writes in her review. “It does something that
is humanly very offensive: Roger ¢ Me uses its leftism as a
superior attitude. Members of the audience can laugh at
ordinary working people and still feel that they’re taking
a politically correct position.” Another interviewer —
Spencer Rumsey from Newsday — described a scene in
which a San Francisco waitress offers a seemingly endless
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list of different kinds of coffee drinks: “It drew a big laugh
from the audience when I saw it. Weren’t we laughing at
her expense?”

Moore countered, “The people in Detroit are not
laughing at that waitress. They have nothing against that
waitress. It’s everything that that represents. We go into a
restaurant in Detroit, we have one choice. Maybe two. But
wealth has all of these choices.”

Perspective was everything. Wealthy viewers may have
been laughing at the waitress; less wealthy viewers were
laughing with her — at the tedium of her job, to which
they could likely relate.

But before examining criticisms of Roger ¢ Me, we
should examine the film frame by frame, regardless of the
number of times we have seen it. Roger ¢ Me, in retro-
spect, is a very different film than it was in its day. As an
audience, we now also have a political perspective of the
time period we could not have had in 1989. We also know
now that it marks an incredible shift in the documentary
form. Roger ¢ Me established the methods for which
Moore would become famous in the ensuing decade.

Moore’s hope was to actually convince Roger Smith to
spend a day riding around the town of Flint in a van with
the film crew so that Smith could see for himself the dev-
astation that had been wreaked upon the people there by
the oM plant closings. “It was gonna be like My Dinner
With André on wheels. . . . But of course that didn’t
happen,” Moore said in interview, referencing Louis
Malle’s popular 1981 art house movie that used only one
location and a long conversation. What did happen was
that Moore pursued “Roger” at gm headquarters, share-
holders’ meetings, Michigan social clubs, and even a New
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York hotel, hoping to corner him, and force his invitation
upon Smith personally. Moore honestly believed that at
some point during the two and a half years of shooting,
Smith would relent, or at the very least, allow Moore an
interview. However, the 14th floor of oM headquarters,
where Smith’s office was located, continued to elude
Moore’s film crew, with each effort raising the level of
filmic comedy — and civil frustration.

Though critics would argue the veracity of the facts
used in the film, Roger ¢ Me was one of the first docu-
mentaries to exploit comedy in an otherwise serious
genre. “How would you describe Charlie Chaplin?”
Moore asked of one of his interviewers in 1989. “Great
film comedian, right? Yeah. But no. His films are all
tragedies. He was being abused by the state, thrown in
jail, kicked out of his job, losing the girl, riding off into
the sunset with nothing. That’s not how we remember
him, though. We remember the comedy. He used humor
as a weapon.”

According to Moore, the techniques used in the film
were, at first, largely accidental. He kept walking amateur-
ishly into frame, but then found the people he was
interviewing tended to relax more when he allowed himself
to be filmed alongside them. In retrospect, the title Roger ¢
Me is perfectly suited to the film: it allows that there be
some “me” in the movie, a bumbling personality for the
story to revolve around. Indeed, with this device, Moore
softens the political nature of the film. He is able instead to
force it to adhere to the comedic form, providing a story
arc. From the film’s very first shot, Moore’s story arc focuses
on Moore himself. We see a small child wearing a Popeye
mask, clowning.
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Looking at film styles, documentary and propaganda
are thought to be mutually exclusive cousins that never
kiss. On the one side there are the Why We Fight films,
made during wwir by the conscripted Frank Capra (who,
when left to his own devices, was more likely to direct fic-
tional pictures like It’s A Wonderful Life). With bold
editing and witty, sharp voice-over, Why We Fight could
never be mistaken for anything but a spirit-rouser. On the
other side, there is the very first documentary feature,
1922’s Nanook of the North. Plain, with simple edits, we
would never take it for more than a snapshot of Inuit life.
In hindsight, we now know that much of Nanook was
staged, and that Capra’s films, which mix newsreel and
action movie footage, presaged the dominant documen-
tary style of the 1990s.

For the method of Roger ¢ Me, Moore did learn many
lessons from Rafferty, whose previous documentary, The
Atomic Café, was the first popular film to use stock and
educational footage edited at breakneck speed for black
humor and grim comment. As well, Moore was taking
notice of the other growing trend of documentary
cinema in the ’8os, typified by German filmmaker Werner
Herzog and his American student, Errol Morris. This
could be called “the documentary of the outsider.” Its
concerns are marginalized figures, not history-makers
and heroes: the grieving pet owners in Morris’s Gates of
Heaven, or the blind and deaf in Herzog’s Land of Silence
and Darkness. The outsider documentary was a humanist
movement that, like Moore’s inclusion of the Bunny Lady
in Roger & Me, would sometimes be misinterpreted as
exploitive. In Moore’s satire, the antihero characters
become the story’s only tellers, sharply contrasting the
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wealthy targets of the film — like Roger Smith — whose
dialogue is conspicuously absent. Perhaps these stand-in
players tell it too well for some people’s tastes.

With Smith missing from much of the movie — seen
only from a distance or in news clips — his double
becomes Deputy Fred Ross. The kindhearted evictor, with
his just-doing-my-job casualness, further devastates
Flint, but because (unlike Smith) he is obviously also a
member of the community, Ross has to make peace with
the blood on his hands. Ross appears after every failed
attempt of Moore’s to contact the ceo. At the film’s dev-
astating climax, Smith and Ross are intercut: Smith reads
A Christmas Carol at the gm holiday party, while Ross car-
ries a family’s tinseled tree to the curb.

The unique element added to the film’s mix was
Moore himself. From the opening frame of him as a child,
and his personal voice-over, we know what we are going
to watch is a subjective satire. In Roger & Me, Moore’s hit-
and-run interview style also developed, and, as Roger
Ebert pointed out, served as an important technique for
getting a point across to the viewer. Moore is an experi-
enced journalist who knows that he will never get an
interview with Smith in the manner he adopts through-
out the film. But by approaching ceos in the style any
audience member might use — by going to the front door
— he becomes again, that Everyman mirror.

Audiences would respond to the Everyman from the
film’s first showing, appropriately enough, over Labor Day
weekend at the Telluride Festival in Colorado. The screen-
ing would be emblematic of good things to come for Roger
¢ Me. “I remember [Bill and Stella Pence] telling me that
they had added more screenings of Roger ¢& Me than they
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had added for any other film in the history of the festival,”
Moore has said, but he almost didn’t have the film ready
in time for this festival, where Gene Siskel (and Warner
Bros.) would first view it. Though Du Art, Moore’s New
York film lab, had given him a generous price break, the
sound for the film would still cost approximately $12,000,
and Moore “didn’t have a dime left” After viewing the
film, Bill Nickelson, Du Art’s manager, agreed to do the
sound for free, saying Moore could pay for it later, if he
ever made money from it. The film fared well at its first
festival — so well that Moore received more than one
generous distribution offer. Years later, Moore said that
without the pro bono sound mix, he never would have
made it to his first festival. Without that first festival,
Warner Bros. might never have seen it. “It all came by that
act of generosity. . .. So I've always gone back there with
my other films. . .. When you get those breaks in life, you
never want to forget that.”

Everything was up and running after that for Moore,
who was stunned by the whole experience. “You have to
understand that we had been working on the film for over
three years, we had no money, we only got to Telluride
because they flew us there,” Moore said two years later in
an interview with the Telluride Film Festival’s Geoff
Hanson. According to Moore, he and Glynn had left the
New York lab at three in the morning. To get to Telluride,
they boarded a 7 a.m. flight from La Guardia, without
having seen the final print of the film. The first time they
viewed it was on the Mason’s Cinema screen in Telluride.

“It was one of those moments I'll never forget,” said
Moore. “People started laughing during the titles, and it
was then that we thought we might have pulled it off. ..
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From that moment on, Moore said, “we really didn’t get
back home for more than a day at a time for the next
eleven months. There were all the things in dealing with
Warner Brothers. Then we went on a huge promotional
tour in which we visited 110 cities.”

Warner Bros. offered $3 million and blasted Roger ¢
Me into 1300 theaters, including small towns, after ini-
tially agreeing to put it in 80o0. It was this commitment to
having the film show in front of as many audiences as
possible that enticed Moore into the agreement. Universal
and Miramax were both promising studios at the time,
and weighed in with strong bids, but Warner Bros. won
Moore over by agreeing to some of his nonmonetary
demands. In addition to raising the number of theaters
the film would show in, Warner Bros. agreed to pay hous-
ing for two years for the evicted families depicted in the
film. They also arranged an abundant number of free tick-
ets for those showing unemployment cards at theaters,
and $250,000 to pay for Moore and his Flint associates to
complete Moore’s original goal: a tour to community
halls and churches in other economically depressed cities,
where the film would be shown for free. Moore stood on
the lawn of the Genessee County Jail in Flint to sign the
Warner Bros. contract. The jail is featured prominently in
the film, as Moore interviews a em-worker-turned-
prison-guard about Flint’s soaring crime rate in the wake
of the plant closures.

The official movie release was December 22, 1989 —
and Roger & Me, a film about corporate negligence, was,
surprisingly, billed as the feel-good film of the holiday
season. Even more surprising was that, in spite of its grim
messages, the film lived up to those expectations. Because
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all movie theaters in Flint had closed, the world premiere
for Roger & Me was held at Showcase Cinemas in the
satellite town of Burton, Michigan. But there was also a
New York premiere, complete with an after-party includ-
ing a put-on working class spread of franks and beans.

“T had this dream,” Moore told D.D. Guttenplan of
Newsday the week of the film’s official release. “The revo-
lution started and there I was in this limo. I was banging
on the windows, screaming ‘No! No! Warners made me
ride this.” So I made them take back the limo.” It was no
wonder Moore was bounding around his hotel room,
nervously jabbering at journalists about his dreams. Roger
¢ Me had already made Rolling Stone’s Ten Best list —
weeks before the movie released in front of mainstream
audiences. Anticipation, joy, and fear were all palpable.

The other shoe would drop, of course. The November/
December issue of Film Comment featured an interview
with Moore wherein Harlan Jacobson took him to task
for the sequence of events in Roger ¢ Me. “Motor Mouth
Michael Moore” adorned the cover — covered in tire
treads that certainly hadn’t been part of the promotional
image. The director had been run over, philosophically.
Jacobson critiqued the liberties Moore took with his pres-
entation. The facts and footage contained in Roger & Me
span a decade. Layoffs occurred throughout the 1980s in
Flint, but the plant closures are cited specifically in the
news clip (from November 1986) that inspired the film’s
production.

To an audience approaching the film as a straight-
forward documentary, it seems like absolute lunacy that a
prosperous city could lose its entire economy and its
social systems between the 1986 announcements of plant
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closures and the film’s release in late 1989. In reality, by
the time Moore started his film, Flint was already on its
way down. The g™ plant closures in Michigan were just
the final nail in the coffin. Moore chronicles the whole
decade, beginning with Reagan’s visit to Flint to take
some unemployed auto workers out for pizza during his
first presidential bid. Critics argued that because Reagan
was president for two terms, viewers are likely to assume
this occurred in 1986 or ’87. But an observant viewer
should be able to tell, not only by the clothing and hair-
styles of the subjects, but by the difference in film quality,
that this footage was neither taken at the same time as the
rest, nor by the same film crew. Articles following on
Jacobson’s would debate when the cash register was stolen
from the pizza parlor. In voice-over, Moore-the-narrator
jokes that this was the only good thing to come out of the
Reagan lunch — that at least it was profitable for some-
body. The cash register apparently actually went missing
in the commotion of the preparation two days before
Reagan’s arrival.

Then there were the preposterous tactics Flint city offi-
cials used to try to attract tourism to the city: the
construction of a posh Hyatt-Regency, and — everyone’s
favorite — AutoWorld, an indoor theme park dedicated
to local history. But these two white elephants were actu-
ally built in 1982 and 1984; they were not responses to the
1987 closures, but to an already-tanking economy. Such
shortsighted investments sank the town further into debt
just before NAFTA was ratified and M moved its produc-
tions south, essentially closing down the city that it had
built. Defending his film in Newsday, Moore said, “It’s
only a few people who don’t want to deal with the politics
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in the movie who are saying that. All the facts in the movie
are true. All the context is true. They’re only accusing me of
being a journalist — attempting to tell a story with fifty
hours of film footage edited to an hour and a half”

Following closely on the Film Comment piece, Pauline
Kael of the New Yorker rallied against Roger ¢ Me, using
Jacobson’s facts as her own coupled with a deeper bite.
Calling Moore “a big, shambling joker in windbreaker and
baseball cap,” Kael accused him of using people as filler.
“He asks them broad questions about the high rate of
unemployment and the soaring crime rate, and their
responses make them look like phonies or stupes. . . .
wrote Kael. “I had stopped believing what Moore was
saying very early; he was just too glib. Later, when he told
us about the tourist schemes, I began to feel I was watch-
ing a film version of the thirties bestseller A Short
Introduction to the History of Human Stupidity. ..”

Kael, like Jacobson and others to come, also took issue
with the number of plant closings. There were eleven in
total, but nowhere in the film does Moore say or imply
that all of these plants were located in Flint — the news
footage clearly states that Flint would simply be the most
affected by the closures. Of course, Kael may not have
been able to double-check the film’s actual content, as
Moore refused to send it to the well-known film reviewer,
insisting instead that she make the trip to the theater in
New York to view it.

Years ago on his Weblog, Moore detailed a very funny
story about how, shortly after the release of Roger & Me,
he began to think of himself as an “artiste.” When the
studio called him to ask if they could send a videotape to
Kael for review, Moore’s reply was that he hadn’t made a
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video, he’d made a movie, meant to be viewed on the
large screen. He claimed not to know who Kael was, even
though her reputation was such that this was unlikely. He
also claimed he had never read the New Yorker, something
which for a journalist and ex—Mother Jones editor was
even more unlikely. Moore’s Web diary over the years has
often flipped back and forth in this manner, volleying
between so-glib-it-must-be-self-parody and the absolute
earnestness of his tirades. Does he really believe that if he
had mailed Kael the videotape she would have been per-
suaded to like his movie? Or is he just being the comedian
that is his nature?

“Oh brother. What an idiot . . .” Moore wrote of him-
self in his ten-year retrospective on the Kael/New Yorker
incident: “They called Ms. Kael and told her my response.
She was elderly and it was winter and she lived over 150
miles away. And I, the great film auteur Michael Moore,
was demanding she drive down to New York City to view
my masterpiece.” Kael did exactly that. The next day at the
annual meeting of the New York Film Critics, Kael
“wasted” Roger & Me, voicing her opposition to the film
while critics were preparing to vote on the organization’s
best film of the year.

In spite of Kael’s objections, Roger & Me did win the
New York Film Critics Circle Awards. Roger Ebert and
Gene Siskel were perhaps Moore’s greatest defenders —
better than he could ever be for himself, as Moore has
always tended to react to criticism, when it would be
wiser to simply bite his tongue. Ebert championed the
film after seeing it at Telluride, but Siskel quickly followed
in his praise of it. It was Siskel who arranged to film
Moore, Ebert, and himself on the hood of a Cadillac at a
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GM dealership in Chicago — with no protest from the
dealer. At year’s end, Ebert placed Roger & Me at No. 5 on
his “10 Best Films” list; Siskel one-upped him and placed
it at No. 2. After Kael’s assault on the film, Ebert
responded in the Chicago Sun Times by saying that Kael
and Jacobson, with their factual complaints, had both
missed the point entirely. Ebert wrote that he had
responded to the film immediately for a variety of rea-
sons, including its humor, its anger, its ability to
consistently entertain, and because “it said things that
had not been said in the movies in a long time: that the
MBA-powered ‘success ethic’ is just another word for
greed, and that beneath their benign P.R.-powered images,
big corporations are as ruthless as they ever were.”

Ebert agreed with Kael that Moore was glib, but felt
that was the obvious intention. “He was thumbing his
nose at GMm,” Ebert wrote, “he was taking cheap shots, he
knew it, we knew it, and it was about time.”

Ebert went on to say that the manipulation of fact to
suit Moore’s thesis was obvious, and implied that anyone
who cared about that manipulation was missing a point
satirists and ironists had been making for generations.
“What Roger ¢ Me supplies about General Motors, Flint,
and big corporations,” Ebert wrote, “is both more impor-
tant and more rare than facts. It supplies poetry, a
viewpoint, indignation, opinion, anger, and humor.”

At the Sundance Festival in Utah, Ebert spoke to other
artistic filmmakers of the day. All of them agreed that
there could be no interesting documentary form without
editing or manipulation. “What you do on a documentary
is, you get the best footage you can, and put it together
to make the best point you can,” said Ed Lachman, a
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cinematographer who had worked with Herzog.
Lachman continued, “If everything had to be in chrono-
logical order, there aren’t many documentaries that could
pass the test.” Karen Thorson, before directing her own
films, worked for many years with Albert Maysles (inven-
tor of the unobtrusive style of documentary, or cinema
verité, and best known for Salesman and Gimme Shelter).
Regarding the criticisms leveled at Roger & Me, her
response to Ebert was, “Are the critics of this movie seeing
a documentary for the first time? Can’t they tell by the
tone what the movie is doing?”

In the New York Times, Richard Bernstein called Roger
¢ Me “a kind of David and Goliath revenge story, in
which a modest, plain-speaking nobody triumphs
morally over an evil corporate giant.” Bernstein pointed
out that the complaints raised by Jacobson and Kael were
based on the assumption that “a documentary is a piece
of filmed journalism, and that it should obey the same
rules of balance and objectivity that newspapers and tel-
evision news are supposed to obey.” As a satire, Bernstein
asked, wasn’t it necessary for Roger & Me to rely on exag-
geration? Bernstein’s article, from February 1990,
suggested it was possible to take a middle position on the
film: that as a satire, Roger ¢ Me did not need to adhere
strictly to the timeline of events or to “unbiased presen-
tation of data,” but that certainly some of the film’s
impact was lessened by the unreliability of its narrator.
Comparing Roger ¢ Me to Jonathan Swift’s “A Modest
Proposal” (in which Swift wryly suggested the Irish
famine would be solved by the parents eating their
young), Bernstein argued that the audience ought to be
fully aware of Moore’s tongue-in-cheek tone. He also
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pointed out the purpose of these tactics: that such paro-
dies often draw greater attention to social problems than
standard journalism. “If, for example,” wrote Bernstein,
“Mr. Moore had entitled his film something like General
Motors and Flint: The Making of a Calamity, he would
have been signaling a conventional journalistic treat-
ment. To his supporters, the title Roger ¢ Me clearly
shows in advance that irreverence, eccentricity, and a
highly personalized view are all among his primary
intentions.”

Unfortunately, the damage had already been done.
Roger & Me was shut out of Academy Award nomina-
tions; Moore would wait more than twelve years before he
would finally stand in front of the Academy.

Film critics were not the only ones offended by Roger
¢ Me. Flint attorney (and now judge) Larry Stecco sued
Moore and Warner Bros. for defamation under “false
light invasion of privacy,” and won. Stecco was an active
Democrat, and had defended Moore back in the days when
the school board was attempting to give him the slip by
arranging meetings without him. But Stecco felt Moore’s
portrayal of him at the Flint annual Great Gatsby party
made him look foolish. Modeled after the E Scott Fitzgerald
novel of roaring ’20s opulence before the looming crash, an
expansive green lawn is lined with white linen tables laden
with food and drink. Endless trays of shrimp are adorned
by glass swans and fresh flower arrangements. Milling
about are well-dressed men and women, and several out-of-
work actors (notably black) who will serve for the
afternoon as live statuary in period costume. On camera,
the tuxedoed Stecco comments that the people who are laid
off are facing hard times, but that others are still working.
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Moore asks him what the good aspects of Flint are. A
woman prompts Stecco referring to his children and
ballet. Pressed, he says, “Ballet, hockey. It’s a great place to
live.” Though Stecco’s comments are innocent enough,
the film’s next shot shows an intrusive eviction by Deputy
Ross as he enters an empty residence and puts to the curb
a family’s belongings, including close-shots of bedroom
furnishings belonging to two children. The finished film,
plus unused footage, was viewed by an eight-person jury
and Genesee County Circuit Judge Judith Fullerton, who
decided in Stecco’s favor, awarding him $6250.

Stecco was not the only person in Roger ¢ Me unhappy
with his portrayal. Another was Bob Eubanks, successful
son of Flint and host of Tv’s The Newlywed Game. Moore
interviewed him as he prepared to host a stage version of
the game show in downtown Flint. Eubanks is quite
relaxed in front of the camera before going onstage. He
protests Moore’s use of the word “breasts,” saying he would
never use this word in his game show. He then goes on to
tell a graphic joke involving Jewish women and AIps.
According to Moore, when the film came out, Eubanks
joined the Anti-Defamation League of Southern California
on television in protesting the film as anti-Semitic. Warner
Bros. refused to censor the offending line.

Years later, it is fascinating to see the hubbub caused by
a novice filmmaker taking on not the giant of a country
— as Moore would later — but a corporation. Roger ¢
Me’s harshest critics, Kael and Jacobson, were correct in
their opinions that the time line of the film was skewed,
and that the story was one-sided. Moore ignored facts
that did not suit him, such as the number of employees
still working in Flint in 1989 under sm. However, time
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would prove Moore — and Roger & Me — right. As of
2002, there were still five gm plants open, but according to
the company itself, there were only 15,200 gm employees
in Genesse County, down from 82,000 in 1970. On July 23,
2002, the Detroit News Autos Insider section reported:
“One of eight homes in Flint is vacant, the largest per-
centage in the state, according to the latest U.S. Census.”
The report went on to alert the public: “The city, strapped
for cash, cut back on maintenance of parks and other city
sites. It also closed the city jail last year and ended the city
ambulance service. It has closed a police precinct and a
fire station.” Though there are still some successful com-
mercial areas in Flint, a beautiful library and museums,
the city has certainly seen its share of slums and closed
storefronts — and continues to do so.

Moore has said that one of the most painful things
about making Roger ¢& Me was that it didn’t “save” his
hometown. In the 2003 commentary for Roger ¢ Me,
Moore acknowledged a personal sense of failure. He
admitted that perhaps it was a crazy idea, that he and
Glynn had set their goals too high, believing a film could
save a town. To this day, critics still accuse Moore of living
in the past, insisting things have changed in Michigan
economically. Things have. Certain areas in Michigan have
swelled with affluence. Others, like Flint, have declined.
Moore wrote in 2000, “As bad as it may get, the head of
General Motors still has the same number of votes as you
or I — one! And there’s more of us than there are of him.
Never forget that.”

Flint wasn’t saved, but Roger ¢ Me did get people talk-
ing — and talking, and talking, and talking. A provocative
piece, it grossed almost $8 million in theaters worldwide,
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and led to a plethora of straightforward journalistic
pieces on General Motors and other corporations’ poli-
cies toward workers.

In Flint these days, there is still hope, and even a few
crazy ideas still flying around. Ryan Eashoo had one him-
self: honor Moore at home, in the Davison High School
Hall of Fame. Said Eashoo, “I just believe in what he does.
I don’t agree with him all the time, but I believe he’s very
talented. I believe he speaks for people who don’t really
have a voice. .. . It started off just me and then I told some
friends over drinks in Flint. I said, ‘Hey, c'mon, we need
to do this. Michael deserves this.” As part of his cam-
paign, Eashoo set up a Web site and began receiving sixty
to seventy E-mails per day from people all over the coun-
try who wanted to share their opinions — positive or
negative — about Moore. All of it fascinates Eashoo, who
believes the communities of Flint and Davison support
Moore for the most part. “The reaction is mixed,” Eashoo
says. “It’s about 75% supportive and about 25% opposed,
that Ive talked to.”

According to Eashoo, who by day, works in real estate
sales, “the problem that people in Flint have is, when
Michael Moore did the film Roger ¢ Me, [they] thought
that he was taking a stab at Flint. And in reality — in my
opinion — Michael Moore said, ‘Hey, wake up. This is
what this corporation has done to this town. This town
and the people in this town. They built General Motors:
the people that were born here, the people that moved
here, the people that generation after generation worked
in the factories, and all the tax breaks that the city has
given this corporation allowed it to become one of the
biggest corporations in the world” And a lot of people
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don’t realize, Michael Moore didn’t go out to make a film.
When he made Roger & Me, all he was doing was trying to
make a film piece that he could take into union halls. . . .
He wasn’t making a film to make money and make people
look bad and to become a bestseller or the best docu-
mentary ever.”

Moore did take his film into union halls. He donated
substantial earnings from the film back to the city of
Flint, and also established a supportive organization for
independent filmmakers. He didn’t save the town, but he
succeeded at what he set out to do — he drew the public’s
attention to the issue of how big business operates, and
how it would continue to operate under the North
American Free Trade Agreement. He made a mainstream
documentary, a documentary watched by working people
across the country, and across the world. It would not be
long before Moore’s work would be seen by hundreds of
thousands more — as he moved accidentally from film to
that forum known as the “idiot box,” with one of the
smartest, most aggressive shows ever to grace the small
screen: a kind of lefty That’s Incredible! known as TV
Nation.
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So Long AutoWorid,
Hello TV Nation

When the first season of TV Nation aired in, |
think 1993 or ’94, | was completely blown away. It
incorporated all the things | had wanted to do, com-
bining comedy and journalism and political activism.
And there was a wonderfully reckless, “l can’t
believe they got this on TV” feel to it.

— John Derevlany, writer and performer for TV
Nation

Without a doubt, if the name “Crackers” is mentioned in
front of TV Nation fans, their eyes will go misty and they
will begin to chuckle. The mere summoning of a mental
image of this fictional superhero — a seven-foot-tall
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chicken-with-a-mission (to bust businessmen and busi-
nesswomen for their misdeeds) — is the equivalent of
placing a puppy in the lap of any conversation. The
unanimous response is a reverent and dewy, “Awww!” At
least, such was the reaction whenever I told friends or
contemporaries | was engaging in correspondence with
John Derevlany, a TV Nation writer, and the man inside
the mythical bird suit, a.k.a. Crackers the Corporate
Crime-Fighting Chicken.

Who was this Crackers character? And why is this “cor-
porate crime-fighter” so emblematic of Michael Moore’s
TV Nation years? According to Moore, and producer and
partner Kathleen Glynn, “Each year in America, we lose
$4 billion to burglary and robbery, but we lose $200 bil-
lion due to corporate fraud. And each year, forty-five
thousand more people lose their lives due to corporate
workplace hazards than those who are murdered by
handguns.” This grim statistic surely can’t conjure the
gentle awe described above, yet it is directly responsible
for the creation of the Crackers persona.

“The original concept was that Crackers would be just
a ‘mascot,” said Derevlany in my interview with him.
“Someone who would stand around and look funny,
comic relief as we did otherwise dry, nonvisual stories on
fraud, corruption, pollution, etc. I still think it’s a brilliant
idea.” The idea of “corporate crime” was one that Moore
had worked with before — while running the Voice. But
this time the idea would come to life in three-dimensional
full feathered glory. And Moore’s team understood why.
According to Derevlany, “The reason these important,
billion-dollar stories don’t receive the kind of attention
they merit is because they’re just not visual enough for
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TV. Sure, companies like Enron have raped us for billions,
but where’s the excitement? The blood on the pavement?
The police chase? It’s just a boring story. That’s partly
where Crackers came in.”

In 1985, Roger Kerson penned an article in Moore’s
newspaper the Michigan Voice: “Crime in the Suites:
Michigan’s Corporate Crooks and Big Business Bullies.” It
examined the role of the Ford Motor Company in the
deadly Pinto scandal. But in 1993, the idea for a mascot
who would fight corporate wrongdoing was Moore’s,
based on the existing character of McGruff the Crime
Dog, whose television presence amounted to commer-
cials that gave tips on good citizenship and recognizing
street crime in one’s neighborhood. Moore was actually
obsessed with the little crime dog, who encouraged the
American public to “Help take a bite out of crime!” He
intended to expand this idea for TV Nation. Moore devel-
oped the concept with writer Jay Martel, who pitched the
idea of a crime-fighting canary. According to Derevlany,
“Michael changes it to chicken, because, as he explained,
‘Chickens are funny.”

Crackers was born as little more than a rough pen-
doodle: an enormous bird in a hat and tie with a bold “C”
emblazoned upon his chickeny chest. This logo would later
be replaced by the TV Nation emblem. Crackers soon
evolved into a masked capon crusader not so distant in
stature from other beloved television figures such as
Sesame Street’s Big Bird or Looney Tunes’ blowhard cartoon
rooster, Foghorn Leghorn. Crackers’ purpose, however, was
far more adult. As Crackers grew — into a three-dimen-
sional chicken suit later inhabited by Derevlany — so did
his mission. He would chase after the advertisers of the
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very TV show he was to appear on, and take corporations
to task for their lack of responsibility to citizens and
country. Introduced as a regular cast member for seg-
ments in Moore’s ’9os newsmagazine show TV Nation,
Crackers charged in whenever the series’ human crew
found themselves afraid the content would be too finan-
cially dangerous for the network to continue to support.
For example, Crackers attempted to pin the term “extor-
tion” on banks, such as Boston Corp., which was
demanding tax breaks from the city of New York; stormed
to the rescue in Philadelphia over CoreStates Banks’ out-
rageous $25 fee per bounced check — actually inspiring
State Representative Babette Josephs to introduce a bill in
the Pennsylvania legislature limiting bounced check fees
to a more reasonable $7.50; and personally gathered lab
samples on behalf of citizens in St. Louis with environ-
mental concerns pertaining to the Doe Run lead foundry.
Once, without thought of personal safety, Crackers, on a
search for answers for striking newspaper workers, rushed
the Detroit Free Press building — resulting in his being
thrown ten feet by irate security, and necessitating a trip to
the hospital for the not-so-chicken chicken. Not only did
these kinds of stunts make Crackers famous, they exem-
plify the audacity of the TV Nation show as a whole.

An hour-long weekly program adding humor to the
newsmagazine formula of 60 Minutes, TV Nation went
one step further than its competition: it was not objective
at all, and completely upfront about its agenda. “Cor-
respondents” such as lefty comedian Janeane Garofalo,
MTVv’s Karen Duffy, and even Moore’s old Voice auto
worker columnist Ben Hamper, reported on a range of
bizarre and emblematic American phenomenon, such as
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prisons as a growth industry, the racism of cabbies, or the
number of pets prescribed Prozac by veterinarians. These
correspondents often led crusades to change the policies
of institutions or communities — as when Garofalo car-
ried out a Beach Party invasion, rounding up a troop to
take by storm the purportedly “private” beach of an all-
rich, all-white community in Greenwich, Connecticut,
and force them to share.

Political alliances and moral decisions were obvious.
The show was also forthrightly ridiculous, kicking off with
opening music meant to invoke “Metallica and the Leave It
to Beaver theme song,” and including in the regular lineup
several professional statistical polls of the American public
conducted by a Midwestern company. Widgery and Asso-
ciates was paid by the network to support Saturday Night
Live-style answers including, “45% of Americans believe
that if space aliens could pick up c-span and see Sonny
Bono speaking on the floor of Congress, they would never
visit the Earth,” and “16% of Perot voters believe if dolphins
were really smart, they could get out of those nets.”

“I like to think of TV Nation as the anti-Tv magazine
show, breaking the rules of Tv,” said Moore at the time.
Correspondent Duffy seconded this statement in an
interview with Moore, her then-boss, referring to the
popular conception of him as a “world-class smart-ass
with solid-gold cojones.”

How did the man from Flint make the jump from the
110-city grassroots-doc road show to meeting with
Hollywood execs to discuss his very own Tv show? He did
what many people do after a major success — he failed.
Along the road in Moore’s attempt to make another fea-
ture film, television appeared like some kind of natural
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disaster that had been thrown across his path. At least,
that’s how he tells it in his book Adventures in a TV Nation,
a television-years memoir, coauthored with Glynn.
Moore’s life, post—Roger ¢& Me, was a whirlwind of
interviews and media battles. From the denouncement of
the film’s “documentary” status by Pauline Kael, to oppo-
sition from Ralph Nader, the United Auto Workers
Union, and General Motors (who, Moore claimed, sent
out “truth packages” to media networks highlighting what
they saw as the falsities in his film), to appearances on the
Tonight Show, and The Larry King Show, Moore had his
work cut out for him. Though he had done promotional
work for both the Voice and Mother Jones, Roger ¢& Me was
promoted on an entirely different scale. Suddenly he was
in front of everyone else’s cameras. As he wrote in July
1990 in the New York Times: “Twenty times a day I
answered the same thirty questions. To keep myself from
sinking into some catatonic state of boredom, I began to
make up new answers to the questions and change them
every day” Moore joked, “I believe that on only three
occasions I was asked something different. ‘How old were
you when you lost your virginity?’ (People magazine), ‘Do
you believe in God?’ (The Chicago Tribune), and ‘Will you
sign an autograph for my poodle?’ (The New Yorker)”
There was also the harrying experience of going home.
In turns loved, honored, fed scores more heartbreaking
layoff stories, cold-shouldered, and harassed, Moore
learned that home is not always a comfortable place. The
town played a tug-of-war with Moore and where it stood
on the film. He was invited to sign copies of the vHs
release of Roger ¢ Me at a local video store to a turnout of
several hundred, then he was prohibited from appearing
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on certain radio and television stations in the area. Talk
show host Phil Donahue made the trip to Flint to broad-
cast on the city’s reaction to the movie. According to
Moore, Flint police intervened ten minutes before taping
to inform Moore of a possible sniper situation, and to
offer him a bulletproof vest. In the year following Roger ¢
Me, Moore had done more traveling than he ever had in
his life. To believe that he could be the same person he
was before Roger ¢ Me was both foolish and wishful, in
spite of his continued insistence that he still owned only
“three pairs of blue jeans and one Detroit Tigers cap.”

The spirit of a man may not change, but his circum-
stances and outlook do. As he told Esquire magazine in
1993, “I was shopping in Flint, and one of the employees
got on the phone: ‘Attention, Kmart shoppers. Michael
Moore has entered the store.” Know what I'm saying? And
I’'m hiding, you know, behind the Valvoline.”

Of course, Moore had been drawing attention to him-
self his whole life. From his grade school newspaper
projects, to his pranks during choir performances, to his
career as a local politician, to newspaper publisher, to
Michael Moore the documentary filmmaker. The ques-
tion was, if not a life of luxury doing little but lounging
and Kmart shopping, what next? The answer was not tel-
evision, but a feature fictional film. During this time,
Moore was being invited to premieres. He was sitting on
panels, and giving instruction to other aspiring filmmak-
ers. Moore pulled out his checkbook at an Independent
Film Project conference in New York, and started a new
form of instant granting. The Center for Alternative
Media was not a typical foundation, as Moore readily
admitted in an interview with People’s Weekly World. “It’s
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kind of like I see something and I just call up the person
and say, ‘What’s your address? I want to send you a check.
It’s really more from me, keeping with the spirit of Roger
¢ Me.” The incredible irony, he explained, was that he
received the money from Time Warner and was able to
“recycle it into anticorporate areas.”

In the end, Moore gave away 50% of the earnings from
Roger & Me — $400,000 donated in grants to filmmakers
whom he selected because he personally liked their work.
Moore helped to fund the film Just Another Girl On the
IRT, by Leslie Harris, a black filmmaker, because he found
it “appalling that we’re in the 100th year of cinema, and
there has never been in the U.S. a film directed by an
African American woman, and released by Hollywood. ..
But for all Moore’s charity, he was torn between the world
of film and the world of Flint. In the devastated city in
1990, there were many worthy causes, but Moore was one
of the only filmmakers. And with his sudden emergence
in the world of film, it was logical that he should continue
making films rather than camping out as the returned
hometown boy, part defender, part desperado.

At the Sundance Festival in 1991, just days after the
Gulf War began, Moore found the seed of the idea he
believed would be his next project, a screenplay he would
write himself and call Canadian Bacon. Curiously, the
incident of inspiration would echo a more recent media
event.

“The bombing had started in Iraq, and four days later
we were at the Sundance Film Festival and I really
thought that as independent filmmakers we should take a
stand against this war,” Moore recalled in the People’s
Weekly World. He approached John Sayles, the closing
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night emcee, and asked if he minded presenting a state-
ment — according to Moore, “this resolution that we
could vote on. It said something simple like, ‘We group of
independent filmmakers oppose the American war in
Iraq’ John said, ‘Yeah, it’s a great idea.” When Sayles
began to read it, people began “hissing and booing him
down, yelling ‘This isn’t politics, this is a film festival,
hand out the awards.”” Moore expounded, “Now this was
a group of independent filmmakers, not ditto heads,
people that you think are of like mind. I was shocked. I
came home thinking, if this group of people has fallen for
the support of the Gulf War, my work is cut out for me.”

With this reaction as early as 1991 to political speeches
at film awards ceremonies, it is obvious Moore knew the
reaction he would get long before he took the stage years
later to accept his Oscar for Bowling for Columbine. Yet in
2003, he would speak of “fictitious presidents” and “ficti-
tious wars” anyway — and to a much more mainstream
crowd. Moore would lecture on the Iraq war, to him so
much an echo of the Gulf War. “Shame on you, Mr. Bush,”
he would declare from the awards podium. Did he expect
America had changed substantially in the intervening
twelve years? Could it be he was a man intent on saying
something important — something moral — knowing full
well from past experience what the reaction and the conse-
quences would be?

Regardless, Moore’s Canadian Bacon would begin from
this moment at Sundance, George Bush Sr’s Operation
Desert Storm raging overseas. Without Canadian Bacon
— years in development, meeting with Hollywood pro-
ducers and distributors, attempting to raise funds —
Moore would never have been in Los Angeles to accept the
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call from NBc asking if he had any television ideas.

Moore had been asked before if he was interested in
television. Warner Bros. television would have been the
most likely candidate to persuade Moore and Glynn, but
following on the heels of Roger & Me, he had no interest.
It was only after Canadian Bacon had been written — and
passed up by Warner Bros. and many other studios —
that Moore became desperate enough to accept a meeting
with NBc. More than a year had passed since he’d written
the script for a movie that looked in serious danger of
never being made. Penned during the summer of 1991, the
Gulf War was still too fresh to mock. Moore rewrote the
script approximately twenty times, and was still shopping
it in November of ’92.

It was during this period that a short sequel to Roger ¢
Me was carried on pBs. During his days in Flint post-
Roger, Moore had put together a twenty-three-minute
update on his subjects, namely “Bunny Lady” Rhonna
Britton, Sheriff Fred Ross, and Flint itself. After the pBs
airing of Pets and Meat: The Return to Flint, Moore’s office
voicemail was full up. Naively he had included his actual
telephone number in the film. “Three hundred and four-
teen calls!” Moore reported. “And that’s just the first day.
Eighty per cent were people who lost their jobs and
wanted to talk to me, but there were some — well, one guy
needed help because he said there was a conspiracy against
him involving the government and Sigourney Weaver.” The
segment was also released on vas with shorts by three
other comedy writers/filmmakers, including Steven
Wright whom Moore would work with soon enough, on
both TV Nation and Canadian Bacon.

An attempt at a Dr. Strangelove satire, Moore would

96 EMILY SCHULTZ



later describe the movie, hopefully, as “the first left-wing
film for the mall crowd.” Eventually the film would follow
the screenplay and include sought-after comic actors
John Candy, Alan Alda, Rhea Perlman, Rip Torn, and the
aforementioned Wright, as well as cameos by James
Belushi, Wallace Shawn, Dan Aykroyd, and of course,
Moore himself. Alda, a U.S. president facing falling
approval ratings, would decide to concoct a war with the
country’s neighbor to the north. In his very last role,
Candy would star as Sheriff Bud B. Boomer of Niagara
Falls, intent on leading a full-scale attack on Canada. The
plot grew from Moore’s concern “with the Gulf War and
how quickly the people got behind this thing.” “After the
lessons of Vietnam I would think we should really be
asking a lot of serious questions anytime someone says
let’s go to war,” Moore stated. “Is that the only way we can
exist, that we have to have a war-based economy, whether
it’s Cold War or not?”

In spite of Moore’s passion for it, Canadian Bacon
would be forced to take the back burner, and would not see
release until 1995. To get the movie off the ground, he
needed money. Realizing this, Moore lied his way into his
meeting with Eric Tannenbaum, president of Columbia
TriStar Television, and NBC’s president Warren Littlefield
by agreeing that yes, he had television ideas. On the way
over to the studio in Burbank, California, Moore cranked
the Metallica, and thought fast. He and Glynn devised the
newsmagazine concept of TV Nation. With its straight-up
politics and anticorporate stance, they were certain it
would never be able to find advertisers, and would never
catch on with the execs. They were wrong. In Adventures in
a TV Nation, Moore described the idea thusly: “The show
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would be the most liberal thing ever seen on Tv. In fact,
it would go beyond ‘liberals’ because liberals are a bunch of
wimps and haven’t gotten us anything. This show would
boldly go where no one has gone before.” The reaction?
“Smiles in the room. “Tell us more!””

Moore pitched in a fury, pulling out the riskiest ideas.
But the executives kept smiling. They were excited by the
idea of a show with real-looking correspondents, and even
— or especially — the pitch for the pilot episode, “A
Consumers Guide to the Confessional.” This hellbent proj-
ect was given a green light, and a budget of $1 million for
the show’s pilot. Given Moore’s deep-rooted Catholicism,
he sought out fellow fallen Catholic Janeane Garofalo to
complete the survey of Hail Mary huts. Production com-
menced in January 1993.

In addition to Garofalo, Moore and Glynn rounded up
satirical filmmaker Rusty Cundieff and Late Night With
David Letterman’s Merrill Markoe to serve as reporters or
correspondents. Each hour-long show was to have several
segments, as well as the polls conducted by Robin
Widgery, who had his own polling company in Flint.
Moore was serious about employing people from his
hometown where he could. He also hired Ben Hamper as
a correspondent, saying, “It’s my goal in life to keep him
employed. . . . If you're a friend of mine, or a family
member, I will try to keep you employed. I don’t know if
you can pay the rent on it, but I will try to work in all
friends and relatives.”

There were also regular casting sessions, and Moore and
Glynn admitted that casting for a nonexistent show was
difficult. As Derevlany (who would join the crew later)
remembers, “Michael tried to staff the show with a mix of
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comedy writers and these earnest, humorless documentar-
ians and political activists. I, fortunately, had sort of a mix
of both backgrounds.” Derevlany had worked for “a show
on a fledgling comedy channel called Comedy Central. The
show was called Night After Night, and it folded at the end
of 1993. A bunch of people from that program went on to
work on the first season of TV Nation as producers,
researchers, associate producers, etc. The Tv industry in
New York City is surprisingly small. There are only a hand-
ful of shows going on, so everyone pretty much just goes
from show to show.”

With a quality crew in place, and the pilot completed
within three months, there was just one problem for
Moore: getting TV Nation on the air. The pilot was a suc-
cess with NBc executives, a focus group, and a test audience
in Scranton, Pennsylvania. However, a lack of space in the
1993 fall schedule left it sitting on the shelf. Moore returned
to Canadian Bacon and, using the pilot as his new calling
card, was able to secure Candy and Alda to star.

“I didn’t understand a central fact about Hollywood . . .
which is that it doesn’t matter how good the script is,”
Moore said. “What matters is who’s in it, and will people
pay money to go see them? I had my list of people I
wanted to be in this film, but I never thought of actually
going to the actors first.”

With Candy and Alda secured, the Moore and Glynn
fundraising team swung into action, using personalities to
secure a future for their fictional war on Canada. Again
relying on pop stars, Moore found material support in the
Material Girl. He had long admired Madonna; during his
days with the Voice, he ran an article about her image that
defended the satirical intent of her then-new hit song,
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“Material Girl” As luck would have it, Madonna, a
Michigan girl at heart, had been affected by Roger & Me; its
portrayal of Flint was something she could relate to, as her
own hometown of Pontiac was less than forty-five miles
away. Not only did Madonna contribute money to
Canadian Bacon, her production company, Maverick
Picture Company, got behind the picture in a way that it
would with only handful of titles in the 1990s — including
Madonna’s own starring film of the same time, Dangerous
Game. Madonna’s manager Freddy De Mann also con-
tributed to Canadian Bacon, and was named a producer.

Shooting on Canadian Bacon began in Toronto in mid-
November 1993, with five-time Academy Award nominee
(and two-time winner) director of photography Haskell
Wexler at the helm. Walter Gasparovic was the film’s assis-
tant director. Though he later went on to partner on
repeat projects with David Cronenberg, at that time
Gasparovic had never met Moore. He came to the film by
way of producer Stuart Besser and associate director Terry
Miller — and on the basis of the script’s humor. When I
contacted Gasparovic he remembered, “production, like
all productions, was full of challenges and hurdles — I do
recall a lot of laughter on the set. Michael was new to fic-
tion, but his sense of comedy helped him adapt to the
day-to-day structure of shooting a nondocumentary.”

“It’s easier than nonfiction . ..” Moore said at the time
about switching between forms. “You can make it up.
You’ve got a blueprint called a script, and the actors will
actually say what you tell them to say! With nonfiction,
you don’t have a clue what’s going to happen.” But in spite
of Moore’s good humor regarding Canadian Bacon, the
brakes were slammed again. . . .
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The BBC wanted TV Nation, and had agreed to share
the cost with NBc. A man named Michael Jackson, head
of U.Ks BBC-2, had requested to see the pilot based on a
gossip bit he read in TV Guide. As a result of his interest,
the show would now play on not one, but two major tele-
vision networks. It would hit as a summer show in the
U.S. Moore got the congratulatory phone call on Boxing
Day night, 1993. A new year began, and in January 1994,
Moore and Glynn were off to New York to set up the offi-
cial TV Nation oftfices.

On the first day of work, Moore and Glynn issued the
following pep talk: “All of us need to behave as if we’ll
never work in television again. Because, if we do this
show right, nobody will ever want us. It will be too dan-
gerous to have us around. ‘Oh, you worked on that show
that pissed off the sponsors!” That’s what they’ll say.”
Those with future dreams of working on 20/20 and Live
with Regis and Kathie Lee were told that TV Nation was
not the place to build a résumé, and were asked to leave.
“We will not make any friends in Congress or Corporate
America. We will not lie to the viewer,” Moore told his
staff. “This is a rare chance for all of us who usually do
not have a voice in the media to have our voices heard.”
Moore repeated this message throughout the show’s run,
for when Derevlany came onboard at the end of the first
NBC season (as a six-week temp writer, and later, when the
show switched to the Fox network, as Crackers himself),
Moore was still holding to the motto.

Though Derevlany found Moore difficult to work
with, he still values the sentiment today. “This is rare in
TV, where everyone is ALwAYs angling for their next job
and career move. It’s great advice, and I still follow it. . ..”
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Before breaking into television, Derevlany worked as
both an investigative journalist and a comedy writer. He
worked for New Jersey newspapers the Hoboken Reporter
and the Hudson Reporter, and won a series of journalism
awards. He founded his own short-lived comedy newspa-
per, the Hoboken Review, and became a contributing
editor to the satirical magazine National Lampoon. He
had also written for the Village Voice, and had a back-
ground in political organizing — all by the age of
twenty-six. The National Lampoon job led Derevlany to
the aforementioned Night After Night on Comedy
Central. When the show folded at the end of 1993, and
many of the writers joined TV Nation, Derevlany went
west. In Los Angeles, he worked on a variety of short-
lived shows, including This Just In, a news parody project
on ABC.

Derevlany recalled, “Somehow, in the fall of 1994, I ran
into one of the people I knew from Comedy Central who
had been working on TV Nation. I heard from them that
they were looking for writers. I got an address and sent in
some material — some newspaper articles I'd written,
videos, etc. I may have sent some ideas, too, I'm not sure.
I guess my background seemed right, and then Michael
gave me a call, and we chatted. I think I pitched some
ideas. Most of them landed flat. But he was a fan of that
show, This Just In, I had worked on, and he invited me to
come to some sort of brainstorming session two days
from then in New York for an upcoming ‘end-of-year’
special on NBc.” With no guarantee of a job or pay
Derevlany jumped on the next flight. “It should be noted
that I had also just finished making a short film,” he said,
“and was about $20,000 in debt — I had no money to pay
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my rent, let alone a plane ticket, but it seemed like a rea-
sonable risk.”

Derevlany pitched ideas that wound up on the series —
such as hiring a rent-a-cop from a security company to pro-
tect the president — and some that didn’t, such as having
dictator/film buff Kim Jung 11 of North Korea issue his
Oscar picks to TV Nation. While the show was still at NBc,
Derevlany worked on the end-of-year special segments,
which included a limo ride with a Jacuzzi on top for
America’s most hated (landlords, gym teachers, telemar-
keters, and Satanists) in honor of “Auld Lang Syne”; “Didn’t
Die in 1994,” a reverse-obituary segment calling attention to
those who had survived the year; a “New Jobs” feature
exploring Scranton, Pennsylvania, and the new jobs that
had (or hadn’t) been created there during the first term of
the Clinton administration; and a TV Nation fan favorite,
“Corp Aid,” a lengthy segment in which Moore attempted
(in the spirit of holiday giving) to donate money to corpo-
rations such as Exxon and Pfizer who had been hard-hit by
lawsuits.

By the time Derevlany joined the TV Nation team, the
show had found its scientific formula. But the question is:
when you’re sending a squad of black cheerleaders into an
Aryan Nations meeting (in the spirit of “Love Night,” a
give-and-you-shall-receive style of confrontation), or
asking a giant chicken to disrupt a newspaper strike in
America’s toughest city, how smoothly can one expect the
television machine to operate? The show consisted of five
eight-minute segments, along with introductions deliv-
ered by Moore, and the fill-ins featuring Widgery’s
outlandish stats. According to Derevlany, “all TV Nation
stories were assigned to correspondents. Michael was
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supposed to be the correspondent for the Crackers pieces.
Typically one writer was assigned to each of the segments
— unless it was Michael’s piece. Then arL the writers had
to go out.” The sketches were roughly scripted ahead of
time: “We had a basic beginning, middle, and end —
although pieces frequently took on a life of their own and
those original scripts were tossed out. In the field, the writ-
ers would feed the correspondent jokes, as well as make
directing suggestions (writers on TV Nation were more like
directors or codirectors with the field producers).” With all
writers onhand for Crackers segments, lines would have to
be fed to the giant chicken by shouting into the “ear” of the
person wearing the suit — to tell him what to do or say.
Obviously this situation was not ideal.

Moore and TV Nation had hired someone to design the
Crackers bird suit — “a giant, unwieldy, badly built con-
traption,” according to Derevlany. At this point, someone
else was playing the part of the mascot. “After the first
Crackers piece,” Derevlany recalled, “we realized the
person playing Crackers wasn’t quite as smart or aggres-
sive as we would like. I was personally very frustrated
with having to spoon-feed that Crackers his every move.
Instead of shouting in his ear, I suggested it would be
easier for me to just put on the suit myself. Michael
thought it was a good idea, because he thought I had a
funny voice. 'm not sure if this is a good thing or not.”

Derevlany was auditioned in the outfit, a test shot of
Crackers attempting to bust into a movie theater — per-
haps something to do with high ticket prices. Derevlany
landed the gig and moved from a writer who had been
hired on at the bare minimum amount the Writers Guild
would allow, to Crackers, an important correspondent
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and character unlike any other on the program. His first
assignment? The Philadelphia CoreStates bounced-
checks bit. Derevlany remembers the experience was
quite amusing: “I am not an actor. Or a puppeteer. 'm
not even much of a performer. . .. Man, that suit was a
fucking nightmare to wear. The head weighed a ton, and
every time you moved, the chinstrap would slip over your
neck and start to choke you. You couldn’t really see any-
thing. And your body was covered in sweat within
moments of putting it on.”

Looking back, Derevlany is aghast at what he and the
crew were willing to do for the sake of comedy. “I later
went on to work at a job with the Jim Henson Company,
where I learned that suit performers — like Crackers —
never spend more than a few minutes in their suit because
their core body temperature rises to lethal levels within
twenty minutes. And that’s in an air-conditioned studio. I
used to spend about ten hours a day in 100-degree
Midwestern heat in that suit, with infrequent breaks.”
Even at the time, Derevlany was quick to search for solu-
tions: “I had them install a small fan in the head, but we
couldn’t keep it on because we needed clean audio for me
speaking. I would sometimes keep the suit on for more
than an hour or two. If you see me doing anything funny
on camera, it’s mostly due to heat delirium.”

Derevlany detailed another risk taken by the riskiest
show on-air: “The biggest problem was having to drive
that big Crackers mobile (a giant rv) while wearing the
chicken suit (which was very hard to see out of). I still
can’t believe they made me do that, especially when I had
to maneuver the vehicle through a crowd of about 500
people waiting to see the chicken.”
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“I did my thing on that first piece, and led a crowd of
chanting people to a nearby bank, where I barged in and
tried to open a checking account (in the chicken suit).
At the time, Michael and his wife/producer Kathleen had
this kind of shocked/horrified expression on their faces,
and I thought I was doing something wrong. But I kept
going because, well . . . I was having fun. Afterwards, I
learned the expression was actually good ‘shock; as in,
‘I can’t believe how far he is taking this.”

“From that point on, Crackers became more of a cor-
respondent than a mascot, and my Summer of the
Chicken began,” Derevlany said. “Basically, Michael had
been scheduled to do a bunch of pieces, but was often too
busy (or too lazy?), so he would just send out the chicken
instead. Which was fine with me. Although the hours
were long and the suit was deadly, I loved the job, and
they pretty much let me do whatever I wanted, which is a
little crazy in retrospect. It’s still one of my best jobs ever,
even though it practically killed me.”

Moore and Glynn acknowledged Crackers’ cooling
problem in their book, writing good-naturedly about
taking Crackers to a Detroit Tigers” baseball game where
Moore was to sing the Canadian national anthem as part of
a “Canada Night” segment, to air August 25, 1995. Accord-
ing to them, it was during the game that Crackers met the
Tigers’ mascot and swapped stories, learning that other
mascots had cooling systems — and demanding his own.
Moore and Glynn continued in a G-rated version of the ball
game, with Crackers signing autographs for kids. Derevlany
said Detroit was tough on him from one side of town to the
other: apparently the kids wanted to determine if the
chicken had the actual “cojones” associated with the show.

106 EMILY SCHULTZ



“I did an appearance at a baseball stadium where a
bunch of kids punched me in the nuts,” Derevlany joked.
And that wound up being the least of Crackers’ problems
in Detroit, where the whole crew weathered a beating.

Derevlany was accustomed to playing a bit rough. He
had spent his teen years in the New York hardcore punk
scene of the late "7os and early ’8os. “So throwing myself
physically into a piece was not that big a deal (I was way
ahead of all those Jackass mTv-style shows). In fact, I was
actually surprised people on the show weren’t more aggres-
sive (especially that first Crackers). I even thought Michael
was a bit of a softy — he’s much more gentle in real life
than he comes across on Tv,” Derevlany said. “I, on the
other hand, thought the people we went after were real
scumbags and deserved to have a seven-foot chicken
hurled at them.”

As a matter of course, people did play a little rough
with the chicken. During TV Nation’s Fox season, an ex-
con named Louie Bruno was featured in several segments:
once as a white man hailing a taxi cab (and getting chosen
for pick-up over award-winning black actor Yaphet Kotto
99% of the time); on another episode as a candidate for
president, campaign courtesy of TV Nation. At one point,
Bruno hauled off and clocked Derevlany in the noggin.
But that was nothing compared to what happened in
Detroit. While nosing about the Detroit News and Detroit
Free Press buildings while both news sources were on
strike, the chicken was thrown approximately ten feet.

“It was one of the craziest things I'd ever seen,” Derev-
lany confided. “This mob of striking newspaper workers
and the hired management goons just started going at it
at one point. There was no buildup of aggression, with
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some shouts and pushes. It was like — pinG! pinG! And
everyone started swinging. Me and Michael, and the cam-
eraman and sound person were at the front of the crowd.
Michael, as usual, was buffeted by a couple of security
people (who you never seem to see on camera). I was pro-
tected by my suit, more or less. The sound and cameraman,
however, were actually getting their asses kicked. These
management goons were wailing on their backs. So I had
to do something. I ran into this garage, mostly to deflect
attention from my crew, and the next thing I knew, I was
being thrown backwards by the goons.

“The rest is a bit of a blur,” Derevlany admitted, “but I
remember wobbling back into the crowd, and this little
child looking up at me saying, ‘Please, Mister Chicken,
don’t cause trouble or people will get hurt.’ It was com-
pletely surreal.”

Apparently the Detroit newspaper management came
from a burlier stock than did those of Philadelphia’s
banks. Later that day, Derevlany’s elbow had “swollen up
to the size of a grapefruit. It had somehow been injured
in the melee. Unfortunately, I still had the piece to finish,
which involved riding a bicycle in that damn suit, too. I
eventually went to the hospital and got some ice packs
and antibiotics.”

When production for TV Nation wasn’t physically
dangerous, there were other hurdles to overcome. “I don’t
know if it’s too political, but it’s just a difficult show,” said
Moore regarding the show’s bouncing from one network
to another. “It’s difficult to work with, makes people nerv-
ous.” On the Crackers segments, Derevlany often had to
re-dub lines in postproduction. “You can tell if you listen
closely to the sound on the episodes. Mostly I had to
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change lines from ‘corporate crime’ to ‘corporate wrong-
doing,” Derevlany said. “Apparently you can get sued for
accusing someone of ‘corporate crime, but ‘corporate
wrongdoing’ is vague enough to withstand a challenge.”

TV Nation also had clever lawyers working for it,
reminding the crew to do certain things to avoid arrest —
like when the Greenwich beach party hit the shores of
Connecticut, and crew members had to stay inside the
high-tide line because, according to Moore and Glynn,
“public trust doctrine says that the federal government
actually owns the water, if not the sand, along any coast.”
Though Garofalo’s beach party army was stopped by
police and an aggressive Coast Guard boat before the
crew could ever reach the shore, the media mutineers
knew their rights, and were permitted to swim to shore
and carry out their mission. There were also plenty of
ideas and segments that never made it to viewers’ homes.
In their follow-up book, Adventures in a TV Nation,
Moore and Glynn outline one of the segments that was
cut — right off the bat — from the pilot and very first
episode. The piece was called “Lie of the Week.” The plan
was to attach a voice-activated lie detector to a television,
and find out what the news was really made of. “Either the
machine didn’t work that well, or the network news divi-
sion had some explainin’ to do, because when we tested
this, the machine registered a lie in nearly every report on
the news,” they wrote. “Needless to say, the plug was
pulled on this segment.”

The show was production-heavy, and took up all of the
months leading up to the air-date (July 19, 1994) to pro-
duce just eight episodes. Moore acknowledged that if it
had been made a regular weekly show, it likely would have
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been too labor-intensive to work. TV Nation appeared
nine times on NBC and developed a devoted following
during the summer of ’94. It won an Emmy that year for
Best Informational Series, but was not renewed by the net-
work. Its return the following summer was not on NBC,
but on Fox. The American Journalism Review reported that
the show was “scheduled to return this summer [1995] on
Fox, which lured Moore away from NBc with promises of
a weekly time slot and more creative freedom.” “Lured”
was perhaps a generous word for it, and though television
continued to be a pleasant surprise for Moore, Fox did not
turn out to be so free and loose after all. The network sup-
ported TV Nation, but, as Moore told the Washington Free
Press, “We had constant, constant run-ins. Fox was very
strict, and went over everything very closely.” By contrast,
~NBC had objected to two pieces but, for the most part, left
Moore to his own devices. A lighthearted Ben Hamper
segment on why condoms are not available in size “small”
was cut because NBc felt affiliates from the southern states
might withdraw their supp;ort if the mental image of
petite penises were conjured up for a full seven minutes.
The piece did play on BBC, and again on Fox, but Fox had
its own kinds of reservations and tended toward more
serious censorship.

The Fox network didn’t always understand the humor
behind the show, or at least found it tasteless enough to
cause worry regarding advertising and ratings. One con-
tentious segment involved a Civil War reenactment group
TV Nation hired to act out the bombing of Hiroshima,
the fall of Saigon, and the riots in L.A. after the Rodney
King verdict — all in full Civil War regalia. According to
Moore and Glynn, Fox found the entire reenactment
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series “sick,” so much so that they stipulated Moore him-
self introduce the segments as such. The L.A. riot segment
— which included three parts: beating, verdict, and ensu-
ing street chaos — was yanked entirely. A “Where are they
now?” segment on the architects of the ’8os savings and
loan scandal was also cut, Moore suspected because the
subjects who had allowed themselves to be filmed in a
support group later changed their minds. Again due to an
anticipated lack of support from advertisers, “Gay
Bashing in Topeka” — a probing political piece about a
boy who allegedly received extra credit from his high
school for picketing the funerals of A1ps victims on behalf
of God — would be barred from airing on Fox, though it
would appear on the vHs version of the show and Moore
would use the material again later on The Awful Truth.
The only “gay issue” segment to run on Fox would be one
pertaining to Senator Jesse Helms. One of the most con-
troversial segments — and the most dangerous — was
definitely this episode, known as “Love Night.”

“Love Night” aired as the fourth TV Nation show on Fox,
August 18, 1995. The idea was to ridicule hate groups by
sending them love, following the Beatles’ notion that “All
You Need Is Love.” TV Nation chose four hate movements
they could approach: the Ku Klux Klan, who were holding
a rally in Georgia; Aryan Nations, who were holding a con-
vention in Idaho; anti-abortion group Operation Rescue,
via their head officer’s home; and North Carolina Senator
Jesse Helms himself, who had consistently and stridently
spoken out against gay men on the floor of the Senate and
opposed bills designed to help people with Arps.

For the Ku Klux Klan, a Mexican-American mariachi
band and a troupe of black cheerleaders from a local college
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were delivered by TV Nation with love, along with roses,
heart-shaped balloons, and a kissing booth. Along with
hurling racial epithets, the white supremacists resorted to
pushing and shoving, but the local police had assured the
protection of the dancers and musicians, and in the end,
the Klan departed, their racial taunts drowned out by a
crowd of townspeople who had seen the cameras and
commotion and had gathered to laugh at the hate group.
The meeting with Aryan World Congress did not go so
smoothly. TV Nation’s dream of delivering a mass quan-
tity of love notes to the compound by air-drop faded after
nineteen pilots turned the television show down. One
agreed to the mission, but changed his mind when a
sniper was spotted in a tower on the Aryan compound.
Instead, a multiracial line of dancers was hired to shake
their stuff and sing the Supremes’ “Stop! In the Name of
Love.” Though TV Nation had arranged for security, there
were no police on hand. The TV Nation security guards,
against instructions and to Moore’s chagrin, came armed
with guns. Moore watched the tension escalate as the uni-
formed Nazis saluted the dancers Hitler-style, and
skinheads smashed across the road to head-butt the cam-
eras. The police arrived in the nick of time.

The Operation Rescue and Senator Jesse Helms visits
were less tense, but no less controversial. The Helms home
was presented with a strolling gay men’s chorus singing “On
the Street Where You Live,” which Mrs. Helms politely
acknowledged. For Operation Rescue, borrowing the tactics
of the extremist faction of right-to-lifers — who staged
pickets outside of abortion doctors” personal homes, lead-
ing to harassment, death threats, assaults, the occasional
murder attempt, and vandalism — TV Nation bussed a
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group of pro-choice feminists to plant flowers in the garden
of a prominent antichoice lobbyist, who came out and —
missing the irony — angrily tramped the flowers into the
earth.

Of the four segments, it was the peaceful, flower-
planting pro-choicers who were least likely to air. In all
cases, Fox was concerned about giving publicity to hate
groups, but also that the segments would result in harass-
ment. They also feared losing advertisers. With the bit a
personal favorite, Moore and Glynn went back and forth
with the network’s Standards and Practices department,
attempting to convince them to let Love be. Finally, the
network agreed to air all segments except the one on
abortion — a topic they had already requested TV Nation
avoid. Two of the five swastikas in the white supremacist
segment were removed, and the word “gook” —which
was perceptible three times — was covered once by an
audio dog bark.

In the end, because of the show’s length, the abortion
segment of “Love Night” was not actually aborted. It ran in
a shortened, softened form, a disclaimer added disavowing
Operation Rescue from the mainstream Right-to-Life
movement. This was not the first time Moore and TV
Nation had run up against opposition on the abortion
issue. While with NBc in ’94, another segment on abor-
tion had been cut. Not only did it never air, it was seized
by the Secret Service for investigation. As Marvin Kitman
of Newsday wrote: “Moore and his guerrilla band of para-
journalists had spent a few days hanging out with one of
the leaders of the anti-abortion movement, some of
whose members believe abortion doctors should be
killed. They made the rounds with him to the abortion
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clinics where he shouts down women. It was a very power-
ful piece. But nBc felt it was going to lose advertisers
because the piece was (1) about abortion and (2) anti-abor-
tion. Actually, the piece was anti-killing doctors. What was
the balance on the story? Moore argued, ‘Is the other side
of the issue arguing to let them kill doctors?™

An Associated Press article by Lynn Elber, a television
writer in Pasadena, California, shed more light on the
seriousness of the scandal: “The Secret Service wants to
review an unaired TV interview with an abortion foe who
said the assassination of President Clinton and Supreme
Court justices could be justified for the cause.” That abor-
tion foe was Roy McMillan, head of the Christian Action
Group in Jackson, Mississippi, who claimed he had been
misquoted in the transcript of the interview he did for TV
Nation. McMillan’s interview was taped while the show
was still with NBc — who pulled the segment from the
December 28 show, Moore said, because there wasn’t
enough time to find advertising for such a controversial
subject during the holidays. Moore claimed the piece was
not cut due to content. Yet it was a tumultuous time and
tensions among antichoice groups were obviously run-
ning high. Only two days after the segment was scratched
from the schedule, two family planning clinics in Brook-
line, Massachusetts, came under fire. Two people were
killed and five were wounded. John C. Salvi 111, a beauty-
school student from New Hampshire, was charged. He
was one of thirty who had signed a petition declaring
deadly force justifiable in defense of the unborn. Paul
Hill, who circulated the petition, was later convicted in
Florida for two murders outside a Pensacola clinic.

“We’d like to review the transcript ourselves and see
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the context in which the remarks were made. And that’s
what we’ll try to do,” the Secret Service’s Harnischfeger
was quoted as saying in Elber’s article. “According to the
transcript, McMillan was asked: ‘Do you think it would be
justifiable homicide to execute the president?’ ‘I think he’s
probably in harm’s way by acknowledging and endorsing
the killing . . . It would probably be to me more justifiable
to assassinate the Supreme Court judges, he said in the
transcript.” But McMillan told reporter Elber that “he was
interviewed for hours and ‘many hypothetical and lead-
ing questions’ were asked.”

Perhaps distracted by TV Nation and the hubbub and
issues surrounding it, Moore’s Canadian Bacon project
received, if not less attention, a less than judicious eye.
With 120 people, Moore shot the movie hopscotching
between Toronto and Niagara Falls. Beginning with a
country version of “God Bless America,” inside the first
five minutes the movie lapsed into American adages like
turning “lemons into lemonade,” and Candy and Perlman
burst into a version of “High Hopes,” the treacly song
about a happy ant who thinks it can move a rubber tree
plant a thousand times its size. A tribute to Moore’s
Canadian grandfather, the movie was intended as a spoof,
of course, but perhaps not one that amused Americans
living farther than 100 miles from the Canadian border.
For example, when Candy starts a fistfight at a hockey
game by saying that Canadian beer sucks, the president’s
people decide Canada might not be so bad an enemy —
something the president badly needs for a boost in his
approval ratings. They look for suspicious Canadian
activity (the Niagara Falls blackout, the height of the c~
Tower, the metric system, Neil Young, antislavery, and a
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socialist government). As Candy’s character, Sheriff Bud
B. Boomer, and his troops gaze upon the city of Toronto,
they pronounce it the most beautiful city they've ever
seen: “Like Albany, only cleaner.” Upon breaking into a
hydro plant in Niagara Falls, Canada, Boomer shouts:
“There’s not a locked door in the whole country!” An eld-
erly couple, knitting and drinking tea, mind all of Canada’s
power. “We’ve got ways of making you pronounce the
letter O,” threatens Boomer. To this day, the film remains
funny, but by no means the political Strangelove master-
piece Moore hoped it would be.

Kevin Mattson, a teacher of American History at Ohio
University, author of Intellectuals in Action, and coeditor
of an academic, labor-movement book called Steal This
University, recently wrote in Dissent Magazine: “One of
[Moore’s] least-discussed projects, Canadian Bacon, cap-
tures the depth of his cynicism. Moore was writer,
producer, and director of this fictional movie that’s
intended as political commentary.” Mattson goes on to
discuss the lack of solutions provided in Moore’s work at
large. Pointing to other popular television programs of
the time, including Beavis and Butthead, Married With
Children, and Seinfeld, Mattson cited cultural critic Mark
Crispin Miller’s notion of “‘hipness unto death’ and ironic
detachment prominent among television watchers.”
Mattson pointed out, “as television deflates, the viewer
wants to avoid being conned, thus rejecting anyone’s
claim to truth and embracing cynicism instead.”

During TV Nation’s run, Moore was often criticized
for making light of serious situations. The program was
compared to The Gong Show and Candid Camera by tele-
vision critic Tom Shales of the Washington Post, who, after
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viewing the very first episode, wrote that Moore’s habit of
“dragging people in front of a camera lens and humiliat-
ing them” was “neither a very noble calling nor a
sufficient basis for a network Tv show.” Even today, dis-
cussions of TV Nation inspire both passion and contempt
from the viewing public; on a popular Internet site called
Jump The Shark, viewers battle back and forth on
whether the program sold out with its very first episode,
or not at all (so far, majority ruling is by 60 percent that
the program never “jumped the shark” — i.e. sold out).
Though the TV Nation concept was praised by Moore’s
old ball-and-chain, Mother Jones, the media critic at the
Village Voice, James Ledbetter, wrote that the program’s
“chief shortcoming is that Moore has not evolved beyond
the persona that he created for Roger & Me. After a while,
harping on people with the mentality of a local consumer
reporter ceases to have the same impact.”

Moore, like much of the left in the 1970s, spent a great
deal of time (as his Voice work can attest) offering work-
able solutions to social ills, only to find the grassroots
movement fragmented by infighting in the 1980s. Moore’s
brief and explosive stint at Mother Jones is an excellent
example of this broader about-face. “Solutions” notwith-
standing, Moore, in his odd, accidental choice of
television, had found his voice as a satirist whose edgy
taste and use of catchy and quick editing found an audi-
ence with the growing alternative culture of the mid-’9os.
At roughly the same time as Kurt Cobain’s anthems of
alienation started to reach thousands of listeners, Roger &
Me became a cult hit, then a popular one. By the time TV
Nation reached the airwaves only a few years later, politi-
cal activism — from the Manic-Panic-ed feminism of the
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Riot Grrrls to the growing antiglobalization movement
— was reinvigorated on a mass scale. Indeed, with an
amped Joan Jett on the White House mall, sing-shouting
to a million Now and NARAL supporters, left politics had
become as simple as rock and roll again. Unlike many of
his own contemporaries, Moore could speak to this new
movement.

According to Mattson’s argument in Dissent Magazine,
“Moore has done something the left rarely does. He’s
made political criticism entertaining. And as polls show,
Generation X and Y Americans get their news increasingly
from entertainment shows — the hip irony of political
jokes told on The Late Show With David Letterman and
The Daily Show With Jon Stewart. Indeed, when Moore’s
TV Nation broadcast on NBc and Fox in 1994-1995, the
demographic reports showed that a large number of the
eighteen to thirty-four-year-old crowd was tuning in.
Moore’s success illustrates how young people are reached
via satellite dishes and mega-mall bookstores rather than
through cafés or union halls or small magazines.”

Mattson raises excellent points about cynicism in the
left, ending with the question: “What happens to the
vision of the left when it plays on the grounds of the
sound-bite society,” but Moore himself has not shied
away from discussions of cynicism. The ending of
Canadian Bacon shows Hacker Corp, in charge of all of
America’s missiles, programming them to launch —
aimed for the c~n Tower where Bud B. Boomer’s officer
Honey (Perlman) is stationed. Alda must attempt to
negotiate a ceasefire with Hacker Corp in dollars and
cents. The point? Corporations have more power than the
president or national defense. Upon the release of
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Canadian Bacon, Moore acknowledged the film’s pes-
simism. “Underlying the humor, though, is a very serious
point, and underneath that is a lot of anger,” he said. “I
think some of the best comedy comes from people who
are very angry about the situations they see in the world,
and the humor sort of acts as a means to deal with the
frustration of living in the society in which we live.”

On March 4, 1994, something more personally frus-
trating occurred: John Candy died of a heart attack. With
him, Moore’s film also died. “What I most remember
about the shoot is the absolute pleasure it was to work
with John Candy,” Walter Gasparovic, Canadian Bacon’s
associate director, told me during our E-mail interview. “In
my career, I have not met an actor as loving and warm.”
Not only was the cast devastated, the film was incomplete.
Major problems were left to be solved in editing, and, with
the company’s lack of support through final production,
the result was a movie that scanned as a rough cut rather
than a finished film. According to an interview with Moore
from the time, further complicating the film were “studio
bosses who wanted to exploit Candy’s last performance by
‘dumping in as much of him as possible’ at the expense of
more serious subtexts.”

“From the beginning, there was a difference in the type
of film Michael wanted to shoot and the type of film the
studio wanted,” explained Gasparovic. “I believe Michael
wanted more of a satire in the vein of Dr. Strangelove (one
of his favorite films) and the studio felt they needed more
schtick with Candy and cast. I believe this discrepancy
was also evident in the promotion, or lack thereof.”

In reality, Canadian Bacon was barely released. It
opened September 22, 1995 — in fourteen theaters. It
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never made it to the malls, as Moore had hoped. Moore
claimed the studio buried it promotion-wise, and he was
right. In the end, according to the Web site Box Office
Mojo, the film grossed only $163,971 in theaters. It did
play major festivals, however, including those in Toronto
and Cannes, and it sold an unexpected 200,000 copies on
vHS. Moore is certainly not remembered by his fans for
Canadian Bacon, but the film goes hand-in-hand with TV
Nation. Together they led to the Moore the public now
knows — not always well-liked, but always successful.

It is this Moore that TV Nation’s Derevlany com-
mented on with some reluctance. “Let me just say that I
still find Michael to be one of the most brilliant, funny,
and most inspiring people I have ever met. Would I ever
work for him again? No. I can’t even watch his films. (I
still haven’t seen Bowling for Columbine, which I hear is
quite good.) Knowing how miserable the process can be
to make his projects, I'm still a little sensitive to what
people probably had to suffer through to get the footage
and make Michael — and Michael alone — look good.”

After the TV Nation years, and an Emmy nomination
for his work as Crackers, Derevlany was offered an abun-
dance of work in children’s television. He was employed
by the Jim Henson Company for several years, and today
still derives most of his income from children’s programs,
where he said he feels he makes more of an impact than
he ever did on TV Nation. In spite of the suffering
endured by the corporate crime-fighter, he did add a final
salute to the show: “After TV Nation, I did get a lot of
offers to do reality and prank shows, but they were all
very disappointing. It was like, ‘We play this trick on this
guy — and then it’s funny!” And my question would
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always be, ‘Why? And then what?’ There never was a ‘then
what. At least on TV Nation, there was always a political
point — or a point of some sort — to justify occasionally
juvenile pranks and stunts. That’s rare these days. Even on
a brilliant show like The Daily Show, the segments are
about getting laughs, not about making a point. TV
Nation did both, and did it well.”

As well as his voice, Moore had found his working
method. He would use the same approach, and often the
same staff, for the rest of the decade — into his successes
of The Awful Truth and Bowling for Columbine. By the
time TV Nation completed its run and went off the air,
Moore was forty-one. Though he had begun his activist
career at a tender age, by no means was he over the hill.
He did, however, have a plan to cut the corporate “down-
sizing” trend down to size — with a pen, and again, his
camera.
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Biggie Up the Downsize

Book Signings, Road Food, and Nike

Call to mind forty-seven cities across the United States —
or, in Michael Moore terms, the country that ought to give
itself a makeover, starting by changing its name to “The
Big One.” Now imagine visiting this vast collection of
metropolises within fifty days. Why? Because this was no
ordinary book tour. This was a Michael Moore book tour.

After the summer of 1995, Moore’s show TV Nation
was let go by the Fox network. Though he had screenings
of Canadian Bacon to premiere that fall, and speaking
dates to bolster the movie’s unfortunate lack of label-
promotion, it became quickly apparent that Moore’s
second feature film was not going to be the runaway success
that was Roger ¢ Me. In disappointment, Moore turned
back to his roots: writing. Michael’s parents Frank and
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Veronica had taught him to write before he had even
entered grammar school, and by this point in his life,
Moore had honed a political rant-style typhoon that was
perfectly timed to the mid-"9os. The resulting tome,
Downsize This!, summed up much of the work Moore had
already done with Roger ¢ Me and TV Nation. But it also,
unexpectedly, lay the foundation for another film project
— The Big One, a documentary about Moore himself on
his book tour across the vast U.S. of A.

In the first few minutes of the film, a glum-looking
Moore straggled down a city street, noting in voice-over,
“Me, well, 've been out of work. So I did what most people
like me do when they can’t get a job. I wrote a book . . .
Downsize This! Random Threats From an Unarmed
American. I sold it to Random House. They asked me if I
wouldn’t mind going on a little author tour . . . say, four
or five cities.” Is this what most people do when they find
themselves out of work? It’s not, nor was Moore really out
of work when he decided to pen his book. As a filmmaker,
former publisher, political activist, and all-around media
prankster, it’s often hard to define oneself as “in work” or
“out of work,” but true to the factory terminology of the
regular working-class Joe, Moore set up the parameters of
both Downsize This! and The Big One in this manner —
and to much success.

Releasing in the U.S. in September 1996, the book
received a starred review in Publishers Weekly which
described the book as “a mordant satire that will leave
both conservatives and liberals reeling with embarrass-
ment. . . . No one is immune; a scathing, funny book
packed with facts, it will appeal to those who loved Al
Franken’s Rush Limbaugh Is a Big Fat Idiot” Downsize
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This! held position on the Publishers Weekly nonfiction
bestseller list for a notable four weeks.

But how did that “little author tour” Random House
had arranged grow from several major American cities to
most of America at large? Plain and simple: it was up-sized,
Moore-style. Chronicled in the book was a prank called
“Would Pat Buchanan Take a Check From Satan?” “Politi-
cians, as we all know, will take a campaign contribution
from wherever they can get it,” wrote Moore in chapter
two. “But will they really take a check from just anyone?”
Setting up legitimate bank accounts using his assistant
Gillian Aldrich’s home address, Moore founded the John
Wayne Gacey Fan Club, Satan Worshippers for Dole, and
Abortionists for Buchanan, among others. Writing checks
to Pat Buchanan on March 3, 1996, and May 8, 1996, the
payments were put into the system and cashed within
three and ten days respectively. Bob Dole and Ross Perot
campaigns returned the suspicious checks that had
landed in their offices, but like Buchanan aides, Bill
Clinton’s staff took the bait — from the Hemp Growers of
America. With the release of Downsize This! during the
two months leading up to the 1996 American presidential
election, this particular trick brought the book to almost
immediate national attention. Mike McCurry, a White
House spokesperson, called Moore “a dangerous person,”
so Moore decided to enter his own platform which coin-
cided with the electoral one — except that he wasn’t
running for anything, he was simply running against the
“Republicrats,” as he called them in the light-toned tome
he was out to market. Moore added the smaller American
cities he preferred, ones like Flint that had been most
affected by downsizing, and others like Des Moines, the
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very hub of the American election. Moore had discovered
a media tactic he could call upon again, every four years
in fact (or every two, if he wanted to exploit the congres-
sional elections). By pairing his art to an election, Moore
ensured his work wasn’t just in the news, it was news.
“I've always been a writer, and I haven’t had the chance
to do that in a while,” Moore told the Washington Free
Press while on tour. “As the year started to progress, it
looked like we weren’t going to get TV Nation on [the air]
this year, and I thought, “This is wrong. Here we are in an
election year, and we’re not on Tv . .. So I went to what I
guess was the only outlet available to me, which was just
to start writing and try to get a book published.” Before
Downsize This! had even been completed, it earned Moore
a six-figure contract for a follow-up, the Kathleen Glynn—
cowritten Adventures in a TV Nation. In Downsize This!,
the writing was pithy and comical, skipping from topic to
topic much like Moore’s stand-up routines, each chapter
approximately four to ten pages long. Though not without
its grim moments, Downsize This! was certainly less seri-
ous, less adamant, and less focused about its agenda than
Moore’s later books, Stupid White Men; Dude, Where’s My
Country?; The Official Fahrenheit 9/11 Reader; and Will
They Ever Trust Us Again? Tongue planted firmly in cheek,
Moore was out to dissect the effects of NAFTA, and put faces
to the TV Nation—established concept of “corporate
crooks,” particularly in regard to their acceptance of state
“welfare.” At the same time, Moore hopscotched between a
variety of pop-cultural and political issues, everything
from chastising big business for its use of concentration
camp labor during the Second World War, to attempting
to prove that 1996 primaries’ candidate Steve Forbes was
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an alien, and even examining Moore’s own forbidden love
of Hillary Rodham Clinton.

The film of Moore’s book tour didn’t actually begin
until about halfway through the tour when, unbeknownst
to his publisher, Moore called a four-person crew to join
him in St. Louis. What happened while Moore was on the
road to prompt him to call up BBc Productions and ask
them to send out documentarians and pronto? Simple:
Moore didn’t like what he was seeing in the cities he visited.

“I was reading about the strong economy and record
days on Wall Street, but seeing something much different
in all these cities,” Moore reported when he debuted The
Big One nine months later in Flint. Of course Moore must
have known what he would see. He had already seen it
years earlier in Michigan, and prophesized its coming
when he toured Roger ¢ Me across the country in 1990. In
fact, the title of his book, and the frontispiece photo-
graphs — comparing the collapsing government building
in Oklahoma City after the 1995 bombing to a factory in
Flint being destroyed after cm layoffs — show the false
naivety Moore employed when presenting The Big One to
audiences. If he hadn’t known what he was going to
encounter on his tour, would he have arranged to visit the
smaller cities of Baltimore, Maryland; Centralia, Illinois;
or Rockford, Illinois, which had just overtaken Flint in
Money magazine for the worst place in America to live?

Even at this early point in his career, Moore was being
pegged as a put-on Everyman, the New York Times pre-
dicting “Mr. Moore may not be able to maintain his
image (pro-union, plain folks, blue collar, never went to
college) much longer.” While that was fine for the New
York Times to print from its review desk, the majority of
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Moore’s book sales would come from working people,
often in danger of losing their jobs. Though most didn’t
read the New York Times books pages, these readers’ $21
apiece did contribute to putting Downsize This! on the
Times’ bestseller list.

On October 27, 1996, Moore stood in a parking lot in
Milwaukee, Wisconsin, a cell phone in one hand, a tall
cup of Wendy’s soda in the other. “Oh my God! We’ve
made the New York Times bestseller list!” he laughed
heartily. “Oh man . . . oh my God, that’s such good news.”
For a man whose television show had gone without
renewal, whose last feature-length film had been buried
by the studio, who was currently scheduled to be away
from his wife and teenage daughter for eight consecutive
weeks, and whose current feature depended upon success
of the book, it was indeed good news! Moore’s first
thought was to ask if anyone had phoned his wife yet to
let her know. In a few days, Glynn was scheduled to meet
him in Chicago, where they would celebrate their
anniversary together, borrowing a few precious hours
away from Moore’s intensive book tour. But for now,
Moore stood in a Midwest parking lot with his crew, con-
tinuing with mild blasphemies, admitting, “I'm stunned.”

Up until this point, the Downsize tour, like Moore’s
Roger & Me tour, seemed to include “the same twenty
interviews with the same twenty questions.” In big box
bookstores, surrounded by cardboard cutouts of Tina
Turner and Stephen King, Moore would continue signing
for the store even after the crowd was gone, in the hopes
that leaving behind signed copies would entice sales from
those unable to attend the performance. As is common
on road trips, Moore was beginning to get sick of the
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sight of himself: he pointed out the digital manicure
Random House had given him on his cover photo, and
wondered why the book designers couldn’t have stripped
an extra couple pounds off his face since they were
already tinkering. Turning to the equally unshaven for
comfort, Moore escaped into the strong voices of female
pop-folk musicians Fiona Apple, Paula Cole, and I Ain’t A
Pretty Girl, Ani DiFranco. “I have never understood the
shaving of the armpit,” Moore would admit.

Lobbying in factory parking lots, talking to truckers
and working moms at the Hearty Platter and other road-
side stops about their voting intentions (or lack thereof)
for the upcoming election (which would indeed wind up
with the lowest voter turnout in American history),
Moore had been becoming increasingly road-weary. The
Big One showed Moore in interviews, performing the con-
tent of his book verbatim, both in front of live audiences
and on radio shows. Showing up in a new city every day,
following his “media escort” through endless halls, being
admonished by them, and told that he needed a mother,
finding a few lines of local content to include for each
speaking engagement, and sneaking off when possible to
present honors like the “Downsizer of the Year Award” to
companies like Johnson Controls, PayDay candy bars, or
Pillsbury, could not have been a barrel of laughs, no
matter how lighthearted Moore appeared on film. When
asked about the P.R. people he pestered during the tour,
and whether he felt sorry for them, Moore was conflicted.
“Look — they’re workers too. The ceo won’t come down
and talk to me, so they’ve got to deal with me. So, I do feel
bad for them on one level. . . . Every day, they sit in those
cozy little offices and get softball questions from the
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mainstream press.” Moore declared, “for one lousy day
out of their lives, some overweight guy in a ball cap comes
into the lobby and asks a simple question: How do you
defend the position that the company just made a record
profit and laid off ten thousand people? They know it’s
indefensible; they’re not stupid.”

In Chicago, Moore was interviewed by radio host and
union man Studs Terkel, who pointed out that the images
in the front of Downsize This! related to the question,
“What is terrorism?” Moore replied, “Well, obviously, if
you park a Ryder truck in front of a building, filled with
explosives, and blow up that building and kill 168 people
that’s an act of terrorism. There’s no question about that.
But what do you call it, Studs, when you politely remove
the people from the building first. . . ” Moore’s point was
that once a community’s livelihood had been stripped, a
number of people die, simply by other means — suicide,
spousal abuse, drugs and alcoholism — the social prob-
lems that follow people who have become unemployed.

“We don’t call the company a murderer. But I do con-
sider this an act of economic terrorism when, at a time
you're making a record profit, you would throw people
out of work just so you can make a little bit more.”

Having traveled across “The Big One” several times
now, Moore was asking what, to his mind, was a simple
question — Why would you lay off people if it was at all
avoidable? But he had his own work cut out for him.
From the moment Moore brought in the film crew, he
was doing triple-duty in each city as author, filmmaker,
and subject/star. Salon would later critique this kind of
tri-sectional mirror as infinite ego and ultimate vanity —
and another journalistic brouhaha would ensue. But
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between giving hugs to recently laid-off workers; getting
his kicks by jamming with rock musician Rick Nielson of
Cheap Trick in Rockford (Moore can actually remember
more Bob Dylan lyrics than anyone has a right to);
making a point by taking a fresh discharge from Johnson
Controls to Manpower to try to get him temp work after
twenty years as a full-time employee; and avoiding arrest
outside LEAF industries by playing back video footage to
police to prove that he and the crew had been instructed
to wait outside rather than to leave; Moore also had to
figure out how all of this would add up to a real movie,
and hopefully, a commercially successful one. Said media
escort Mary Gielow, “his is the most fly-by-the-seat-of-
your-pants book tour I've ever seen — and I’ve been
doing this for seven years. Things are just sort of
scratched, and things are added, and people want him
constantly . . . to chat with him, and he obliges, which is
very nice but it throws the schedule a curve.” When asked
how that affected her life, she fired back, asking if she had
developed a twitch yet.

While the media escorts were commandeering Moore,
Moore was commanding his crew. “What’s the deal here?
We’re not gonna get . . .” his cameraman protested at one
point. Moore’s firm response was always, “You never turn
that camera off.” Both camera operators obliged, one film-
ing Moore, and the other filming the first cameraman.

Aside from the personal clashes that occur on any tour,
there were also the disputes that were bound to emerge
from an anticonglomerate author signed with a major
publishing house and appearing at major chain book-
stores. The trouble began in Philadelphia, where Borders
bookstore workers were striking. A labor boy in spite of
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his Downsize This! chapter, “Why Are Union Leaders So
F#!@ing Stupid?” Moore refused to cross the picket line.
“I don’t cross the picket line, so I asked if the protesters
could come in for the reading,” he said. “Borders
approved this, as long as everyone behaved properly.”
Inviting the striking workers in allowed for the presence
of one contested worker, Miriam Fried, whom it was
rumored had been dismissed for her support of the
union. Fried was allowed to speak. After this first inci-
dent, the Philadelphia Inquirer quoted a union official
who said that Moore had urged the audience to buy their
books at a competitor’s store. Moore later denied this,
saying he didn’t want shoppers to boycott Borders, but
Jody Kohn, a spokeswoman for the company, based in
Ann Arbor, Michigan, backed up the original quote, “He
said, ‘Hey, there’s a Rizzoli’s down the street; you can shop
there.”” Borders and Moore entered into a running con-
flict during which each accused the other of dishonesty.

Following on the heels of the Philadelphia appearance,
Moore’s World Trade Center Borders stop was also
thrown askew. Moore claimed Borders officials had can-
celed his speech just hours ahead because they did not
want a repeat of the previous event: “They told me I could
sign the books, but I was not to open my mouth.” Kohn
chalked the cancellation up to Port Authority police
asking the store to eliminate the “enormous” crowds from
afternoon author sessions.

In Des Moines, as portrayed in The Big One, Moore
was contacted by a group of Borders employees attempt-
ing to unionize. They nervously monitored cars driving
through the parking lot as they met in secret one night
with Moore. They joked that they were afraid of the pos-
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sibility of a union-buster from Omaha, and confided that
funds were being withdrawn from their checks for an
HMoO that did not have a doctor in Des Moines. This
group of Borders workers would later vote the union in,
on December 10, through the Food and Commercial
Workers.

The last straw for Moore came in mid-November,
when a Fort Lauderdale book signing was killed com-
pletely. According to Moore, “They said they’d received a
directive from corporate headquarters that Michael
Moore would not be allowed to speak at any Borders
nationwide.” In the New York Times, Kohn attributed the
cancellation to a lack of scheduling confirmation. The
Sun-Sentinel ran Moore’s version impartially, while
allowing it was possible that a local manager was unable
to keep the numerous bookings straight. Either way,
Moore was pissed off. In a column that appeared in The
Nation on November 18, Moore contended that Borders
had banned him en masse from appearing in their stores,
and announced that he would donate the royalties from
1000 copies of his book to the union drive. With 8ooo
workers to be organized, and royalties ranging between 10
and 20% of list price, depending on the publishing con-
tract (a value of between $2000 and $4500), the pledge
amounted to 50 cents per worker. Given the number of
copies Moore was selling at this time, this was a modest
donation, but it was a symbolic gesture against a book-
store where he was scheduled to appear.

“I just don’t think they’re thinking very clearly now
because they’re so afraid,” Moore said of Borders officials
to the New York Times. “I was really looking forward to
going out on a book tour. 'm not going out on a union-
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organizing tour.” Borders’ response was that Moore had a
severe persecution complex. With a union drive affecting
just four of their stores, and plenty of promotional dol-
lars poured into Downsize This!, Borders officials stated
that it would go against all sense for them to stifle the
bestselling author of the season, and therefore one of
their biggest sources of income. The sides reached a
truce, and the downsized author continued his book
tour, resuming his Borders appearances. The conflict,
however, was far from over. Even as The Big One film was
introduced at festivals the following summer, Moore was
still fuming. As chronicled in Chapter Three (“Are You
Going to San Francisco?”), in July 1997, Moore would call
on the editor of Salon, writing: “As I read your libelous
attack on me in Salon magazine, ‘Moore Is Less, I won-
dered, before you published it, did you ask yourself,
‘Don’t we have a moral responsibility to our readers to tell
them who we are and why we are publishing this article?””
Moore pointed out that Salon was “sponsored and pre-
sented by Borders Books and Music.” Detailing his Borders
conflict from the previous year, Moore extended his prob-
lem to include Salon by association: “Salon chose not to
inform you of this. I believe that it was dishonest not to tell
you that Borders, their sponsor, and I have been locked in
this conflict. That they would use this magazine to libel me
is a low blow from an otherwise respected bookseller.”
Just what did this attack involve? An author named
Daniel Radosh had penned a crucifixion of Moore’s entire
curriculum vitae to date. It headlined, “Five Reasons the
Left Can Do Without Michael Moore,” and answered in
the first line, “1. Roger and Me, Me, Me, Me, Me!” The
column pointed to the kinds of deception and self-pro-
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motion Moore had exhibited throughout his career,
beginning with the lack of defined timeframe in Roger ¢
Me, and moving to his short film, Pets or Meat, which
Radosh saw as a patting-itself-on-the-back follow-up to
Roger & Me. After dismissing Canadian Bacon without
having viewed it, Radosh went on to discuss Moore’s TV
Nation work, as well as his “Media Matters” columns in
The Nation — including the throwing down of the gaunt-
let on the Borders debacle — concluding that the only
media that seemed to matter to Moore was his own.

The anger in Moore’s response is palpable — he must
have been reeling. Many of the charges leveled at Moore
by Radosh have been repeated in the ensuing years, by
respected lefty critics like Christopher Hitchens, and by
concerned citizens of the right, armed with the power of
the Internet, including such sites as Moorewatch.com and
Moorelies.com, as well as the often inaccurate Michael
Moore Is a Big Fat Stupid White Man, a book that con-
fused the Flint suburb of Davison for that of its wealthy
neighbor, Clarkston, Michigan, and built an entire theory
upon the supposition. With that exception, many of the
charges leveled at Moore are arguably true: Moore prob-
ably is too self-congratulatory; Moore probably overdoes
the self-promotion in comparison to the norm for a lefty
activist, the do-gooder who is supposed to be without
personality or pride; Moore arguably does condescend in
attempting to always keep his message simple; Moore has
indeed become wealthy while still hanging on to his
image as the regular Joe. Still, Radosh’s column was con-
temptuous, rude, and taken as a whole, immature.

David Talbot, editor of Salon, showed no sympathy for
Moore’s pride at this first sting. He replied within the
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on-line magazine: “Moore’s charge that the Borders
bookstore chain ‘use(d) this magazine to libel me’ is out-
rageous and utterly false and I challenge him to offer
proof of this. Yes, Borders is one of Salon’s sponsors —
this is emblazoned on our site, so we’re not exactly hiding
it from our readers. But none of Salon’s editorial content
is dictated by Borders or any of our other advertisers, nor
has Borders ever attempted to influence Salon’s reporting,
criticism and commentary,” Talbot continued. “Moore is
swinging wildly here and he knows it.”

The Moore vs. Borders dispute was left to languish
while Moore prepared for the production and promotion
of The Big One. He showed the film at Cannes in May, and
in mid-July, took it to Flint to give his hometown a spe-
cial viewing. In mid-September, the work was featured in
the Independent Feature Film Market at the City
Cinemas Angelika Film Center in New York, a kind of
industry trade show and week of workshops. Though the
lineup that year included more than 400 projects,
Moore’s was one of only sixty-six documentaries, and in
fact, just one of ten feature-length docs. For the third time
in eight years, as he entered the show, Moore was able to
pin on the trademark “green badge” of the feature-length
moviemaker. Though the 1rEM was not the place to secure
distribution, Moore knew he would find his company
through BBC Productions, and he did. He secured distri-
bution with the still-hot Miramax Films, producers of
1994’s Pulp Fiction and 1997’s Chasing Amy, which showed
at TFFM that same year. On January 21, 1998, Moore found
himself once again in documentary heaven, a.k.a. Park
City, Utah’s Sundance Film Festival. This time he and
Glynn were chatting with David Mamet, who was there
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with The Spanish Prisoner. Other memorable films show-
ing that year included Vincent Gallo’s Buffalo 66; a second
film starring Christina Ricci, The Opposite of Sex; Kurt
and Courtney, by Nick Broomfield — yet another docu-
mentary filmmaker known for including himself in his
own films; as well as the drama with documentary roots,
Central Station, by Walter Salles. Also featured was
Affliction, a new film by Paul Schrader — the screenwriter
of one of Moore’s favorite movies, Taxi Driver.

Making its theater release a year after its completion, on
April 10,1998, the New York Times reviewed The Big One as
“the rare mainstream American film about real issues, and
the too-rare documentary with a reasonably commercial
future.” Things were looking up again for Moore.
Although reviewer Janet Maslin was wrong in her predic-
tion — domestic theater gross would wind up estimated at
just under $1 million falling far short of Roger ¢ Me —
The Big One was well-received and Moore’s confidence
was up. He began writing a fiction picture for Channel
Four Films in Britain; he signed up the still-unnamed con-
tinuation of TV Nation (later dubbed The Awful Truth); he
and Glynn finished up their next book, chronicling their
first adventures in television; and he readied a sitcom pilot
for cBs starring Jim Belushi, an All in the Family—style
comedy called Better Days, set in a town without any jobs.
Though half of these projects would go nowhere, Moore
had an energy-in-motion vibe about him. As The Big One
opened with wide release in April, Moore found himself in
the midst of an absolute blitz of media and promotion.

Media blitz surrounding a road movie about a book?
What was all the fuss about? The answer, strangely, was
running shoes. Moore has said he had no idea that he
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would actually get an interview with Phil Knight, founder
and cko of Nike, Incorporated, and “Corporate Crook No.
3” in Moore’s top ten list in Downsize This! Why Knight’s
Public Relations Director decided to phone up Portland’s
KXL 750AM, the radio station where Moore was a guest
speaker, and invite him to drop by Nike headquarters on
October 30, 1996, remains a mystery. With Portland as the
last city featured in the film of Moore’s book tour, there is
no doubt that without the interview, which cinches the
movie journey closed, there would have been little handle
— or scandal — for the press to pick up on when attempt-
ing to give The Big One good face.

Moore told Variety, “[Knight] rarely gives interviews,
and I don’t know if he knew what he was getting into. . . .
At one point, I asked how he felt making shoes in
Indonesia using twelve-year-olds, and he said, ‘They’re
not twelve, they’re fourteen. He was deadly serious.” The
scene in The Big One showed a Knight who was very com-
fortable talking to Moore and the camera — though he
had no intention of accepting Moore’s offer of plane tick-
ets to Indonesia (a place he’d never been) to view his shoe
factory suppliers.

“What drives me is not money. I'm not in this for
money anymore,” Knight said. “Basically what I want to
do before I go to that Great Shoe Factory in the Sky is
make this as good a company as I can make it. I simply
have a basic belief having been burned on it once, and
really believing it very strongly, that Americans do not
want to make shoes.” Though Knight did agree to con-
sider it, he also was quite direct that he would be unlikely
to set up a factory in Flint, as Moore proposed. Moore
challenged him to a footrace, an arm wrestle for it, and in
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the end, settled for Knight’s $10,000 matching of his own
contribution to the Flint school system.

The New York Times called the movie loose-limbed,
but also commended its energy: “A lively sparring match
with Phil Knight, chairman of Nike Corporation, doesn’t
culminate in a Nike shoe plant for Flint, which is what
Mr. Moore asks for. But it does find these two adversaries
speaking face to face, if not eye to eye, about the kinds of
labor issues that don’t often make it to the multiplex. So
at least it’s a start.”

Moore claimed Nike was upset about the film after
seeing a bootleg copy. “They . . . called and said, ‘We’d like
to meet with you. I thought they were going to tell me
they’re going to build the factory in Flint, where I chal-
lenged them to build one,” Moore told Ian Hodder of
Industry Central: The Motion Picture and Television Indus-
try’s First Stop! “Instead, their director of public relations
flies to New York and takes me out to breakfast. I sit down
at the table and he says to me, ‘What would it take to have
two scenes removed from the movie?”” Moore recalled that
he “kind of freaked out. I didn’t even want to hear what the
offer was. I just said, ‘Well, I'm not taking anything out of
the movie. I'll add a scene. I'll add a scene of you building
that factory in Flint.”

According to Moore, the director of public relations
said that Knight was upset with two things in the movie,
feeling he had spoken unclearly and misrepresented him-
self. One issue was the age of the Indonesian workers.
Knight had said it was fourteen but, in his second inter-
view with Moore, corrected himself, changing it to
sixteen. In the film, it remains fourteen. “The second
thing,” Moore paraphrased, “was, ‘in five years, one of
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those poor little Indonesians is going to be your landlord.
They sort of figured out there’s some subtle racism in that
statement, and they wanted it out.”

Both scenes remain in Moore’s film.

In an article in Dissent magazine, Kevin Mattson
argued, “Moore ends this final segment of [The Big One]
by saying, ‘I know what most of you're thinking: I sure
would have liked to have seen that footrace. Well, maybe
next movie. Which, if I read him correctly, suggests that
this confrontation has become a humorous bust — the
problems of globalization remain while the audience
awaits Moore’s next bit of entertainment.” Mattson may
be correct in his assessment — that the majority of
moviegoers, even the most intelligent, are simply looking
for entertainment. Looking back at the spring of 1998,
however, it did seem as if change was on the horizon.

Moore hit Portland running — just before his movie
opened in New York and in theaters across the nation. He
answered questions at a makeshift press conference at the
Utopia coffee shop on Southeast Belmont Street, which
was not so fancy-pants it couldn’t include a local zine
alongside newspapers. With its own premiere at the
Bagdad Theater, sponsored by Portland Jobs With Justice,
The Western States Center, and M radio station kBooO,
Moore arrived via limousine. He began the evening with
an animated stand-up routine, calling anti-Nike senti-
ment “the student movement of the late ’90s.” Of the
brewpub/theater and sellout crowd, Moore said, “this is
great . . . showing the movie to 600 drunk people. My
movies go down better with beer,” though Moore himself
has been seldom known to drink. The film was greeted
with whistles and hollers, particularly the end portion
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featuring Portland’s own Knight of Nike. According to
Willamette Week, a Portland alternative news weekly, “The
audience wanted to know if Moore had met with any of
the 250 Nike employees who were laid off less than a week
earlier (he hadn’t). They also wanted to know if Moore
thought Knight was good or evil. (‘He has a blind spot.’)”

On May 13, Nike stated that it would increase the mini-
mum age of hired workers, as well as raising air-quality
standards in its Indonesia facilities to match those in the
United States. According to the New York Times, “the com-
pany has been hurt by falling stock prices and weak sales
even as it has been pummeled in the public relations arena,
including ridicule in the comic strip Doonesbury and an
encounter between Mr. Knight and the gadfly filmmaker
Michael Moore in his new documentary, The Big One.”
Moore’s film had opened in theaters barely one month
earlier, but Knight attributed Nike’s falling sales to finan-
cial crisis in Asia and a lack of understanding of the
consumer trend toward hiking shoes. ““I truthfully don’t
think that there has been a material impact on Nike sales
by the human rights attacks, he said, citing the company’s
marketing studies.” The Times, however, also pointed out
that the company had begun to address complaints about
employment practices after student groups demanded
their universities hold advertiser Nike to higher standards.

The Big One would be forgotten, but six years later,
Downsize This! would continue to turn profits, topping
the Der Spiegel bestseller list in Germany. The book was
reissued by Piper, a hundred-year-old boutique literary
publisher known for being the first publisher to bring
Dostoevsky to German readers many years ago. As America
shuffled its downsized years under and trudged on, other
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countries would continue to find something in Moore’s
critical American sentiments, particularly after September
11, 2001, when the world beyond the United States would
welcome all opposition to the Bush administration. In
2003, more than one million copies of Downsize This! had
been sold in Germany, and in combination, Moore’s
Downsize This! and Stupid White Men remained on best-
seller lists for ten consecutive months. Publishers Weekly
reported on the Moore phenomenon there: “Germans,
suffering from double-digit unemployment, cracks in its
governing coalition, and a tortured debate over welfare
reform, remain curiously obsessed with where someone
else’s country has gone. . . . True, Moore has done well for
Penguin in the UK., and for Crown, Harper, and now
probably Warner in the U.S., as well as assorted publishers
in Japan, France, Australia, and elsewhere. But the German
sales figures are downright astonishing. Combine every
statistic, real or jokey, about France’s obsession with Jerry
Lewis or Germans’ with David Hasselhoff and you still
don’t even get close to how the country devours Moore.”
With a new edition of Downsize This! in 2003, German
publisher Piper planned a tour for Moore through
Germany and Austria — and commissioned “a special
foreword by Moore about the state of the German econ-
omy and its foreign policy.” Did the man with a high school
education have important words to contribute on the sub-
ject of the German economy and foreign policy? When
Moore published Downsize This! in 1996 and began to film
his own tour, he could not have known that the Michael
Moore media machine had been set permanently in
motion. He could not have known his tour would surpass
those forty-seven American cities and just keep going.
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The Awful Truth of

Working in Television

November 9, 1998. The University of Massachusetts. A
man is in the midst of speaking to an audience. Someone
in the assembly stands up. He holds aloft an air horn. Its
rude noise ripples across the crowd toward the man at the
microphone, who is Michael Moore.

Ten years after the completion of Roger & Me, Moore
had completed an award-winning short sequel, two seasons
worth of television, a feature-length fictional film, a best-
selling book, and a documentary about his book tour.
He had cleared the hill and was entering middle age.
His daughter, Natalie Rose, was preparing for university.
A decade past pursuing Roger Smith, Moore was even
further removed from his little newspaper office at 5005
Lapeer Road. Moore was known across the world in a way
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he could not have anticipated. The focus was shifting.

Moore could continue to use the formula he had made
famous, but not to the same success. He readied himself
for a new season of TV Nation, to air under another name
on the United Kingdom’s Channel Four, and in the U.S.
and Canada on Bravo cable networks. Unable to employ
the title TV Nation (still owned by Fox), Moore brought
his crusade for truth front and center. “I saw a poster for
the movie The Awful Truth from back in the ’30s,” he
recalls. “A Cary Grant movie, and I just thought T love
that title. It’s kind of what we do, so that became the title
of the show.” The 1937 movie (based on a stage play)
depicts Grant and Irene Dunne as the Warriners, a rich
couple undergoing divorce. Having already moved on to
other socialite lovers, they plot to ruin one another’s
remarriages. Their main contention is the custody of
their beloved prize fox terrier. Having moved on from the
Fox Network, perhaps Moore could relate to the little
dog. Since Roger ¢ Me, the animated logo of his produc-
tion company, Dog Eat Dog Films, had portrayed a
grinning underdog snatching and swallowing in one bite
the large growling competition.

In November 1998, Bravo announced its intention to
premiere the original twelve-part series in April of the fol-
lowing year. Said Ed Carroll, executive vp and general
manager of Bravo, “Michael Moore represents a point of
view that’s not readily expressed in the media today.”
Moore was host, creator, and director in this re-envisioned
TV Nation. Intending to pick up where the first show left
off, The Awful Truth pointed its cameras at American
politicians, corporations, lawyers, and even worked
toward policing the police. But long before The Awful
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Truth could air its first episode in its spring, nine o’clock
Sunday-night timeslot, the camera would be turned
around on Moore.

Alan Edelstein, the man behind that particular camera,
was a segment producer of The Awful Truth for seven
weeks in the summer of ’98. During his undergraduate
studies, he had begun a film with Peter Friedman called
The Wizard of Strings, a short documentary which he
described as a “student project about an old Vaudeville
entertainer.” Not exactly student fare, it didn’t wrap up
until after graduation, then went on to a surprise Oscar
nomination in 198s. I interviewed Edelstein in New York
City in 2005 for this book. Of his work pre—Awful Truth,
he said, “We were nominated for an Academy Award and
it was hilarious. I worked off and on in film in various
capacities, and before being hired by Michael Moore’s
company, I was working for a small documentary com-
pany doing writing and research, and producing pBs kind
of stuft” The Awful Truth position was the first salaried
television job Edelstein had held in many years. Hearing
about the show through the grapevine, he applied for a
post as a researcher, “a much lower level position than I
eventually ended up with.” He felt his Academy Award
nomination had something to do with the level of the
position he was offered, as well as “a sort of comedy test,”
he admitted he might have done reasonably well on. “I
did not come as a fan, nor did I come as a counterspy or
as an anti-fan,” Edelstein elaborated. “I was not that keen
on his work, but I wasn’t anti—-Michael Moore.”

Considering his later conflict with Moore, Edelstein
was thoughtful, even gracious, when he spoke about both
Moore and the television show, confiding: “I had no real

MICHAEL MOORE: A BIOGRAPHY 145



complaints working there. I didn’t have run-ins with
[Moore] or with anyone else for that matter. As I said, it
was my first real Tv job and I didn’t have much to com-
pare it with. Both myself and the companies that I worked
for, the pace is much slower. So it seemed chaotic to me.
There were complaints about his inaccessibility, which I
guess — to the extent that I was there . . . a little less than
two months — I could see, but I didn’t have any major
complaints of my own. My complaints came after I was
gone. ...” Edelstein continued, “I came into the job know-
ing he had a bad reputation, but I didn’t particularly see
the concentration-camp kind of attitude that had been
described in the media.”

Edelstein did research and groundwork for two
episodes of The Awful Truth before what was phrased as
a “budget problem” resulted in his termination.
According to Edelstein, “I never finished either [seg-
ment], but I worked on two. One was a William Cohen
spoof, the then—Secretary of Defense. The one that was
of much more interest to me — which I only did pre-
production on — was a piece on the Taliban and
televisions. It was basically dropping televisions over
Afghanistan. My main interest in life, and for a film I'm
working on, is dealing with religion and fundamental-
ism. So this was much more up my alley. But I didn’t get
too far with it.”

In the Taliban segment that eventually aired, Moore
gave a rundown on the political history of Afghanistan
(reusing this footage later in Fahrenheit 9/11). He visited
the New York Taliban offices, questioned them about their
religious ban on TV sets, and then presented them with
their very own television, bought and paid for through an
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Awful Truth-led “tvs-for-the-Taliban” charity drive. The
final piece displayed a staged airplane scene where Moore
himself delivered the televisions — complete with para-
chutes — from the sky. A desert scene depicted Afghanis
welcoming Moore’s idiot-box manna, and gathering
around for their first screening of Roger ¢ Me.

Though all of Moore’s television episodes (from TV
Nation to The Awful Truth) were labor-intensive, the
Taliban piece was more demanding, since it involved
shooting on foreign soil. For the segment to come off in the
way that Moore wanted, it required a great deal of atten-
tion. Moore really wanted to shoot it somewhere in South
Asia, if not in Afghanistan itself. Said Edelstein, “I had been
making calls to find out what it was like to produce some-
thing there, so it was not the typical kind of piece.”
Edelstein also priced out televisions with built-in vcrs, and
consulted with aviation experts about how the show could
ensure safe landings for their gifts to Afghanistan. Edelstein
did feel a pang of concern once when he looked at the
board where assignments were posted, and saw that he had
only these two assignments in comparison to the other
producers, who each had been allotted between four and
six. Knowing the Taliban piece was complex, Edelstein dis-
missed his concern, or rationalized the discrepancy. His
dismissal came, he said, “abruptly, suddenly, and really
without clear explanation. I was called into the senior pro-
ducer’s office one day and he asked me to shut the door
and, you know, immediately I knew there was something
irregular going on.” Later, Edelstein decided he didn’t
believe that his dismissal was a standard layoff. He felt he
had been fired without explanation, and that Moore was
now a prime target for some satire of his own.
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The very first episode of The Awful Truth depicted a
Washington witch-hunt. Following on the heels of
President Clinton’s affair with Monica Lewinsky, his sub-
sequent impeachment, and the Ken Starr report detailing
the President’s sex life, The Awful Truth sent in a truck-
load of actors dressed as Puritans to help the people in the
White House purge and repent — more affordably. These
Puritans were also sent to Starr’s home. They chased his
car down the street. In another early episode, Moore’s
brand of humor targeted Lucianne Goldberg, a book
agent who persuaded Linda Tripp to record her conversa-
tions with Lewinsky on audiotape so they could be used
in print. Knowing that an entitlement to privacy is in the
U.S. Constitution, Moore asked his studio audience,
“What can I do to teach her a lesson about how important
our right to privacy is?”

The Awful Truth installed a “LucyCam,” playing on the
idea of the then-popular “JennyCam.” (Given mainstream
media coverage on shows such as Entertainment Tonight,
“JennyCam” was a project by one young woman who
wired her dorm-room computer to snap pictures of her
studying, sleeping, and yes, occasionally undressing.)
Though Lucy’s cam was merely a camera trained on
Goldberg’s apartment window, the images were actually
broadcast over a Web site twenty-four hours a day, seven
days a week, for a month — and two separate segments
and a cam commercial were dedicated to Goldberg on the
actual show. An elucidation on the Web site read,
“Lucianne does not respect the privacy rights of others.
She believes in keeping an eye on persons who are a threat
to the country. So do we.”

Unfortunately for Moore, so did Edelstein. Feeling he
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had been “downsized” unfairly, Edelstein mimicked
Moore’s tactics of arriving unannounced with a camera
in an attempt to get answers. The New York Times
reported, “During a speech by Mr. Moore at the
University of Massachusetts in Amherst, Mr. Edelstein
stood up with a camera and a bullhorn, a tool used by Mr.
Moore outside the offices of executives. . . . Mr. Edelstein
twice showed up with his camera at the office of Mr.
Moore’s production company on West 57th Street, near
11th Avenue. He filmed some employees but didn’t
manage to reach Mr. Moore. Later, he took his camera for
a few more unsuccessful attempts to engage Mr. Moore at
public events outside the office.”

At the time of his dismissal Edelstein stated, “I was told
that there was a budget crunch, but I don’t think that was
true. I later learned there were questions about my com-
petence, which no one had ever raised when I was there.
So I was angry at the way I was dealt with.”

In his interview with me, he recalled the date he con-
fronted Moore at the University of Massachusetts: “It was
about two months after I was fired, and I decided for pro-
fessional reasons to engage in this kind of satirical activity
— for the purposes of my own film that I was making. I
wouldn’t have done anything like this if I hadn’t been
working on my own film, [where] footage of encounters,
or attempted encounters, with him would be useful to me
professionally.” Edelstein was anxious about confronting
the man who had fired him, and Moore was just as
uneasy. “He was somewhat flustered initially and then
kind of recovered . ..” recounted Edelstein. “But he tried
to pretend that I was a plant, that this was part of the
show. There was some banter back and forth between me
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and him, but I didn’t pursue it really tenaciously. I sort of
slunk away after a minute or two. I'm not sure exactly
why. Probably because I was really nervous, and I had
done what I needed to do for that night, and I could leave.
It’s not my style at all. 'm a sort of solitary and noncon-
frontational person. So I was doing stuff that was very
much out of character and I think that was probably why
he was rattled by me, because I don’t think he expected
this from me.”

As of the writing of this book, Edelstein’s film was still
ongoing. Edelstein called it “an essay or diary film that’s
been in the works for well over a decade, long before I met
Moore or even heard of him — basically a nonbeliever’s
journey through the world of real belief — true believers
Jewish, Christian, and Islamic.” Edelstein admitted,
“Moore gets worked into the Islamic thing and the
Taliban and all that stuff . . . because I met the Taliban
people that were based in New York through his show,
and that sort of was my entré into a whole world, and a
whole narrative that I'm trying to make something out
of.” The only quirk to my interview with Edelstein had to
do with his project — he asked if he could interview me
and record me at the same time I was recording him, a
condition I accepted. How he saw Moore fitting into his
own subject matter had to do with his view that Moore’s
own work can be read as a religious text, and that the role
of preacher is part of Moore’s character, which is why my
interest in Moore fascinated him by association.

“It is not a film in which the main focus is trying to get
revenge on Michael Moore or discredit him. Even though
he doesn’t come off well in the film, it’s got a much wider
focus than him and his work,” Edelstein said. “He’s merely
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my prop, he’s not the centerpiece. It’s partly confessional,
but also journalism. It’s a mixture of personal and global
issues.”

According to the Washington Post, after several inci-
dents with Edelstein and his video camera, Moore called
Edelstein up and apologized for his treatment at The
Awful Truth. Edelstein failed to mention this detail during
our interview, but did send me the Post article containing
it. In addition to the incident at the University of
Massachusetts, the Washington Post reports that he fol-
lowed Moore to Harlem, where he was shooting a
segment of The Awful Truth, and also to Chicago where
Moore was speaking at the Illinois Institute of
Technology.

Moore complained to the police because he believed
Edelstein had become a stalker and a threat to his family
as well as his other employees. “‘If all he was doing was
making his little film about me, I wouldn’t have cared,
Mr. Moore said,” according to the New York Times. “‘But
other people were at risk. This is a disgruntled employee
who is a bit off his rocker. Everyone in the office felt there
was considerable risk. The women in the office felt fright-
ened for their own safety. Ask them. They’ll tell you.”

Coverage in the Times ran a year after Moore’s com-
plaint, at which point the Times journalist did check with
Moore’s office and reported thusly, “I asked several
women, including one recommended by Mr. Moore, and
none sounded scared. They said they found Mr. Edelstein
a bit obsessive, but otherwise mild-mannered and harm-
less.” The office manager, Kyra Vogt, who was there when
Edelstein arrived with his camera, was quoted as saying,
“No one was remotely in fear of Alan in any shape or
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form. . . . Most of us thought the situation was comical.
The only person who was paranoid was Michael. He
couldn’t deal with having someone follow him around.”

Edelstein was notified that he would be arrested, but
he had the option to surrender himself. On March 8, 1999,
he turned himself in to police in Manhattan, arriving at
police headquarters with a freelance cameraman, filming.
He was taken into custody on charges of harassment and
trespassing. At that time, Moore’s lawyer Marshall
Fishman told the New York Times that the situation
involved a disgruntled former employee with a personal
vendetta against Moore, and that he and Moore were con-
fident the New York Police Department knew how to treat
such bullying. They did. At the Midtown North police
station, Edelstein was kept for nine hours in a cell. The
case was later dropped by the district attorney’s office. At
a hearing in Manhattan Criminal Court on November 1,
1999, Judge Ellen M. Coin was informed by Assistant
District Attorney Erin Koen that the complaining witness
did not want to proceed with the case. Edelstein turned
around and attempted to sue Moore for malicious prose-
cution. The New York Times piece emerged, and there was
a flurry of publicity surrounding Edelstein’s suit includ-
ing the Washington Post and also the grocery-store
tabloid, Globe. Good Morning America played the rough
footage that Edelstein had shot of Moore.

“Nothing went to court,” explained Edelstein. “I was
eventually offered a plea bargain which stated if I stayed
away from him for six months — him and his family —
that the whole thing would just disappear; there’d be no
record, etc. Against the advice of my attorney, I declined to
take that for two reasons. One: I felt that it was an admis-
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sion of guilt; and two: I preferred to have my day in court.
There was some risk involved, but I felt that the charges
were so outrageous that it would be very interesting to see
him have to prove some of the things that he said.”

Edelstein didn’t dwell on the specifics of the case, now
six years past. “Like his work,” Edelstein commented, “the
charges were a mixture of truth and falsehood — as I see
his work anyway. There were things in it that were true —
like I did go to U Mass, and I did use a megaphone to inter-
rupt him. But there were other things that were really total
fabrications, and those were the things that [ was interested
in him proving. So it was kind of a game of chicken, which
I won, and winning it allowed me to sue him. If I had taken
the plea bargain it would have been all over.”

Edelstein’s own suit ended anticlimactically. Though
he could not remember the exact details, he believed it
might have been dismissed as frivolous.

This was not the first time — nor the only time — that
Moore had difficulties with employees or coproducers. In
retrospect, as Moore’s wife Kathleen Glynn summed it up
in a double-feature article on Moore in the New Yorker,
“along the way, the side of the road was littered with a lot
of bad comedy, wasted time and bitter individuals. Past
employee grumblings are somewhat pointless. ... They exist
in a comedy ghetto, one we have pole-vaulted over.”
Edelstein was only one of the former employees with
complaints. There were also Eric Zicklin, a TV Nation
writer whom the New Yorker quoted regarding bad rela-
tions with Moore; Chris Kelly, a writer on both TV Nation
and Canadian Bacon; and even John Derevlany, who told
me in our interview that, though he felt Glynn was “a very
nice lady;” he could never “quite figure out what she actually
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did on TV Nation, other than put her name on the credits.
I wasn’t involved in every single meeting,” Derevlany
acknowledged, “but I went to plenty of them, and I never
really saw her do anything that quite merited the title of
producer. I guess her biggest role was managing Michael
and his many moods, which, to be honest, is probably a dif-
ficult and thankless job.”

In Larissa MacFarquhar’s lengthy article on Moore in
the New Yorker, Zicklin was cited as saying, “Michael gave
so many people the chance to do jobs that they'd never
done before, and that’s rare in entertainment. . . . It was
incredibly intoxicating for everybody. We came to work
thrilled.” But the thrill quickly wore off. Though Moore
claims he insisted TV Nation be a union show and
Derevlany confirmed he was paid union scale, Zicklin
said he was cautioned alongside another writer that there
would not be enough money to pay them both at union
rates.

“T can’t accept him as a political person,” the New
Yorker quoted Zicklin. “I can’t buy into this thing of
Michael Moore is on your side — it’s like trying to believe
that Justin Timberlake is a soulful guy. It’s a media prod-
uct: he’s just selling me something.”

MacFarquhar’s article also quoted crew member Kelly
as having had his heart broken by Moore. Though Kelly
“thought he was great on the Academy Awards,” he said he
just could not view Moore’s film or read his books. When
Moore began writing his column in The Nation, Kelly can-
celled his subscription. The wounds ran that deep.

Although Moore had been his own media machine
pretty much from the age of eighteen, he had initially
done it in a city with a population of 200,000. From the
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time he hit the ground running with Roger & Me, Moore
had had no real break from national attention. When he
hadn’t been in the media’s eye, he created his own press,
as he did with The Big One, turning his own book tour
into a feature film — essentially a vehicle for self-promo-
tion. Some might suggest that there were more words in
the film than in the book. Where was the line between
Michael Moore and the Michael Moore industry? In addi-
tion to directing a team of fifty full-time staff, plus
freelancers, on The Awful Truth, there was the upkeep of
his Web site, the diaristic E-mail missives going out regu-
larly to “Mike’s Militia,” and, as if that wasn’t enough,
Moore’s next feature film, Bowling for Columbine, was
already underway. While there were problems with The
Awful Truth financially — the team tearing through the
budget with the first few episodes, then stretching to
make ends meet — the cheapness of the pranks did not
come entirely from petty cash (or lack thereof). In the
second season, the show’s humor became increasingly
morbid, as if Columbine had laid a tombstone atop
Moore’s sense of comedy.

Moore did issue apologies to Kelly, and to former cor-
respondent Merrill Markoe, saying, “I reached a point, a
place in my life where I didn’t see myself as a perfect
person, and I wanted to apologize for anything I've done
or said to people.” He also acknowledged, “This is not the
easiest type of show to do. It takes a lot out of all of us.”
Without Glynn, whom he considered the most important
person on the show, Moore said he didn’t know how he or
the cast would have gotten through it.

In spite of conflicts in the world of television, it was
during The Awful Truth years that Moore began building
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the team he would continue to work with. Creative con-
sultant Jay Martel was one of these writers/producers, and
stuck by Moore through TV Nation, The Awful Truth,
Bowling for Columbine, and Fahrenheit 9/11. His role on
The Awful Truth was a significant one, covering a lot of
the hard-hitting stories, such as the Gulf War Fun Run, a
charity race in which former soldiers suffering from Gulf
War Syndrome ran (or, more accurately, walked very
slowly or wheelchair-rolled) to raise funds to help with
their own war-related medical expenses, unacknowledged
by the U.S. government.

Correspondent Karen Dufty also supported Moore on
both shows — and beyond. She sees the complaints
brought against Moore as petty, saying, “I think they’re a
bunch of girls and they should take off their skirts and
stop crying . . . It’s Tv! When you're putting out a weekly
show, you're under a lot of pressure, but I’ve worked with
[Michael] for five years, and I've never seen him blow up.”
Dufty was also quoted in the New Yorker as saying, “I've
never done anything I’ve been more proud of than work-
ing with Michael Moore. I just hate the way the left is
constantly cannibalizing itself.”

Thankfully for Moore (and for Dufty, who was a fre-
quent presence on the show), the press had better things to
say about his television work than some of his ex-employ-
ees did. In spite of the show’s opener — in which an
announcer read, “By the end of the millennium five men
controlled the media,” while the floating heads of Rupert
Murdoch, Michael Eisner, Ted Turner, Sumner Redstone,
and Bill Gates surrounded a whirling globe — the print
media was fair to Moore. Though The Awful Truth recycled
the formula — and often the content — of its previous
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incarnation, it was still considered wildly refreshing.

Emerging on Bravo, the first episodes of The Awful
Truth were running alongside other irreverent cable pro-
grams, such as The Tom Green Show and Celebrity
Deathmatch. Celebrity Death-match, a claymation mMTV
creation, depicted different celebrity animé each week in a
wrestling ring. The matches, which faced-off nonathletic
personalities (such as movie directors Martin Scorsese
and Oliver Stone), were given narrative and in-jokes
using a variety of filmic techniques — as well as a wide
array of blood-and-guts effects as the characters decapi-
tated one another claymation-style. In the post-South
Park world, it was now permissible for fecal matter to
bounce out of the toilet and become an animated charac-
ter. The political correctness that had dominated the early
’90s was dying as many deaths as the shack-dwelling
“Kenny McCormick” — Matt Stone and Trey Parker’s
icon for the poor.

The change from TV Nation to The Awful Truth
brought with it a new echelon of confrontation, and a
raised level of accepted cruelty. While The Awful Truth
was staging a pre-mortis funeral outside of Humana, an
H.M.O. company refusing to provide coverage for a
Florida man in need of a heart transplant, Canadian
comedian Tom Green was rubbing “dog poo” on a micro-
phone before sticking it in the faces of random
individuals on the street whom he approached for inter-
view. Green was riding a cow into a grocery store, then
getting underneath it to suck on its udder. As Caryn
James acknowledged in the New York Times, “the major
networks would consider these shows subversive, though
in many respects they provide a better measure of social
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attitudes than the cautious networks ever could. ... When
they are willfully rude, as so many are, they reflect the cul-
tural grittiness that is given a cosmetic gloss by the
network entertainment machines.”

While acknowledging that some Awful Truth segments
were spent showing Moore being predictably shut out by
public relations people, the Times conceded that “the
show energetically reflects the lunacy of living in a corpo-
rate culture. What celebrities are to Deathmatch,
big-money executives are to The Awful Truth”

The Emmy nominations would not come as they did
with TV Nation, but with its first nine episodes, The Awful
Truth did receive a Hugh M. Hefner First Amendment
Award in the Arts and Entertainment category. The Playboy
Foundation insisted, “with humor and satire, the show edu-
cates the public about issues critical to preserving First
Amendment rights. Using the guerilla tactics he docu-
mented in Roger ¢ Me, Moore satirizes, badgers, and pokes
fun at the people who are the news. He continuously and
relentlessly battles censorship to express his viewpoints
regarding a wide range of social issues in the United States.”
This was an award usually given to a lowly liberal, Moore’s
shibboleth, and not professed a leftist — a distinction
Moore still consistently points out regarding himself.

The Awful Truth’s first season was, in many ways, more
catch-as-you-can than its predecessor had been. Moore
wasn’t battling the Klan this time around, but he was able
to amass a pink rv full of discoing gay men and women,
call it the “Sodomobile,” and drive it to every state that
made it illegal to be gay. On TV Nation, Moore had
attempted to raise gay issues by confronting the high
school of the nephew of Pastor Fred Phelps, who con-
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doned the picketing of funerals of aips victims. This
time, Moore and the members of the Sodomobile took on
the pastor himself. Phelps’ response? “You guys are head-
ing straight to hell in a faggot’s handbasket.”

Jostling among other headstrong comedy shows on
cable, The Awful Truth had a studio audience made up
more of thirtysomethings than the show’s youthful pranks
might suggest. Yet a portable mosh pit is what would land
the show in the national news — and in the 2000 presi-
dential debates. During the 2000 election primaries, The
Awful Truth was searching for a new way to pick a presi-
dent. Their solution? Put the candidates in the mosh pit!
According to Moore, the idea came from the bottom up:
“Some of our best ideas have come from the viewers and
it’s alleged that we actually pay for these ideas, but I've
never seen a check go out, so ’'m not sure about that.” Just
before the Iowa Caucus in January 2000, The Awful Truth
crew headed to Des Moines. They picked up a truckload
of high school students, and to the tune of “Guerrilla
Radio” by Rage Against the Machine — on a school day no
less — drove them to Republican candidate Gary Bauer’s
election headquarters. Moore can no longer remember if
the show even had insurance to put the disorderly kids on
the moving truck. In his pvb commentary, he wonders
if their parents could have sued. Luckily, no one did fall
off the truck. The teenagers rowdily jumped for warmth
on the flatbed, penned in only by orange plastic snow
fencing. Shortly after arriving, two Des Moines police
officers arrived to tell Moore that the kids were being too
loud, and were therefore disturbing the peace. Even if
they stopped yelling, the officer told Moore, they were
still trespassing. For Moore, the word “trespassing” was a
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red flag. He knew that whenever police use this word, it’s
time to leave. The mosh pit for Democracy kept moving,
and fast.

When Moore attempted to convince future president
and nemesis George W. Bush to join him outside for some
mosh action, Bush replied, “Behave yourself, will you. Go
find real work!” In response, Michael phoned his own
father and asked if he had an oil company he could give
him to run, or maybe a major league baseball team. All
unplanned, according to Moore. His father Frank’s
response? “Uh, say that again?”

The segment found its finisher with Alan Keyes and his
campaign people. Without much prompting, Chris Jones,
Keyes’ National Campaign Director, agreed to bodysurf
the teen pit. He took his suit jacket off in minus 10 weather,
and dove right in. Moore couldn’t believe it: “When this
happened I just thought, ‘Well, okay, we’ve got the piece
now. This is about as good as it’s going to get.” But Keyes’
young daughter also convinced her father to surf the Mosh
Pit for Democracy. Keyes dropped backwards, arms
spread, Jesus-like, into the cheering teen crowd. “This is a
presidential candidate — running for President of the
United States,” Moore recalled. “Unbelievable. At that
moment I am just freaking out. I cannot believe that this is
happening . . . 'm going, ‘Oh boy, what are we doing on
Bravo with this? This is too good.”

A photograph of Keyes holding up one of his signs
while he himself was borne aloft wound up, to quote
Moore, “in every newspaper across the country. We were
on every news show that night.” Jay Leno, cNN, cNBc,
Conan O’Brien, and others blurbed it on their shows.
Said Gail Collins of the New York Times on cNN’s The
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World Today, “I'm sorry, the mosh pit was so great that
nothing else conceivably could have [competed].”

During the debates, Keyes was critiqued for the act, yet
turned it to his favor, using the mosh pit as a metaphor for
how the American people will hold one another up.
“Admittedly I was willing to fall into the mosh pit,” Keyes
countered. “You know why I did that? Because I think that
exemplifies the kind of trust in people that is the heart and
soul of the Keyes campaign.” For a fringe candidate, Keyes
ranked a surprising third in the debates — though by the
end of the race, the American public did not bear him up
as their presidential candidate. In The Awful Truth com-
mentary, flabbergasted by his own antics, Moore burst
out, “Folks, do you understand? Yeah, this is a presidential
debate, okay. They’re debating the mosh pit. Hello?”

Gail Collins attempted to make more sense of the
mosh pit scandal. “There is, believe it or not, a larger issue
at work here,” she wrote in the New York Times. “All the
candidates for president have been promising to bring
decorum back to the White House. But they’re campaign-
ing in an age when politicians are forced to compete with
entertainment celebrities for Tv time and magazine
covers, and the temptation to do something peculiar to get
attention keeps expanding.” Collins continued bitingly,
“The Democrats are about to say goodbye to a president
who discussed his underwear preferences on MmTv, and the
Republicans are looking for a successor to the guy now
starring in Tv ads about erectile dysfunction.”

With Alan Keyes in the portable mosh pit, The Awful
Truth was front-page news. But why spend it all in one
place? Moore had just jumped onboard the production of
a music video for the band Rage Against the Machine,

MICHAEL MOORE: A BIOGRAPHY 161



when he got the call telling him The Awful Truth was
being discussed in the presidential debate. Rage Against
the Machine had emerged from the Los Angeles under-
ground music scene in 1992 with a raw sound that
meshed punk, hip-hop, and thrash. Their uncensored
lyrics encouraged revolt against corporate America, gov-
ernment oppression, and the status quo in general.
Teaming up with the popular Porno for Pyros, and join-
ing the second and third Lollapalooza tours, Rage’s
unexpected hits, “Bullet in the Head” and “Killing in the
Name,” wound up pounding from car stereos and shriek-
ing across college campuses throughout 1993. In
Philadelphia at Lollapalooza 111, Rage Against the
Machine staged a silent protest against censorship — in
the nude. For fifteen minutes they stood onstage naked
without singing or playing a note. Their mouths were
duct-taped, and each band member wore a scrawled letter
on his chest, spelling out “pP-m-r-c,” the moral watchdogs
of the music industry. Rage Against the Machine became
well known for their outsider status, playing anti-Nazi
League concerts, and Rock for Choice abortion rights
concerts, as well as touring in 1993 with pothead hip-hop-
pers Cypress Hill.

For their 1999 album, The Battle of Los Angeles, the
band wanted Moore to direct their video. The song was
“Sleep Now in the Fire,” and Moore wanted to “shoot this
in the belly of the beast.” He set up on the steps of the
Federal Building, while the band erected their equipment
right in front of the New York Stock Exchange. Before a
crowd of approximately 300 fans, the band fired up their
instruments and ran through “Sleep Now . . .” six times. At
that point, the police arrived and ordered the impromptu
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concert to come to a close. “Before we had a chance to stop,
four officers jumped me and put me in one of those police
locks like you see on that excellent and informative show
Cops,” Moore claimed. “One tried to break my arm, the
other put a chokehold on my neck. In all my years of
shooting in New York, I have never had this happen, and all
I could think of was, well, I just hope it’s a new plunger.”

The throng took to the official intrusion less well than
Moore: they proceeded to jump police barricades and
rush for the doors of the Stock Exchange. A formerly
peaceful crowd had now become a riot situation. Before
the young people could breach the Stock Exchange, a set
of titanium gates crashed down, protecting the next set of
double doors. The New York Stock Exchange closed a full
two hours early this day — a highly unusual event.
During that same time, social conservative Gary Bauer
was flubbing the band’s name in the debates. With unin-
tended irony, he called them “The Machine Rages On.”

The Awful Truth did put together an Alan Keyes
endorsement that played during the second season’s third
episode. It began with a headshot of Keyes and the
American National Anthem. At the end, it segued into the
mosh pit footage: “Before you decide to vote for Alan
Keyes, there’s a few things you should know. Alan Keyes is
against a woman’s right to choose. Alan Keyes is against
affordable health care. Alan Keyes is pro-censorship, anti-
gay, and insists on being called Ambassador even though
he’s really just a radio talk show host.” The question the
commercial raised was why would The Awful Truth ask its
audience to vote for Alan Keyes. The answer was obvious:
because he had dared to enter the mosh pit.

The Keyes scandal was one of the glory moments of
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The Awful Truth’s second season. Unfortunately, the
show, like Keyes, was only held aloft for a few moments —
then it was straight down. A scaled-back budget — in
combination with Moore and Martel’s divided energies
between the show and the new film — led to new prob-
lems and concessions. Moore’s stand-up schtick in front
of a studio audience was stripped between seasons one
and two. Moore now stood alone at night with a micro-
phone in the middle of Times Square. He would query
random passersby, and urge them to look deep into the
camera as he unveiled the newest segment of Truth. Even
the opening musical montage was different, relying on
Beethoven because it cost nothing to use. Between con-
vertible rentals (for Martel to get to Florida to cheer Jeb
Bush’s state executions as if they were football games) and
airfares (for Moore to activist jet-set between Minnesota
and the state capitol on behalf of deportation-threatened
Mexican workers), the budget was eaten up in just a few
episodes. Second season stunts dragged on, or relied on
pranks that required few props. Moore took ideas he had
run in his Michigan Voice days, such as the automobile
industry’s reliance on concentration camp labor, and
rescripted them for television. Moore sent in Sal Piro, The
Awful Truth Bill Collector, a hired thug, to get some
straight talk out of BMw’s headquarters in New Jersey.
When Piro met with silence, he took out his trusty crow-
bar and introduced it to a BMw — one that had been
hired from a local rental office. For the price of a broken
window, The Awful Truth had a show.

Consider “Pie the Poor,” a segment in which corre-
spondent Duffy organizes teams of willing millionaires to
compete against one another in the humiliating of actual
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homeless people and folks of modest wages. Culled from
Wall Street during happy hour, these necktied gentlemen
were divided into Team Dow and Team Nasdaq. They
took turns throwing cream pies into faces, and baseballs
at a tank in a game of “Dunk the Homeless.” The suppos-
edly homeless subject, “Frank,” who was found in Times
Square and paid for his appearance on the program,
looked none too happy. “Pin the Tail on the Illegal Alien”
was another nasty little game, in which the faces of sub-
jects “Maria” and “Claudio” were blurred out. In his
commentary, Moore admits the obvious, that it’s “pretty
dark” The millionaires were more than willing to per-
form, and Moore claims that by the end of the night,
some of them understood the satire.

A similar sketch, “Dixie Flag Night,” appeared on
episode seven. As an interlude to the longer segments,
random African Americans in Times Square faced the
camera and informed the audience how many hours they
were working (lots), how much money they were making
(little), and what benefits they received (none). Then they
held up their hands in fake cuffs and said, “Take me back
to the plantation.”

On episode ten, The Awful Truth crew decided to
“Track the Homeless.” Correspondent Duffy visited
Cathy Choquette, a woman who actually lived in
Manhattan Mini Storage, because it was safer and cleaner
than the streets. Later in the show, correspondent Martel
pretended to ship the homeless overseas, fitting a young
black woman into a crate, tossing in Styrofoam chips for
softness — and a couple of sandwiches, just in case.
Correspondent Hamper helped fit the homeless into the
trunks of parked cars, as well as into empty garbage cans.
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One of the most disturbing second-season segments
was a response to the New York City police shooting of
Amadou “Ahmed” Diallo. On February 4, 1999, at approxi-
mately 12:45 a.m., Diallo was shot forty-one times by four
plainclothes police officers in the vestibule of the apart-
ment building where he lived in the Bronx. A West African
immigrant from the French-speaking country of Guinea,
Diallo was a devoted Muslim who had been in New York
since 1996 and had no criminal record. The officers, all
white, were searching that night for a serial rapist. No
weapons were found on Diallo’s body or at the scene,
though his wallet and his pager were nearby. Two of the
officers fired sixteen times each, the other two officers, four
and five times each. Three of the four officers had records
of shootings; two of these shootings were resolved, the
third still under investigation. Nineteen of the bullets
struck Diallo, who died of gunshot wounds to his torso.

New York’s then-mayor Rudolph Giuliani urged that
no one jump to conclusions. “It’s obviously troubling to
both the police commissioner and myself that forty-one
shots were fired,” he said on Court Tv, but when ques-
tioned he would not come up with a situation that might
warrant that number of shots to be fired. Black leaders —
including the Reverend Al Sharpton, and President of the
United African Congress, Sidique Wai — called for a fed-
eral investigation.

The officers walked. Within twenty-four hours of the
officers’ release, The Awful Truth set up a table in Harlem.
It was a Saturday morning, and the entire crew was pres-
ent. Moore led the segment as the team exchanged the
dark wallets of black citizens for neon orange wallets that
were less likely to be mistaken for guns by police. Tensions
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were high in Harlem that particular day. “Some people, I
have to admit, on the crew were a little nervous about
doing this,” Moore recalled, “But we had . .. quite a positive
response from people there in Harlem and they completely
got wha t we were trying to do. Everyone . . . people walk-
ing by wanted to participate in this.” In Florida, Jerome
Richardson had been shot while holding a set of house
keys; seventeen-year-old Andre Burgess had been shot
while holding a Three Musketeers chocolate bar. The Awful
Truth spray-painted keys and chocolate-bar wrappers
bright safety orange so that these objects — in the hands
of black Americans — would not instantly transform into
weapons. The Awful Truth also handed out costume bullet
wounds, so black men could pretend they had already
been shot — the idea being that if they were already dead,
the police would leave them alone. Another black man
was provided with garbage-bag camouflage, so whenever
police came near he could duck under it, blending seam-
lessly into the urban landscape.

But did the satire just extend the idea that African-
American life is cheap, rather than simply drawing
attention to these very real stereotypes? Happy music
played in the background as an entire street full of black
Americans, including toddlers, raised their arms “don’t
shoot”—style above their heads while going about their
days — but happy music could not make for happy tele-
vision or a happy country. The spark of rebellion that was
present in TV Nation, coupled with a Christian kind of
do-unto-others moral guarding, was not only lacking
from The Awful Truth, it was replaced with a deep, gaping
cynicism. Audiences know, watching the piece, that no
solution will emerge, that white officers will continue to

MICHAEL MOORE: A BIOGRAPHY 167



see guns where there are only cell phones. At the same
time, on a day that could have been as explosive as the
L.A. riots, hundreds of black Americans exchanged their
wallets instead. A dump truck’s worth of good leather
wallets were discarded, symbolically delivered to New
York’s 32nd precinct.

It is this duality of cynicism and ethics that defines the
character of Michael Moore. When the English Guardian
interviewed him a couple of years after The Awful Truth
had come to an end, Moore offered a clearer portrait of
his emotional take on the world around him than he did
during the show. Questioned about his methods for keep-
ing his spirits up, and how he managed to forge onward,
Moore responded: “Jeez, I think I'm right. The things I
believe in, I believe strongly enough in them and I think
I'm right. When I'm wrong, then I change my mind and
I’m right again. I try to keep my sense of humour. . . ”
Moore credited his ability to continue to have faith,
saying, “Maybe there’s something in that Catholic
upbringing — where all things seem unattainable, every-
thing is insurmountable, the odds are always against you.
I’m the person in the lifeboat, where if the lifeboat was
full of holes and going down and all there was was a Dixie
cup, I'd be the one still bailing the water ...

But when the same question was rephrased specifically
to pertain to hope for the American political system,
Moore admitted, “Maybe what I’'m saying is that maybe
I'm just crazy. That maybe there isn’t any hope for the
United States. We’ve had our moment, we had a chance to
do great things with it. We started out by doing a few
good things but then we blew it.”

In his 1988 release, “Tower of Song,” Leonard Cohen
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sang about the rich having their television channels in the
bedrooms of the poor. Continually Moore stressed the
realness of the people on The Awful Truth and their situ-
ations, as he has on most of his projects. Though most
fictional television series to some extent rely on poor
characters to move plot, these series always use actors to
play the poor. The question we need to ask is why watch-
ing fiction happen in a nonfictional setting frightens us.
When we understand this, we will understand Michael
Moore as a cultural phenomenon. Whether “real” or not,
Moore’s TV segments were also constructs, carefully
thought out or written — then cast and coordinated —
by Moore, Dufty, and a full television team, where casting
sessions for “Pie the Poor” contests amounted to someone
running to a series of upscale bars at New York Stock
Exchange quitting time.

I asked Moore’s foil Edelstein, as a fellow documentar-
ian, how he felt about Moore’s documentary style. “I'm
not the right person to ask about that, just because I have
had such a long and weird time with him,” he qualified. At
the same time he said, “My main problem is that . . . I
think he’s a deeply dishonest person and filmmaker. As a
former print journalist, a documentarian, he claims to be
beholden to the facts and truth and . . . I think that falls
by the wayside in his work. You know, so much of your
opinion of his stuff is based on your take on him, and
whether you like him as a character.”
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Gun Crazy

Bowling for Success

One day [Moore and the crew] wanted to know if
Hitler ever went bowling.

— Michael Moore’s researcher

Calling what Moore did “toiling in television” might be an
exaggeration, as his work for the small screen gave Moore
success and credibility beyond his Roger ¢ Me audience.
But it was not the place Moore had wanted to spend the
better part of the 1990s. While his development pile
showed his desire to break out of television and into main-
stream film, the leap still eluded him. In spite of a
bestselling book, the failure of Canadian Bacon to find
a place in the multiplexes and the undersized reception
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for The Big One must have needled Moore. To continue in
television would be like being one of those Flint guys stuck
on the line — bored, but in love with the easy money.

While Channel Four had been an eager booster of
Moore’s work and The Awful Truth for its first season, that
support started to wane both financially and in scheduling.
As Moore had always done in the past, he cured any cre-
ative malaise he might have had by throwing himself into
several more projects. It was at The Awful Truth offices on
Tuesday, April 20, 1999 that Moore found his next film
project Bowling for Columbine thrust upon him.

The day of the tragedy at Columbine High School,
Moore arrived at work to find his crew members gathered
around the television, like most Americans were, watch-
ing events unfold in Colorado. “The image that really —
really — just assaulted me was the one where [clears
throat] the kids were all told to put their hands up, and all
told to line up against the wall with their hands up behind
their heads,” Moore later told a live audience in Littleton.
“In other words, you are all suspect. You are all [the]
potential murderer. You will all come out with your hands
up and keep them up. I just felt that day [ had to do some-
thing . . . 've thought about this issue, about what a
violent country we are, for a long time.”

As The Awful Truth was being punted into a late-night
nowhere timeslot in the U.K., Moore slowly soured on
the whole television thing. It became his day job, while
he continued do his real work — Bowling for Columbine,
his personal response to that year’s great domestic
tragedy. Armed with an office for his Tv production, he
kept a threadbare crew of friends and more than a dozen
unpaid (though when financing came later, paid) interns
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— including his daughter Natalie Rose — researching,
filming, and editing what would become Moore’s return
to water-cooler discussions the world over.

Outside of Denver, the bedroom community known as
Littleton, Colorado — where Columbine High School was
located — had seen a multitude of torrid media reports
regarding the massacre that occurred there on April 20,
1999, the 110th anniversary of Adolf Hitler’s birth. Unlike
other tragedies occurring in the wired world, the
Columbine incident marked the first time news officials
were hooked into the inside of a tragedy while it was still
occurring. Cell-phoned reports from students hiding
from the gunmen were telecast even before the area had
been evacuated. America literally huddled in fear with its
youth, waiting for answers.

Shortly after 11 a.m., two senior students, Dylan
Klebold and Eric Harris entered Columbine High School,
from which they were scheduled to graduate in only a few
weeks. In the cafeteria, which housed approximately 500
lunching students, they deposited two twenty-pound
propane bombs disguised in duffel bags. Making their
way back out of the school, they waited for their bombs
to go off. Had things gone according to their plan, nearly
everyone in the cafeteria would have been killed. As
detailed over the previous year in Harris’s occasional
journal, the boys’ original plan was to wait outside and
shoot only as their classmates fled school. But when the
boys’ homemade bombs refused to go off, they entered
the school again, only minutes later, armed with four dif-
ferent types of guns and numerous pipe bombs.

As the first couple of Columbine students were
killed, many heard the gunshots but attributed them to

MICHAEL MOORE: A BIOGRAPHY 173



a graduation prank. Longtime teacher and coach Dave
Sanders realized what was going on, rushed into the
school and shouted out warnings, enabling teachers and
janitors to shepherd students immediately to safety.
Sanders continued through the school, warning students
out of harm’s way, until he himself was wounded by
Klebold and Harris. He was pulled into a classroom, where
hiding students attempted to staunch Sanders’ chest
wound until he expired three hours later, just after the
swar teams reached him. Though the swat teams had
been quick to arrive on the scene, along with local police,
they were fired at through windows by the boys. When
swaT members did enter the school at noon, they first set
to diffusing bombs rather than attempting to secure the
area or remove students from the school, which would
not happen until after 2:30 in the afternoon.

By noon, parents were aware of what was happening,
and awaited their children at Leawood Elementary
School, where students who had made it out were being
shuttled. Other parents flocked to Columbine High itself,
and remained behind police tape. Within their first hour
in the high school, Klebold and Harris had fired 188
rounds of ammunition and thrown 76 bombs, before
turning their weapons upon themselves. Though they’d
had a hit list, none of those killed were on it. At the end
of the day, twenty-five people were injured, three of
whom were in critical condition, and fifteen people were
dead — twelve students, one teacher, and the two mur-
derers. According to a follow-up article published six
months after Columbine in Salon, a key source said, “we
can tell you why they did it, because they tell us why
they’re going to do it. . .. They did it because they were
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consumed with hate.” Division Chief John Kiekbusch, the
ranking officer overseeing the case, confirmed this source,
saying, “they hated everybody and everything.”

These were not the statements appearing in the news
on that day, however. Perhaps fueled by the accounts
given by traumatized high school students, the media
reports immediately searched for simple rumor-style
solutions, the most prevalent depicting a “Trench Coat
Mafia” associated with Goth music and destruction
(though neither Klebold or Harris dressed in the Goth
style). Other explanations for the killing spree were
racism (though only one of the murdered students was
black), an anti-Christian agenda (though only one girl
was asked if she believed in God), and a hatred of jocks
(though Harris himself was a soccer player, and most of
the violence took place in the library, not the gym). Media
also attributed a larger percentage of the killings and the
shots to Harris, playing up Klebold’s passive nature, and
constructing a leader-and-follower dynamic between the
boys. But when the investigation team closed their case,
they reported nearly equal involvement in the destruc-
tion. America wanted answers — beyond the ambiguous
notion of an unbiased, all-encompassing hate — and it
still does.

Above and beyond the simple tragedy of the event, the
Columbine school killings became, in the media-swollen
world of 1999, whatever pundits and commentators
wanted them to be. For many, the attack was a sign of youth
corrupted by permissive culture and a lack of traditional
values. For others, it was the evidence that the American way
of life was producing emotionless psychopaths proportional
to its material wealth, invoking Emma Goldman’s sangfroid
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aphorism that “a society gets every criminal it deserves.”
For Moore, this terrible event was not just a central
theme to build his film around — a film that would grow
to encompass broad indictments of violence in America
and America’s role in violence across the world — but,
like his most successful work, the subject matter was per-
sonal. Flint was still Moore’s mirror for interpreting the
effects of politics and, much to the chagrin of his critics,
this was where Moore excelled. By capturing (or “select-
ing,” a detractor might say) how everyday America is
affected by the ambiguity of domestic and foreign policies,
Moore was able to pull such tangles out of the world of
abstraction. Columbine shooter Harris had lived in
Oscoda, Michigan, while his father was stationed at a mili-
tary base there. Oscoda is located in northern Michigan,
and Moore had spent so long defining his personality by
the state at large, he was deeply affected by this fact.
Another Michigan connection would emerge unexpect-
edly during the filming. Just after Moore started Bowling
for Columbine, on February 29, 2000, Flint became home to
the youngest school shooter in U.S. history when six-year-
old Kayla Rowland was shot and killed by a classmate at
Buell Elementary, an urban school in the Flint-Beecher
school district, and the poorest in Genessee County.
Though Moore would cover the incident in Bowling for
Columbine, this was also a personal setback for him, as
Buell was the very school where Moore’s and Phil Knight of
Nike’s $20,000 Flint school contribution had gone after
they parted ways in The Big One. In an open letter on his
Weblog, Moore described the Buell area as “Flint’s dump.”
“It is where you go when you have nothing left to your
name. 60% black, 40% white. No municipality in Genesee
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County wants to govern Beecher, so it exists as a No Man’s
Land on the northern city limits of Flint.” And the school’s
district of Beecher was personal to Moore for other rea-
sons. “It covers a small portion of two different townships
(one of which is where my wife Kathleen is from). But
folks, when you hear the word ‘township’ used in the case
of Beecher, those of us from Flint mean it in the way the
word was used in South Africa.”

It was grim luck, and Moore would continue to find
history unfolding around his film. Though the Flint
community came together and rallied around Buell
Elementary, including donations of playground equip-
ment and government grants to the township for policing
and gun-control efforts, Buell Elementary closed its doors
in 2002, before Bowling for Columbine saw wide release.
The teacher depicted in Moore’s movie moved elsewhere;
the principal and superintendent retired. Former Genesee
County prosecutor Arthur Busch, who handled the case,
seconded Moore’s opinion of the township, telling the
Associated Press that parents who lived there faced some of
the state’s highest unemployment rates, that the majority
of kids were eligible for free or reduced-price lunches,
and that delinquency and neglect cases were still straining
the system in 2005. “The ingredients that created this sce-
nario still exist: child poverty, drugs, all that misery that
comes with poverty,” Busch said.

The shooting of Kayla Rowland inspired Moore to seek
out American actor and National Rifle Association
spokesman, Charlton Heston. Moore felt Heston, who
had spoken at gun rallies in both Denver and Flint just
after the two tragedies, had been insensitive to these com-
munities. Attempting to schedule an interview with the
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actor through normal channels, Moore was unsuccessful.
In preparation for the interview, Moore became a lifetime
member of the Nra. He hoped his card-carrying status
would help convince Heston and others he wasn’t out to
get them, although in truth, his original plan was a little
trickier. Back in Moore’s Boy Scout days, he had been a
junior member of the NRrA, but after the Columbine mas-
sacre he decided to become a lifetime member. “My first
thought after Columbine was to run against Charlton
Heston for the presidency of the Nra. You have to be a
lifetime member to be able to do that, so I had to pay $750
...tojoin,” Moore told The Guardian. “My plan was to get
5000 Americans to join for the lowest basic membership
and vote for me so that I'd win and dismantle the organ-
ization. Unfortunately . . . that’s just too much work for
me,” Moore confessed. “So instead I made this movie. But
I’m still a lifetime member, until they excommunicate me
... which is not far off, from what I hear.”

Moore may not remain in the Nra, but he did nail that
interview with Heston. On the crew’s last day in
Hollywood, just as the van was to head to the airport, they
decided to make one last-ditch effort to get their inter-
view: they purchased a star map.

“So I ring the buzzer,” said Moore. “And out of that
little box came the voice of Moses. ‘Yes?” And I'm going,
‘Oh my God, What am I gonna do?” And then he told me,
come back tomorrow morning, and he'd give me the
interview. And he did.” In his late seventies at the time of
the interview, Heston almost didn’t make his appearance
in the film, as Moore himself wavered on including the
footage. He felt Heston’s age, very apparent in the footage,
particularly since he was recovering from hip surgery,
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would skewer audience reaction. In the end, most of the
interview was included: Heston’s remarks regarding race
and violence in America, and Heston turning his back on
Moore — walking away from the offered photograph of
Flint’s youngest gun fatality, Kayla Rowland. According to
Moore, even before the editing room, it was a scene that
almost wasn’t.

“I did become afraid after the interview, after you see
me walk out the driveway. . .. You don’t see what happens
after that "cause we went to credits, but we got to the gate
and they wouldn’t let me out,” said Moore in interview
during the Cannes festival. “And I thought, well, they’re
calling people to come and take our film from us, and to
beat me up.” Moore removed the footage from the
camera, and threw it over top of the gate to some of his
crew who had been waiting outside in case of emergency.
Though nothing untoward happened, Moore claims he
told the crew, “Get in the car and just drive the hell out of
here. You know, we’ll take our licks, but at least we’ll have
the film.”

Though some viewers felt the scene was emotionally
exploitive, Moore said, in retrospect, “I don’t know why
anybody would feel sorry for a guy who leads the most
powerful lobby group in the U.S., and whose sole purpose
is to make sure people can have as many guns as they
want to have and fire as many bullets as the guns can pos-
sibly fire. . .. These people are insane, and they have to be
stopped,” he added. “And the majority of Americans,
according to every poll, want gun control. ...

In addition to the Heston exchange; interviews with
Buell Elementary principal Jimmie Hughes; detectives
and townspeople of Littleton; as well as the much-blamed
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singer Marilyn Manson (of whom Klebold and Harris
were reportedly fans); Bowling for Columbine, like Roger
¢ Me, would rely on the expert editing of archival
footage, voice-over, and original footage. Responsible for
bringing all this together, with funding equal to four
episodes of TV Nation, were the interns who worked pri-
marily for the experience. Production ran smoothly, and
most described it as a learning experience. One researcher
recalled that Moore made the group watch The Battle of
Algiers, Gillo Pontecorvo’s 1965 sparely styled documen-
tary-like chronicle of the Algerian Revolution. Technically
a fictional film, Ponte-corvo’s rehash cast the actual lead-
ers of the revolution, so the line between fiction and
reality blurred. The film’s veracity is so well-regarded that
it infamously found itself being screened by the Pentagon
in 2004 to prepare leaders for what a street battle might
entail in an Arabic country. This kind of “performance of
truth” is clearly not far from Moore’s intentions with his
own work.

As Alan Edelstein, former—Awful Truth employee, said,
“I'look at [Moore] basically as a failed priest. He went to
seminary and was thrown out — you know, again,
according to him — a year later. But he was a very sincere
and interested Catholic. I see certain aspects of his work
are preachy in a way that I associate with someone who
needs a replacement for religion. It’s of interest to me that
he’s still very connected to the church.” In promotional
commentary with the pvp version of Bowling for
Columbine, an intern echoed Edelstein’s assessment by
calling Moore “Father Mike,” describing Moore’s ability
to make subjects feel at ease and “submit to the camera.”

Once the film saw release, critics attacked this fiction/
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documentary dichotomy, as they had with Roger & Me,
claiming in particular that the opening scene — in which
Moore opens a bank account and walks out the same day
with a shotgun — was staged. When Andrew Collins of the
Guardian interviewed Moore at the London Film Festival,
he questioned Moore about notions of authorship.

“So this is an author piece,” Collins said. “It’s the best
way to describe the films that you make — you’re in
them, you write the text that goes into them and you go
out to prove or disprove something you think needs prov-
ing or publicising. But there’s a fine line, isn’t there?”

Amid self-deprecating comments regarding his own
ego, Moore said, “I exist in my films as a stand-in for the
audience.” At the same time, like the audience, Moore
found certain scenes too emotional to watch. Both he and
Glynn found themselves in tears watching the movie for
the hundredth time when it came to the portions dealing
with Rowland’s death.

Though the visual and audio punch of Bowling for
Columbine would strain the budget, one music track was
given to the production for next to nothing — the Beatles’
“Happiness Is a Warm Gun.” Notoriously, the Beatles and
their estates have never allow their recordings to be used
in films, but Yoko Ono, who lost John Lennon to Mark
Chapman’s gunfire in 1981, made sure her husband’s com-
position was available to Moore. “We got a good deal on it,
too,” Glynn told the press. The song is set to a fascinating,
but emotionally devastating, series of images culled from
the news media, including politician Bud Dwyer’s on-air
suicide during a press conference in 1987, as well as footage
of the 1993 shooting of Maritza Martin Munoz by her
estranged husband, a killing that took place during a live
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newscast. The camera did not stop once as Emilio Munoz
fired fourteen rounds. To provide this assault on the
senses, the Bowling for Columbine crew had to spend a full
month of editing on this sequence alone.

Also used to harrowing effect was surveillance footage
from Columbine High School. Backtracked by audio from
g11 calls (including a chilling statement from a panicking
teen trapped inside the school — that she had spoken to
Fox News, but not the police yet), the black-and-white
footage was rarely seen in its entirety, and was obtained
by Moore only through the Freedom of Information Act.
For Moore, the footage of heavily armed teenagers from a
wealthy suburb walking calmly through their high school
while throwing bombs and stopping for a sip from a soda
left at a table, would say more than he ever could about
violence in American society.

At the same time as Moore was in the early stages with
Bowling for Columbine, another maverick filmmaker was
looking at the killings and trying to make sense of them
through his art. Gus Van Sant had, like Moore, come into
the mainstream spotlight from the margins at the start of
the ’9os. The son of a traveling salesman, Van Sant
directed Drugstore Cowboy, like Roger ¢ Me, a breakout
hit of 1989 that seemed to come from nowhere. Van Sant
would go on to make subtly subversive movies for main-
stream audiences, exploring hustlers and queer sexuality
in My Own Private Idaho, and the media and obsession
with fame in To Die For. Like Moore, Van Sant would also
share his wealth, supporting cutting edge filmmakers
such as Nina Menkes.

In 1999, Van Sant went to HBO looking for funding for
a documentary on the Columbine shootings. Presciently,
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HBO said no to his proposal, but were willing to provide
support for a fictional film based loosely on the events.
HBO head Colin Callendar told Van Sant that the “bom-
bardment of violent images from twenty-four-hour news
operations are increasingly difficult to decipher,” and that
creating a fictional film would do the subject more jus-
tice. After regrouping, Van Sant started his project again
as a narrative film — using real teenagers improvising
without a written script. When Van Sant heard about
Moore’s own project, he was surprised. Though the two
directors had met, and spent some time together years
back during Moore’s The Big One premiere in Nike head-
quarters’ (and Van Sant’s) hometown, Portland, Oregon,
the director hadn’t heard of Bowling for Columbine until
production on his own film had started.

“We’d been working on our film [by then, but] we
watched it before we made our film,” Van Sant recalled.
“I'm a big fan.”

Released a year after Bowling for Columbine, Van Sant’s
Elephant would provide a completely different take on the
tragedy. Using the camera as a mute witness, the main
star of Van Sant’s film was time itself. In the slow bore-
dom of high school and suburbia, and the fractured time
frame of the last day of life for several high school stu-
dents unfolded, Van Sant further explained the
differences between his and Moore’s film: “I'm sure that
Michael Moore made [Bowling for Columbine] for the
same reasons. I think that his film, unlike maybe
Elephant, is searching for direct answers, like, “Too many
bullets, “Too many guns.” These specific things were what
Michael was after. In our film,” Van Sant clarified, “we
were thinking of those things but we were never really . ..
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trying to label it or spell it out. I guess because of the
intensity of the event. It’s too big to maybe just stamp it,
like ‘Alienation, ‘Guns, ‘Bullets. It’s too amorphous. We
wanted our film to work around that, and have ideas
floating around and have the viewers involved in that, as
opposed to just telling the viewers what to think.”

For Moore, no event would be too big to be included in
his sometimes brilliant, sometimes unwieldy thesis. One
element in Moore’s film, not in Gus Van Sant’s, was the
notion of bowling. The Littleton Sheriff’s Office reported
that, the morning of the Columbine shootings, the two
killers calmly went to their 6:15 bowling class. To Moore, as
he stated throughout the film, bowling was as likely a
“reason” for the massacre as the theories of the media pun-
dits, who touted everything from the influence of
shock-rocker Marilyn Manson’s songs to the violent
video games played by the young men. Yet, on another
level, by invoking bowling in the movie’s title and as his
centerpiece gag, Moore was drawing attention to
America’s cavalier attitude toward firearms. Shooting is a
weekend pastime, and a constitutionally guaranteed one
according to the Michigan militia who open the film.
Nowhere is this attitude more frightening than in the
interview Moore conducted with James Nichols —
organic farmer from Michigan, brother to Oklahoma
bomber Terry Nichols, and friend of Timothy McVeigh. In
Bowling for Columbine, Nichols appeared tense and, by the
end of the interview, possibly dangerous. Even Moore him-
self was concerned, as he tried to diffuse the moment when
Nichols put a loaded gun to his own temple.

The filming of the interview lasted five hours. “He just
went on and on,” Moore said. “He was brilliant in the
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description of his beliefs, I had to hone that thing down
to what you see in the film.” Eventually, Nichols would
initiate a defamation of character lawsuit against Moore
for the way he appeared onscreen.

While making Bowling for Columbine, Moore was also
writing his next book, Stupid White Men, an assault on
what he saw as a sham election worthy of sanctions from
the United Nations: the 2000 presidential win by George
W. Bush. If Moore had trouble keeping his unique film
together, Bush also struggled in that first year to find a
tone for his presidency amid continued jokes and suspi-
cions about his win. The destinies of both men would
change on September 11, 2001, when four planes were
hijacked by Al Qaeda operatives, two of which crashed
into, and reduced to molten rubble, the World Trade
Center, eliminating 2750 lives inside it. For some, the
actions of the president following the attack, including
the invasions of Afghanistan and Iraq, would be seen as
brinkmanship. Instead of a backlash against the vague
“evil-doers” and a quickly drummed-up retaliation
bombing campaign, what could the president’s reaction
have been to September 11? For much of the rest of the
world, including the millions globally who marched
against the invasion of Iraq (in the largest single-issue
protest ever) these actions could be summed up by the
words of activist actor Alec Baldwin, who said, “We blew
it, we could have united the world, but instead we pushed
it away.” Bush’s actions would shape the rest of Moore’s
work on Bowling for Columbine, as Moore watched a
world-stage demonstration of America’s self-feeding loop
of irrational fear.

This would be Moore’s boldest move yet. Before
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September 11, Bush had been considered a lame-duck
president, headed for a single term footnote and tainted by
the biggest electoral investigation in decades. After
September 11, the oval office became immune to any criti-
cism from the media. To criticize the President was to
criticize all of America. As Bowling for Columbine neared
completion, U.S. officials seemed to fulfill the film’s proph-
esies, hastily passing “Patriot Acts,” and perpetuating myths
of letter bombs and anthrax attacks.

Even before the film made it to theaters, Moore faced
down the publisher of his book — only after September
11. Written in Moore’s patented clunky-but-spunky style
during the Bush administration’s first year, Stupid White
Men described the election as a “coup” and documented
George W. Bush’s corporate history and shady moments.
According to Moore, after September 11, HarperCollins
wanted to pulp the copies of Stupid White Men already in
print, and requested that he drastically rewrite the mate-
rial so the President would appear in a better light. Lisa
Herling, director of corporate communications for
HarperCollins, stated, “as with any political book, you
want to make sure it hasn’t become outdated or need any
adjustment based on the events of 9/11.” Moore refused
this highly irregular request to rewrite post-printing —
and it was agreed that the book would be killed.

However, on December 1, 2001, a New Jersey librarian
named Ann Sparanese heard Moore’s story as he
addressed the annual New Jersey Citizens Action confer-
ence. Within days, librarian chat rooms and Web sites were
fierce with activity: the publisher became deluged with E-
mails from angry librarians. By the end of December,
HarperCollins agreed to release the book, without changes,
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in February. The book hit No. 1 in Canada and England, as
well as on the New York Times bestseller list, remaining on
the list for thirty-four weeks, even though the paper did not
review the book. According to Moore, 90% of newspapers
ignored the book.

Yet Moore found himself (along with another sudden
bestselling author, Noam Chomsky) reaching his strangest
audience yet as a voice of dissent in the post 9/11 world:
mainstream America. As Moore embarked on his second
forty-seven-city tour (booked not by Harper-Collins but
by his two sisters, Anne and Veronica), he told the Village
Voice, “I look out at the auditorium or gymnasium, and I
don’t see the tree huggers and the granola heads. . . . I see
Mr. and Mrs. Middle America who voted for George W.
Bush, who just lost $60,000 because their 401(k) is gone.
And they believed in the American Dream as it was
designed by the Bushes and Wall Street, and then they
woke up to realize it was just that, a dream.”

Within weeks, more than 500,000 copies of Stupid
White Men were in print; within months Moore was
again a figure of national interest, now considered a seri-
ous influence on the political landscape. In May 2002,
Moore switched publishers, going over to Warner Books
for a $3 million deal for his next two titles. And soon,
Bowling for Columbine would eclipse even the success of
Stupid White Men.

In May, buzz for the film had already started: Bowling
for Columbine was welcomed into the Cannes Film
Festival, who bent their own rules, allowing a documen-
tary into competition for the first time in more than fifty
years. Even with his wife and daughter at his side, Moore
was overwhelmed — even more so when the film received
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a nearly fifteen-minute standing ovation. David Lynch pre-
sented Moore’s film with the 55th Anniversary Prize at
Cannes, and Moore’s name was in every French newspaper.
But just as Moore was at the top of his game, operating on
volume 11, something happened to deeply undercut the
pleasure of personal success, reminding him of a world
beyond politics, interviews, or accolades — his mother
died. The momentum he had been carefully building for
years came to an abrupt stop. Canceling speaking dates
that were pre-publicity for the film’s American release,
Michael went home. At the age of fifty-two, he was once
again just a boy from Davison, spending a good portion
of his summer simply being with his father.

On August 5, 2002, attempting to explain this portion
of his life to his fan base, Michael wrote simply and from
the heart:

Dear friends,

Four weeks ago today, my mother died. Her name
was Veronica Moore. Someday | will write about
who she was and what she meant to me in my life
and the lives of everyone she touched. But | cannot
do that today. The grief | have experienced in this
past month has only barely subsided. Her passing
was sudden and unexpected, though she got to live
eighty-one wonderful years. | owe her everything. |
am who | am because of her and my dad, and none
of what | do or have done has been possible with-
out the love and support they have given me.

Michael nearly didn’t attend his own premiere at the
Toronto Film Festival that September, but in the end, he
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did, driving from Flint with his father. Michael wasn’t the
type to allow grief to stop him from finishing what he had
started. After a glowing response in Toronto, he eventu-
ally returned to New York, and the life of a busy
award-winning film director. The film played festivals —
and received honors — everywhere from Kansas to
Amsterdam; from Sao Paulo, Brazil, to Montreal; from
Bergen, Norway, to Tehran. Released in theaters that
October, running two hours in length, the American buzz
for Bowling for Columbine started slowly. The picture
appeared first at select theaters on October 18, then jug-
gernauted across North America to become the most
successful non-music documentary ever. Earning over
$60 million theatrically, its reception was bolstered partly
by the still bestselling Stupid White Men, but also by the
U.S.-led Iraq invasion that had, in the intervening
months, divided the country more sharply than anything
post-Vietnam.

While critics of Moore’s politics debated his facts, cre-
ating innumerable Web sites that disparaged his name,
film critics responded favorably, though they did point
out that his weaknesses — self-aggrandisement and
smugness — were still his weaknesses. Moore, however,
heard the word “Oscar” being whispered for the first time
since Roger & Me. In January 2003, it was announced that
Bowling for Columbine had been nominated for Best
Documentary. With no television show to deal with, and
promotion winding down for both his book and film,
Moore stopped moving for the first time in two years,
retreating to his Michigan home before the March
Academy Award ceremony. The rest would be needed, as
it would be his last for some time. He geared up again for
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Wednesday, February 26, 2003 — his return trip to
Littleton. At 8 p.m., at the University of Denver, Moore
entered the Magness Arena, an 8ooo-person packed the-
ater — to the sound of cheers. It was more than he could
have hoped for.

Just five days before the Academy Awards, in spite of a
divided home country and worldwide condemnation (save
for England), the U.S. invaded Iraq. The media became
lively with guesses about what Moore would say should
he receive the statue. When he did, in fact, take the prize,
Moore would explain, “the history has been that the popu-
lar documentaries don’t win . . . so frankly, I didn’t think
we had a chance of winning, and frankly I didn’t come
prepared with a speech.” Near the time the documentary
category’s winner was to be announced, Moore was over-
come with the panic of, “What if we did win?” Not
knowing what to do, he leaned over to the other docu-
mentarians and asked that in the event that Bowling won,
would they want to go up to the stage with him? He added
the warning that he might say something about Bush.
“They were wearing peace pins and they all said that they’d
be honored.”

Actor Diane Lane took the stage and read the nomi-
nees. Opening the envelope she sighed, smiled, and
shouted, “Bowling for Columbine, Michael Moore!”

Moore, Glynn, and the other filmmakers took the stage
as the audience rose to a standing ovation. Accepting the
award, Moore said, “On behalf of our producers Kathleen
Glynn, and Michael Donovan from Canada, I'd like to
thank the Academy for this. I have invited my fellow doc-
umentary nominees on the stage with us, and we would
like to — they’re here in solidarity with me because we
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like nonfiction. We like nonfiction and we live in ficti-
tious times. We live in the time where we have fictitious
election results that elect a fictitious president. We live in
a time where we have a man sending us to war for ficti-
tious reasons. Whether it’s the fiction of duct tape or
fiction of orange alerts, we are against this war, Mr. Bush.
Shame on you, Mr. Bush, shame on you! And any time
you got the Pope and the Dixie Chicks against you, your
time is up. Thank you very much.”

During the speech, in a clear display of the country’s
mood, half the audience stood and clapped; half booed.
Moore later admitted that before he started, “there was a
moment where I thought I could just soak up all the love
and be off and have my great Oscar moment.” Moore
fought through to the end of his speech and went, as win-
ners traditionally are sent, to the pressroom. Perhaps still
nervous, and inadvertently revealing the dictatorial side
his coworkers have hinted at over the years, Moore barked
at the press, “Don’t say there was a split decision in the
hall because five loud people booed. Do your job and tell
the truth.”

Later, in a short documentary about the evening
appearing on the Bowling for Columbine pvp, Moore
admitted to hearing a mix of clapping and booing, a
cacophony that was, to him, the sound of democracy.
“Was it appropriate?” he asked. “I had made a film about
violence and we were in the fifth day of a war I felt unjust
and wrong . . . it fit perfectly with why I made this film.”
He concluded with a nod to his persona. “At the end of the
day ... I’'m Michael Moore. What else was I going to do?”

Regardless of audience reaction, standing at the
podium of the 2003 Academy Awards, accepting honors for
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the most profitable documentary film in history, Moore
had bested Pauline Kael — and reached the enviable posi-
tion of being able to pick and choose projects. He had left
the movie assembly line of pinching and scraping for
parts and funds.

As a postscript, it should be noted that one important
bowling shot did not make it into Moore’s film. Just after
Moore’s Oscar win, in May 2003, the Littleton Sherift’s
Office released to the public a videotape they had confis-
cated in the wake of the shootings at Columbine. The video
was of Eric Harris and Dylan Klebold target-practicing
weeks before their rampage. Their targets? Bowling pins.
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Moore Smokes 'Em Out

Fahrenheit 9/11

Let me tell you something: no filmmaker wants to
go through this kind of controversy. It does not sell
tickets . . . I made this movie so people could see it
as soon as possible. This is a huge and unwanted
distraction.

— Michael Moore on being dropped by the Walt
Disney Company

In the business world in early 2004, one story dominated,
and Michael Moore was in the middle of it. He took pains
to explain that he just wanted to concentrate on film-
making, but the wake from the scandal that involved him,
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Miramax films, and the Disney corporation, would push
Fahrenheit 9/11 to the highest shores of success.

The relationship between the Disney corporation and
one-time indie maverick Miramax films was long consid-
ered a relationship of strange bedfellows: the two
companies couldn’t be more different. Starting in the late
’80s producing B-fare like slasher-pic The Burning, and
mafia comedy The Pope Must Die, Miramax was founded
by the Weinstein brothers, Harvey and Bob. Cutthroat
business skills equally matched by a love of cinema
resulted in the company’s meteoric rise in the early ’9os.
With youth market hits True Romance and Pulp Fiction
under their belts, the independent Miramax became an
enticing buy for any large company, but heads shook in
disbelief when that company turned out to be Disney. At
the time, under the leadership of Michael Eisner, Disney
was reveling in unprecedented profit margins after
returning to the cutting edge of animation with The Lion
King and Toy Story. With Disney funding and distribu-
tion, Miramax swept several Academy Awards (and made
millions) with their art-house-for-the-suburbs style, but
came to blows over more controversial films, such as
Larry Clark’s 1995 film, Kids.

By 2004, success had made a failure of the Disney/
Miramax marriage. Disney was losing money after several
financial disasters, including their ill-fated attempts to
break into cable and Internet markets. Meanwhile, as pro-
ducers of the Lord of the Rings trilogy, the Weinsteins had
become the most powerful team in Hollywood. With cor-
porate divorce imminent, Moore, in a stroke of good
timing, found himself in the midst of a lovers’ quarrel,
and walked away with a film budgeted at $6 million.
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Echoing his other battles, this one was another He Said/
He Said situation, but instead of being the hot topic at
potlucks, it was the hot topic of power lunches every-
where, and soon enough, was national news.

It was one month after his Oscar win that Moore
announced his next project was going to be an exposé of
the links between the Bush and Bin Laden families.
Recalling the 1976 film, Network, Moore intended to
investigate a collusion of corporate America, the media,
and arms manufacturers. At the age where many begin to
think of taking early retirement, Moore and Glynn told
U.S.A Today that they’d considered quitting film after
Bowling for Columbine, but the comment now seems
more like false modesty, as Moore was setting aside his
film project Sicko — a film about the American health
care system (now projected for 2006) — to pursue
George W. Bush with a visual impact his 2003 book, Dude,
Where’s My Country?, could not provide.

The belief that corporations, and not the people, pick
elected leaders through a nexus of fundraising and lobby-
ing is now entrenched, almost a core American value
shared by everyone from President Dwight D. Eisenhower
(whose final 1961 speech, warning of useless involvement
in Vietnam, coined the phrase “military industrial com-
plex”) to domestic terrorist Timothy McVeigh. On one
hand, rigorous analysis by economists and philosophers
does indicate that the stock market determines policy
more than the will of the people. However, many, includ-
ing activist theorist Noam Chomsky, stress that there is
no “conspiracy” to it. There is no star chamber of men in
suits (as presented in the pop paranoia of Tv’s The X-
Files), just a system that allows it to happen — the
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tendency of the rich to socialize with the rich, and strive
to make life better for themselves. The subtleties of
Chomsky’s “systems analysis” were not ready-made for
the large audience that Bowling for Columbine’s success
would guarantee, but the promise of illicit information
and shadowy connections played into the grand drama of
an American consciousness distrustful of its elected offi-
cials since Watergate, and inflamed by the still-hot topic
of the 2000 election results. Fahrenheit 9/11 ended up
being completely different from Moore’s original vision,
and what was different about it was what audiences, from
Cannes to Kansas, responded to.

But even before there was a film, there was the issue of
funding and distribution that threatened to overshadow
the picture itself. When Moore had announced
Fahrenheit 9/11 in April 2003, he also announced that
Miramax had agreed to fund and distribute the picture,
with filming to begin that May, and a firm release date of
July 2004. That a documentary could be released in a
month reserved for blockbusters — as well as funded by
a subsidiary of Disney — was proof of the success Moore
had achieved.

Filming began, and was uneventful except for the fact
that Moore was choosing not to include himself in the
picture. As he told reporters, “It was a conscious decision
... The material was so strong that a little bit of me goes
a long way.” This decision, however, caused him to have
numerous battles with Harvey Weinstein, who insisted
that it was Moore whom audiences would be paying to
see. As Moore had stated earlier, he’d only appeared in
Roger & Me out of technical ineptitude on his part (not
knowing where to stand), then turned that ineptitude
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into technique, feeling his subjects were more comfortable
on camera when he was standing beside them. “If you look
like me,” Moore once joked with the Stanford Daily,
“would you have this incredible ego where you'd want to
see yourself blown-up forty-feet on a movie screen? ‘Oh,
put me in another shot, I look so good there, ah!’...Tcan’t
stand it. That’s a horrible, horrible feeling. You’d have to
live your life in my body to understand this.”

Moore appears fleetingly in the finished Fahrenheit
9/11, which has a three-part structure given over to Bush’s
contested connections to Bin Laden, the implications of
the Patriot Act, and the Iraq War (declared “over” long
before thousands of American soldiers were killed) as
told through the voice of one Flint mother who lost her
son. To illustrate that most of Congress had not read the
Patriot Act before passing it, Moore took to the streets of
Washington, D.C., with a truck and a loudspeaker, read-
ing the act for the benefit of everyone on Capitol Hill.
Compared to the rest of the film, this sequence feels like
a holdover from the days of freewheeling cynicism on The
Awful Truth.

In February 2004, production on Fahrenheit 9/11 was
close to finished when the news hit that the Weinstein
brothers would be stepping down from their posts at the
company they’d founded and named after their parents,
Mira and Max. There were whispers of buyout packages
of $100 million. In the background of this erupting news
— but soon to be pushed to the foreground — was
Moore’s film and its contested history. It would explode
across headlines just as Fahrenheit 9/11 was being deliv-
ered for competition at the Cannes Film Festival.

In the public’s mind, the Cannes Film Festival exudes
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a sense of respect and artistic integrity. It is, however, very
much a trade show, where thousands of movies are sold
and deals are made on the run by people selling Hungarian
rights for teen market movies like Halloween: Resurrection
on one cell phone and cable rights for art-house hits like
The Sweet Hereafter on the other. Fahrenheit 9/11 arrived
with a pedigree of controversy. Only a week earlier, after
rumors of trouble in Disney/ Miramax paradise began hit-
ting the papers, Moore received the official phone call.
Though Miramax had tried to persuade Disney, they had
to break the news that they could not distribute the film. It
was then that competing stories about what had been
promised began to circulate. With the Weinstein brothers
negotiating their way out of the company, the last word was
fought over by the two Mikes — Eisner and Moore. Moore
stated that only a month after signing the distribution deal,
Eisner requested a meeting with his agent, Ari Emanuel, to
express his extreme displeasure over the Fahrenheit project.
Moore claimed Eisner’s biggest concern was angering
Florida Governor Jeb Bush, brother to the president and an
important player in much of Disney’s theme-park busi-
nesses and licences.

“Eisner did not call Miramax and tell them to stop my
film,” Moore said later. “Not only that, for the next year, six
MILLION dollars of pIsNEY money continued to flow into
the production of making my movie. Miramax assured me
that there were no distribution problems with my film.”

After Eisner’s meeting with Moore’s agent, nothing
more was heard until Fahrenheit 9/11 was selected for com-
petition at Cannes, and Disney sent an executive to New
York to watch a preview screening. It was this screening
that led to Disney dropping the film. Eisner countered
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that Moore had known for that past year Miramax would
not distribute the film. That money was given to the pro-
duction after Eisner’s meeting with Moore’s agent came
as a complete shock to Eisner and Disney. Eisner contin-
ued to claim Harvey Weinstein had hidden the $6 million
to Fahrenheit as a “bridge loan” in paperwork for other
productions. Weinstein could have settled this debate, but
he was mired in his own negotiations against Disney, so
kept silent, except to say that, with Moore, he would buy
the film back contingent on a worldwide distributor. Given
the timing of the film in Miramax’s corporate relationship
with Disney, and what ultimately happened, it is possible
that Weinstein had calculated all this in advance, wanting
to antagonize Disney by using their money to make a film
he knew they would not distribute, then taking it off their
hands cheap. Any publicity gained from this approach
couldn’t hurt either. Without a distributor, amidst corpo-
rate intrigue and rumors regarding the actual content of
the film, Fahrenheit 9/11 entered the Cannes Film Festival,
and on May 22nd, 2004, became the second documentary
ever to win the coveted Palme D’Or prize.

Phrases like “twenty-minute standing ovation” and
“politically motivated” began appearing on op-ed and
Internet pages across the world, though much of the world
had not yet seen the film. The Village Voice commented
that the jury of the 57th festival was “wearing its politics
on its sleeve.” Jury president Quentin Tarantino responded
that it was bravura filmmaking — and not politics — that
had motivated the jury’s decision. Some might humor-
ously suggest a Detroit conspiracy (Tarantino spent his
twenties there), but upon closer examination of the film,
his assessment might prove correct.
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After winning the award, Moore had cockily declared
his film would have a distributor inside twenty-four
hours. However, his usual strict demands interfered with
interest. The release date of July 2004 had to be guaran-
teed; a November release for the home video market had
to be guaranteed; a “free rental day” at video stores in
November had to be guaranteed. These dates, of course,
were timed with the U.S. presidential primaries and elec-
tion; they were Moore’s way of turning what would be the
year’s most famous film into a tool for voter activism. In
the end, some, but not all, of his demands would be met.

While at Cannes, Moore spoke to another political
filmmaker, George Gittoes, one of Australia’s most
respected artists. Gittoes expressed his surprise to see
footage from his own film as the centerpiece for
Fahrenheit 9/11. Like Moore, Gittoes’ approach has put
him in a gray area between activism and art; he travels the
globe to strife-ridden areas to find his subjects. During
his visits to Iraq, Gittoes filmed the unique, powerful, and
disturbing documentary, Soundtrack To War. Realizing
that most soldiers in the U.S. Army were between the ages
of eighteen and twenty-two, a time when music is impor-
tant to identity, Gittoes asked soldiers about the music in
their lives. He discovered that all Army vehicles and com-
munications systems are wired for music as well. Gangsta
hip-hop and metal play as soldiers psych themselves for
battle, and as bombs drop. This much appears in Moore’s
Fahrenheit 9/11, but what was left out was the human ele-
ment Gittoes was trying to show: militias playing music
during downtime, freestyle rapping during the inter-
minable boredom that occurs between the short bursts of
absolute terror that is a soldier’s life during war. “Music is

200 EMILY SCHULTZ



more important to us than food here,” one soldier told
Gittoes.

Gittoes claimed “there are about seventeen scenes from
my documentary in his film. I wouldn’t go so far as to say
he lifted [them]. Michael got access to my stuff and
assumed that I would be happy for it to be in 9/11. I would
actually have been quite happy for it not to be in 9/11”
The Australian had sold the footage to a company called
Westside Productions, and did not know it would be used
for one of Moore’s films. His interview with an Australian
newspaper hinted at his annoyance at how his footage
was presented, but in a backhanded compliment, said
that he was glad people would see his footage even if he
himself had “made a better movie.” The interview ended
with Gittoes’ statement that he would let the treatment of
his scenes slide. Illustrative of the tension surrounding
Moore’s film even early in its release, once these quotes
reached the Internet, Moore was under bombardment:
the story had mutated to Moore stealing scenes without
paying Gittoes.

In a 2005 interview with Australian film magazine,
Filmink, Gittoes revealed his reasons for keeping relatively
quiet about the use of the clips in 9/11, “It’s a problematic
issue that I can’t talk about because I've signed a legal deal
with Michael not to talk about it . . . so many people
wanted to crucify Michael Moore in the buildup to the
election and I didn’t want to give anyone ammunition. So
I couldn’t really release my film theatrically at the same
time as his . . . I would have loved it to have had a theatri-
cal life but it was eclipsed by Fahrenheit 9/11.”

As promised by Moore, Fahrenheit 9/11 does begin as a
polemic against the administration of George W. Bush.
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Footage of cabinet members being prepped for press con-
ferences is eerie, foreboding. Before Bush is set to declare
war on Iraq, he is, as Moore described it to the New York
Times, joking like a schoolboy. As cinema, this first por-
tion of the film fails. Summing up decades of
international finance and policy in less than forty min-
utes’ screen time was necessary to Moore’s thesis, but also
displayed his weaknesses as a filmmaker. Moore works
best as a polemicist, not a journalist. What continues to
irk his critics is that while he never claims to be a jour-
nalist directly, he does so indirectly, by stating, as he often
has, that if journalists were doing their jobs, he wouldn’t
have to do his. And what would that make his job?

The links between the Bush empire and the strange
world of international oil has been debated and explored
for the last several years in journalism both honed and
sloppy. And so the “facts” in this section of Moore’s film
were hotly debated, threatening to overshadow what
audiences, and not pundits, actually responded to. What
followed the first section of the film has not been
debated; it was something entirely different.

Moore’s strength as a filmmaker is his ability to explore
and display the effect of international policy and finance
on the everyday world. Fahrenheit 9/11 heated up only
when it left Bush as a subject, since the President appeared
in the film as more of an abstraction than a person. When
the film shifts to the reality of Iraq — of smoke, blood, and
destroyed flesh — it leaves partisan politics behind and
becomes a simple plea for some shred of respect for human
life. From here, the film returns to the United States to
follow two recruitment officers whose jobs included
brazenly searching for soldiers in poor, non-white regions.

202 EMILY SCHULTZ



Rundown malls were depicted as their bread and butter,
and the recruitment officers appeared equally like vam-
pires and bumbling detectives. If the emotional center of
Roger ¢ Me was the Bunny Lady, then Fahrenheit 9/11’s
emotional center was another Flint woman. Lila Lipscomb
is a patriotic American who, in the time it took to make the
film, lost her son to fighting in Iraq. Her travels to
Washington, D.C., to find answers brought her into contact
with a mourning Iraqi woman. That meeting became one
of the most emotionally charged in the film and, strangely,
the least manipulative. A mother’s tears and questions
cannot by explained away by sound bites, left or right pol-
itics, nor can the answers live up to the senseless pain and
loss of a parent who has had to bury her child. As the New
York Times commented upon the film’s U.S. release, “Mr.
Bush is under no obligation to answer Mr. Moore’s
charges, but he will have to answer to Mrs. Lipscomb.”

With Moore’s Bush “revelations” debated unto
numbness by pundits, the power of the film, and what
brought people into the theaters in record numbers, lay
in its denouement, which, in only two or three scenes,
put its finger on the pulse of an angry and confused
American public. By the time the film found distribution
and released in the U.S., the Village Voice would change its
tune from its earlier Palme D’Or rejoinder, reviewing
Moore’s work more favorably: “The film may not earn
points for subtlety, but on the other hand it persuasively
damns current government mendacity with a final, heart-
wrenching segment. Besides, subtlety in American politics
stands as much chance of being noticed as a sleeping man
in a room full of the newly dead. Moore will be Moore,
and we won’t be the less for it.”
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The New York Times, though still candidly pointing out
the film’s failures, would encourage viewers of all political
persuasions to the theaters: “It may be that the confusions
trailing Mr. Moore’s narrative are what make Fahrenheit
9/11 an authentic and indispensable document of its time.
The film can be seen as an effort to wrest clarity from
shock, anger, and dismay, and if parts of it seem rash, over-
stated or muddled, well, so has the national mood.” Times
writer A.O. Scott continued, “if Fahrenheit 9/11 consisted
solely of talking heads and unflattering glimpses of public
figures, it would be, depending on your politics, either a
rousing call to arms or an irresponsible provocation, but it
might not persuade you to reexamine your assumptions.”
Scott went on to recommend it to all, regardless of politi-
cal persuasion.

Even Moore’s nemesis during the early days of Roger &
Me, former Film Comment magazine editor Harlan
Jacobson, conceded in U.S.A Today that Fahrenheit 9/11
was powerful, though he couldn’t resist adding a barb
against Moore’s ambitious personality, saying, “it’s one
thing to have a strong political view, it’s another to savage
people using questionable tactics, and making fun of
people while portraying yourself as a man of the prole-
tariat” Moore would face the same criticisms he had
always faced, but as they say in the media business, no
press is bad press; even condemnations meant Moore’s
name was being dropped into the ears of a nation.

Several tense weeks after Cannes and the Disney deba-
cle, Moore could breathe a sigh of relief. It was
announced that worldwide distribution of Fahrenheit 9/11
would be handled by Lions Gate Films, a Canadian com-
pany that had previously taken Kevin Smith’s hot-potato
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dud, Dogma, off Miramax’s hands. In the U.S., the
Independent Film Channel would handle theatrical dis-
tribution. On the heels of the front-page treatment of its
distribution woes, its Cannes’ win, and as fighting raged
in the streets of Iraq, Fahrenheit 9/11 opened, as planned,
on June 23. In its opening weekend, it grossed $24 million,
and was the No. 1 movie in North America.

If one wanted to measure the distance Moore had trav-
eled in thirteen years, one need look no further than the
differences between the premieres of Fahrenheit 9/11 and
Moore’s first film, Roger & Me. The premiere of the new
film was attended by glittering celebrities of the
Hollywood left, and a few rock stars for good measure.
Written up in the Times Style section, Fahrenheit 9/11 had
actor Leonardo DiCaprio in attendance. Showing both in
New York City and Washington, D.C. (the official world
premiere), there were swaths of red carpet, and half of the
Democratic left in attendance, many on Moore’s personal
guest list. Thirteen years earlier, the New York Roger & Me
premiere included a kitschy party with beans and franks,
the premise of which offended Glynn, while the
“Invitational World Premiere” was at a multiplex outside
Flint, with Rivethead Ben Hamper in attendance. Yet at
both of these worlds-apart premieres, Moore could be seen
in a baseball cap and his jeans. What had changed could be
summed up in the words of the Times columnist Joyce
Wadler: “We had, we must admit, some concerns about
Mr. Moore. The normally approachable fellow, wearing
his usual schlumpy jacket and green Michigan State
University baseball cap, had been guarded by a ferocious
little press agent whom he permitted to rebuff reporters
as he rushed into the screening.”
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As its release snowballed, Fahrenheit 9/11 became not a
movie but a phenomenon, selling out theaters for days,
and ultimately running on 2000 screens in North
America, while grossing $222 million worldwide. Only
two chains refused to screen the film. With theaters in
Nebraska, Iowa, and the political rallying ground of
Illinois, the restricted screens they owned were little
match for the other 2000 screens showing the summer’s
hottest film. Like all phenomenon films, it became almost
immune to critical reaction, in much the same way that
Star Wars was never critiqued for its weak acting. The
nation and the pundits were, however, waiting for the one
critic that mattered to speak out on the issue, the White
House. Moore was ready for anything. Following on
Bowling for Columbine’s success, he could now afford to
keep the kind of staff required to take on the President of
the United States, who was ironically a first cousin of
Blood in the Face director Kevin Rafferty, the first to help
Moore launch his film career. In addition to a team of fact
checkers during the film’s editing, Moore had prepped a
kind of “war room” to deal quickly with assaults on the
film’s credibility by conservative groups. Moore’s team
included Chris Lehane, a strategist of the Democratic
Party, as well as fact-checking team formerly of the New
Yorker, and a consulting squad of defamation suit lawyers.
Without a shred of his usual humor, Moore declared, “We
want the word out. Any attempts to libel me will be met
by force.”

Moore had wanted his film to be a lightning rod for
dissatisfied voters who would, if not turn out for the
polls, at least realize their own roles in the political
process. Opinion from the executive office was a simple
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“outrageously false,” courtesy of Presidential Communi-
cations Director Dan Bartlett, though reporters did
manage to get the answer, “What do you think?” from First
Lady Laura Bush, when asked if she had seen the film. That
position changed as Bush’s second run for the office
became seriously threatened by Democratic challenger
John Kerry. Polls consistently showed both a severe disap-
proval of Bush’s handling of Iraq, and a marginal 2% lead
over Kerry. As the Bush campaign realized that it would
actually have to work for reelection, Moore’s movie
became not just a thorn in its side, but a serious threat that
had to be dealt with. Various Republican groups across the
country wanted screenings of the film stopped because, as
David Bossie of Citizen’s United said, “Moore has publicly
indicated his goal is to impact this election,” and this, he
claimed, violated federal election laws. Ultimately, the
White House was smart enough to not use federal powers
to challenge a movie.

Instead, news networks appeared to be doing the dirty
work. While the public waited for comments from Fox,
featured none-too-favorably in the film, to put it mildly,
the network remained tight-lipped. Their biggest com-
plaint was that Moore had not granted them an interview.
It was ABc and NBc who went on the offensive over the
film, using the standard Michael Moore disparagement.
ABC ran “Fact or Fiction?” captions across their screens
during Good Morning America and World News Tonight,
and ~NBC’s Nightly News termed its coverage a “truth-
squad report.” While Moore responded to questions and
criticisms of George Stephanopoulos on ABc’s This Week,
these responses were not used on Good Morning America,
though it did run footage of Richard Clarke, the former
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security adviser who Moore insisted authorized the
flights of Bin Ladens from America following the
September 11 attacks. The publicist from Good Morning
America later claimed Moore had been given a fair chance
to respond to the criticisms leveled at his film. But Moore
wasn’t the only man who didn’t think so.

“Note that none of the facts in Fahrenheit 9/11 are in
dispute,” wrote Richard Goldstein in the Village Voice.
“What aBc and nNBc called into question is Moore’s
extrapolation and interpretation of information; in other
words, his slant. But by using loaded phrases like ‘truth
squad’ and ‘fact or fiction, and by omitting Moore’s
answers to key questions, these networks did the very
thing they accuse him of doing. I would argue that this
sort of distortion is far more dangerous in the context of
a news broadcast than in a clearly opinionated film.”
Goldstein posited that NBc and aBc had good reason to
disable Moore’s film — that NBc was owned by General
Electric, a major defense contractor, and ABc owned by
Disney, a company largely affected by the laws of Florida
where Bush’s brother Jeb set state controls.

Goldstein also commented that considering how well
the movie was doing in spite of the media bullying, one
had to conclude that, in the end, the American public
were still set on making up their own minds. In contrast,
cNN and cBs took neutral positions, summarizing the ups
and downs of the film that had everyone’s temperatures
rising. As Goldstein concluded in the Village Voice, “If the
film turns out to have an impact on the fall election, we’ll
learn something about the limits of the media’s power to
shape perceptions . . .. I hope Fahrenheit 9/11 affirms my
conviction that the press distorts but we decide.”
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One thing everyone did agree on was the double-edged
sword that Fahrenheit 9/11 was for the Democratic Party.
Until late in the election year, Moore was not a registered
Democrat, and in fact, had been a vocal supporter of
Ralph Nader during the 2000 election (their relationship
eventually souring again). As far back as 1999, Moore
accused John Kerry of being “a billionaire who wants to
buy the presidency.” The Kerry camp was ambivalent and
silent. A senior advisor for the Kerry campaign stated that
they shouldn’t even acknowledge the film’s existence lest
they “get stuck with all that Michael Moore baggage.”

If Moore had wanted Fahrenheit to be a partisan film
whose sole goal was a Democrat victory, then both he and
the Demo-cratic Party took a rather strange approach.
Moore’s real goal, however, was to engage the public in a
political process they had long felt alienated from, and
whose failure they had begun to accept with the regular-
ity of Friday night television. It was Moore’s questionable
genius that he used the same techniques used to create
Friday night television to great and frightening effect in
Fahrenheit 9/11, the possible result being that the 2004
election had the largest voter turnout since 1968.

Some might point out that 1968 was the most intense
year of the Vietnam War, and people are, naturally, more
politicized at such times. However, if we are to believe the
U.S. administration that there was no Iraq War, then the
assumption left to us would be that it was Moore’s “out-
rageously false” film that inflamed the polls. That’s a
bungle worthy of George W. Bush.
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Conclusion

Citizen Moore

As E Scott Fitzgerald once observed, “There are no second
acts in American lives.” Fitzgerald’s observation was
astute in regard to his own short career, yet if it were true
of all American lives, then writing biographies of living
subjects would not be so difficult. Michael Moore had
already enjoyed several acts — journalist, writer, and
filmmaker — yet in the year following the release of
Fahrenheit 9/11, he was to walk onto the strangest stage
yet: mainstream politics.

Orson Welles’ Citizen Kane — to return to a fictional
story of a journalist turned populist — has been inter-
preted as the tale of the first media tycoon, William
Randolph Hearst, and the prefix “Citizen” is often pulled
out to describe the Ted Turners and Conrad Blacks of the
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world. But in retrospect, Welles’ story seems more a film
about ideals — fought for, and lost. In the film, protago-
nist Charles Foster Kane starts his newspaper empire
based on the unique premise that “the people” want the
truth. To the consternation of those around him, includ-
ing his own robber-baron associates, he tells “the people”
the truth. Yet, to deliver the truth, Kane employs a loose
populism, scare headlines that smooth over the frayed
edges that streak any complex story. After this approach
proves successful, Kane grows in power, and soon sees
himself as the sole arbiter of truth, a hero of the people,
ready for politics.

Citizen Kane might also be the first exploration of the
blurring line between journalism and entertainment — a
blurred line Moore has walked since the age of eighteen.
That line is the source of all his strengths and, for his crit-
ics, of all his faults. In democratic societies, journalists are
accorded, at least in theory, the same sacred status as
Catholic Priests and psychiatrists — their sources are pro-
tected and they cannot be attacked by the state.
Entertainers, on the other hand, are always bound by the
limits of society and culture. Entertainers can push just
enough, as in the political skits of Saturday Night Live, and
be rewarded. They can also push too far for their times,
like Lenny Bruce, and be crushed for it. As his career began
its ascent in the late ’9o0s, Moore used, to the consternation
of even his associates on the left, the populist forms of
entertainment to achieve the goals of journalism.

One of the immediate aftereffects of the successes of
Bowling for Columbine and Fahrenheit 9/11 was an
upsurge in the popularity of political documentaries.
Control Room, by Jehane Noujaim, was a searing, inside
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look at Al Jazeera, the other news channel. Errol Morris’s
The Fog of War was an exploration of the vagaries and
meaning of Vietnam, and took home the Best Documen-
tary Oscar a year after Moore’s win. But making another
film that could ride his own coattails was the farthest
thing from Moore’s mind as he entered his Citizen Kane
year. Immediately after Fahrenheit’s release, Moore pub-
lished The Official Fahrenheit 9/11 Reader, a collection
including the script, articles on the movie, and most
important, citations and support material for the claims
made in his film regarding George W. Bush. The book
amounted to a 363-page letter to the film’s voluminous
critics, both in the major media, and on crackpot Web
sites that spent an inordinate amount of time criticizing
the semiotic nuances of the film.

Another part of Moore’s response was to concentrate
his energies on “making sure as many people see this film
as possible.” So he launched his “Slacker Uprising” tour.
Moore traveled the Big One yet again, this time in an
attempt to motivate the age group that was generally the
most listless in American electoral politics — youths in the
18—24 bracket. The term “slacker” had not been in vogue
for more than a decade, and probably seemed quaint to
the people who were four years old when Richard Link-
later’s film of the same name released in 1991. The Slacker
tour collided with an already politically charged America.
With everything that happened in the world after 9/11, the
American public was invigorated in ways the country had
not seen in years, guaranteeing a record turnout on
Tuesday, November 2, 2004.

While touring, Moore also published the book, Will
They Ever Trust Us Again? Letters From the War Zone. The
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title came from his final words in the Fahrenheit 9/11 film
narration, and refers to the poor citizens of the United
States, who disproportionately make up the armed forces.
A collection of letters of support and debate from soldiers
stationed in Iraq, to even Moore’s most ardent support-
ers, the book seemed like he was scraping from the
bottom of the idea barrel. To his critics, the cover photo
of Moore holding a small folded, funereal American flag
in his giant hands (evoking either an All-State advertise-
ment or a Jehovah’s Witness pamphlet) was the last straw
in a year that had already sent them into apoplexy. After a
brief week of promising sales, the book disappeared off
top-ten lists.

And Bush won the election. But he won with the nar-
rowest margin for a sitting president since Woodrow
Wilson’s win in 1916. As many commentators pointed out,
Bush’s win was not the result of a soaring approval rating
(with bodies arriving weekly from Iraq during the elec-
tion campaign, his ratings were in fact, plummeting), but
because the challenger proved less interesting. After brief
flourishes, John Kerry left the impression that he was not
the “next Kennedy,” but a career politician, the kind of
former-idealist-for-hire that accounts for most of the
population of Capitol Hill. In Moore’s own voter cam-
paign during the election, his support of the Democratic
Party — or lack of it — was an issue both he and Kerry
danced around. Moore was spending months on the road,
doing everything possible to make sure Bush would not be
reelected, yet at the same time, he was not recommending
any exact “who” as an alternative. In the (realistically
speaking) two-party electoral system of America, this was
a strange lacuna for the public to understand. It wasn’t
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until the last moment that Moore threw his weight
behind Kerry, begging his own fans to “spend these last
twenty-four hours trying to convince whomever you can
to show up and vote for John Kerry,” urging Republicans
to “give the new guy a chance,” and saying to his friends
on the left, “okay, Kerry isn’t everything you wished he
would be. You're right. He’s not you! Or me. But we’re not
on the ballot — Kerry is.”

In the New York Times, after the election, The Fog of
War director Errol Morris said, “behind the liberal agenda
— behind any agenda — is the idea ‘I'm right, you're
wrong. My fear was that much of the material emerging
from the left or from the Democrats was preaching to the
choir. I sometimes look at Fahrenheit 9/11 as creating a
kind of secular church. You could go to the movie theater
and collectively worship against the Bush infidel.” In the
year 2004, liberals produced better documentaries than
candidates. In crude cinematic terms, George W. Bush
played the method-acting heavy in dozens of documen-
taries, while the “hero” phoned-in his performance,
Kerry’s face seldom gracing the screen. If the numbers in
attendance for Moore’s Slacker Uprising speeches — and
at the box office — were any indication, Moore might
have stood a better chance against the president than the
Democratic challenger.

Moore could not bring himself to throw his full support
into the two-party system he had opposed all his life, and
election night brought a strange end to his year as a signifi-
cant opinion-maker. Readers may recall that that Moore
had hinted at early retirement after Bowling for Columbine.
It was an emotional period for Moore, of great critical and
financial success on the one hand, and on the other, the
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grief of just losing his mother. But the successes of
Fahrenheit 9/11 drove Moore on to attempt change — not
through the abstract medium of the screen, as he had since
Roger & Me, but on the grassroots level he’d used back in
the days of the Flint school board, and at the house on
Lapeer Road. This change of direction also revealed
Moore’s limitations, imposed by his own sense of radical-
ism (and to his critics on the left, his cynicism). Moore can
rile, he can inspire, impress, evaluate, and entertain; but he
himself could not believe in the effectiveness of the system.
His last-minute support for Kerry seemed like a human and
panicked response rather than a calculation.

Unusual things had been achieved, however, whether
through Moore’s dogged efforts or through a social cli-
mate that had been a beehive of anger and doubt since
September 11, 2001: the youth in America turned out to
the polls in record numbers. The Boston Globe reported
that “despite long lines and registration snafus, voters
under age thirty clocked the highest turnout percentage
since 1972.” Not only that, but on the afternoon of
Thursday, January 6, 2005, to use Moore’s words, “some-
thing historic happened. For the first time since 1877, a
member of the House and a member of the Senate stood
up together to object to a state’s electoral college votes. . . .
California Senator Barbara Boxer rose to the occasion,
and stood with Ohio Representative Stephanie Tubbs
Jones and thirty other Representatives ‘to cast the light of
truth on a flawed system which must be fixed now.” Bush
had won the election, but “Michael Moore” was still the
name being bandied about on the floor of the senate.
Representative Maxine Waters even went so far as to ded-
icate her objection to Ohio’s electoral votes to “Mr.
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Michael Moore, the producer of the documentary
Fahrenheit 9/11,” with her thanks for “educating the world
on the threats to our democracy, and the proceedings of
this house on the acceptance of the electoral college votes
for the 2000 presidential election.” That thin line Moore
had walked between art and politics had just been
crossed.

In the months following the election, Moore was silent
for the first time in four years. He announced the start of
production on Fahrenheit 9/11 and a 1/2, a sequel to be
released in the election year of 2008. Will it have the same
urgency as its predecessor? Probably not. With term lim-
itations, Bush cannot run for president again, and as
Bush’s own father and Al Gore proved, vice presidents
have a habit of not winning. With little hope for Dick
Cheney, this leaves the rumors of Hillary Clinton as the
Democratic challenger — a choice we know the infatu-
ated Moore would wholeheartedly support.

Closer on the horizon is Sicko, Moore’s documentary
on the failure of the healthcare system in the United
States, and the tendency of pharmaceutical giants to
shape public policy for profit. The Sicko project began
while Moore was still working on Bowling for Columbine,
and has been pushed around his plate for almost three
years. With an unprecedented number of Americans now
of retirement age, and health care and Social Security
becoming the hot domestic issue of Bush’s second term,
Sicko may not only signal a return to a tighter form for
Moore, but increase his popularity as a filmmaker and
cultural voice.

There has been one public appearance from Moore
that has remained in many minds. To attend the 2005
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People’s Choice Awards — where Fahrenheit 9/11 was
nominated for Best Film, and won via a voting poll of 21
million — Moore received his first makeover. While the
moment wasn’t as striking as the one in pop history when
rock band kiss removed their makeup, Moore’s official
restyling was noticed. In his acceptance speech, character-
istically, Moore stressed that “the people” (the majority of
21 million of them, in fact) had voted for his film, yet he
himself appeared less like the average Joe, and more like
what he actually is: a successful filmmaker. Gone were the
baseball cap, the relaxed-fit jeans, and windbreaker —
replaced by a tailored designer suit. Moore’s Michigan-
mop of a hairstyle was shorn down to a hip, spiky cut, and
his twelve-day beard trimmed into a goatee with its gray
dyed out.

As Walt Whitman wrote in Song of Myself, “I contain
multitudes.” We will have to wait for Moore’s next film to
see if his awareness of who he was, and who he has become,
can be contained in one personality; whether he can still be
“just a guy from Michigan,” as well as one of the most divi-
sive and controversial filmmakers of our time. There is one
thing we “the people” do not need to wait on, though, and
that is the understanding that Michael Moore, as cultural
provocateur and leader, has very much arrived.
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Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Avenue in Flint. (o Madison Brown)



Eagle scout Michael Moore, age fifteen, pledges,
“I believe it is my duty to do my best to obey the
Scout Oath and Law.”

(© The Flint Journal. All rights reserved.
Reprinted with permission.)

Moore — already a politician
at age eighteen.

(© 1972 The Flint Journal. All rights
reserved. Reprinted with permission.)




Always an uncertain future for the Flint Voice.
(© 1978 The Flint Journal/Michael Hayman. All rights reserved. Reprinted with permission.)

Creating a voice of local opposition.

(© 1978 The Flint Journal/Michael Hayman. All rights reserved. Reprinted with permission.)



A house in Burton, Michigan, served as Moore’s headquarters for ten years.
(© Madison Brown)

Moore and his newspaper crew had to lay down concrete before they could open shop.
Their message still remains. (o Madison Brown)



Moore addresses a Burton, Michigan, council meeting, as his newspaper grows to become
the MlCI’llg(lﬂ Voice. (© 1983 The Flint Journal/Bob Parks. All rights reserved. Reprinted with permission.)
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Davison’s Catholic church, St. John the
Evangelist. Moore reached his first audience
through choir. (o Madison Brown)
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A love of baseball drove

Moore from the priesthood.
(© The Flint Journal. All rights reserved.
Reprinted with permission.)
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The Showcase Cinemas in Burton, Michigan, where the Roger ¢ Me world premiere was
held. (© Madison Brown)

Moore addresses the uaw during Roger ¢ Me promotion.
(© 1990 The Flint Journal/Bruce Edwards. All rights reserved. Reprinted with permission.)



A proud papa holds an early copy of his first film.

(© 1989 The Flint Journal/Bruce Edwards. All rights reserved. Reprinted with permission.)



continues from front flap

business to friends. Moore's detractors
on both sides of the fence claim that
he flubs facts, personally and profes-
sionally. Without an agenda to prove
Moore right or wrong, author Emily
Schultz sorts the man from the myth
with in-depth interviews and research.
Michael Moore: A Biography is the first
book to tell Moore’s life story — from
his early days as local muckraker in
Flint, to his professional successes
with Roger & Me, TV Nation, Bowling
for Columbine, Fahrenheit 9/11 and
his bestselling books, to his current
status as the most vocal critic of the

Bush Presidency.

EMILY SCHULTZ is an award-winning
writer and editor living in Toronto. Her
other books include Black Coffee Night
and the forthcoming novel Joyland. She

is currently the editor of This Magazine.

ECW Press

$24.95 U.S., $29.95 CDN
Distributed in the U.S. by Independent Publishers
Group and in Canada by Jaguar Book Group

ecwpress.com
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